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I. INTRODUCTION

The North American Electric Reliability Corporation (“NERC”) respectfully submits this
filing to provide comparisons of actual to budgeted costs for the year 2019 for NERC and the
seven Regional Entities operating in 2019.! The Commission originally directed NERC to file,
each year, comparisons of actual to budgeted costs for the preceding year, in an order issued
October 18, 2007 concerning the 2008 business plans and budgets of NERC and the Regional
Entities.> In several subsequent orders, the Commission has clarified and modified the
information to be included in the annual actual-to-budgeted cost comparisons filings.

The following information is provided in this filing:

= A comparison of the actual funding received and costs incurred by NERC and each

Regional Entity for statutory and (where applicable) non-statutory activities for the

year ended December 31, 2019, to the budgets of NERC and each Regional Entity for
that year, with explanations of significant actual cost-to-budget variances.

= Audited financial statements of NERC and each Regional Entity for the year ended
December 31, 2019.3

= Tables showing metrics concerning NERC and Regional Entity administrative costs
in their 2019 budgets and actual results.*

This filing includes the following attachments:

! Florida Reliability Coordinating Council, Inc. (“FRCC”), Midwest Reliability Organization (“MRO”),
Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc. (“NPCC”), ReliabilityFirst Corporation (“ReliabilityFirst”),
SERC Reliability Corporation (“SERC”), Texas Reliability Entity, Inc. (“Texas RE”), and Western
Electricity Coordinating Council (“WECC”). As approved by the Commission in Docket No. RR19-4-
000 (Order dated April 30, 2019), FRCC ceased operations as a Regional Entity on August 31, 2019.

2 North American Electric Reliability Corporation, Order Conditionally Accepting 2008 Business Plan
and Budget of the North American Electric Reliability Corporation and Ordering Compliance Filings,
121 FERC 61,057 (2007) (2008 ERO Budget Order™).

3 Texas RE’s final audited financial statements for 2019 are not available as of May 29, 2020. With
Texas RE’s permission, its draft 2019 financial statements, as reviewed by its Board of Directors on May
27, 2020, are included in Attachment 6. NERC will make a supplemental filing with the Commission to
submit Texas RE’s final 2019 audited financial statements when they become available.

* These tables do not include budget and actual cost information for FRCC or for the Southwest Power
Pool Regional Entity, which ceased operations as Regional Entities in 2019 and 2018, respectively.



Attachment 1: 2019 Actual Cost-to-Budget Comparison and Audited Financial
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II. NOTICES AND COMMUNICATIONS

Notices and communications with respect to this filing may be addressed to:

James B. Robb

President and Chief Executive Officer

Andrew G. Sharp

Vice President and Interim
Chief Financial Officer

North American Electric
Reliability Corporation

3353 Peachtree Road

North Tower, Suite 600

Atlanta, GA 30326

(404) 446-2560

(404) 446-9765 — facsimile

*Persons to be included on the official
service list are indicated by an asterisk

Sonia Mendonca*

Senior Vice President, General Counsel and
Corporate Secretary

North American Electric Reliability Corporation

1325 G Street, N.W., Suite 600

Washington, D.C. 20005

(202) 400-3000

(202) 644-8099 — facsimile

Sonia.mendonca@nerc.net

Owen E. MacBride*

Schiff Hardin LLP

233 South Wacker Drive, Suite 7100
Chicago, IL 60606

(312) 258-5680

(312) 258-5600 — facsimile
omacbride@schifthardin.com
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III. COMPARISONS OF ACTUAL COSTS TO BUDGETS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 - NERC AND REGIONAL ENTITIES

As noted above, in the 2008 ERO Budget Order, the Commission directed NERC to
make annual filings comparing the NERC and Regional Entity budgets to actual costs incurred in
the preceding year, “in sufficient detail and with sufficient explanations for the Commission to
determine, by program area, the reasons for deviations from the budget and the impacts of those
deviations.” In its June 19, 2008 Order addressing NERC’s April 1, 2008 compliance filing to
the 2008 ERO Budget Order, the Commission provided additional direction concerning the
presentation of the annual filings comparing NERC’s and the Regional Entities’ actual to
budgeted expenditures:

37. To promote consistency and transparency, the Commission directs the use
of certain practices and formats in future true-up filings. In particular, Regional
Entities must provide a cover letter discussing major areas of actual cost-to-budget
variances for all of the Regional Entity’s statutory programs in the aggregate.
Regional Entities should also follow NERC’s template for the presentation of actual
costs and budgeted costs on a program-by-program and line-item basis. Significant
variances must be explained on a line-item basis with enough particularized
information to clearly support each such variance. Regional Entities should refrain
from using generic, program area summaries to support significant variances. The
cause for each such variance should therefore be clear on its face. Further, each
Regional Entity must provide an explanation of the allocation methods it used to
allocate indirect costs to the direct statutory program or functional areas, as well as
any allocation between any statutory and non-statutory activities.

38. Cash reserves are meant to handle expenses which exceed the amount
budgeted, as well as unforeseen events that could occur at any time. However, in
the future, the Commission expects NERC and the Regional Entities to justify the
use of cash reserves as variances in the April true-up. Cash reserves should not
become a means to fund expected projects outside of the budget approval process.
The Commission expects that as NERC and the Regional Entities develop
experience in planning and functioning under their budgets the amounts and
number of variance will decrease. In addition, the Commission expects that with
experience, the explanations for the variances will improve.®

> 2008 ERO Budget Order at P 23.

® North American Electric Reliability Corporation, Order Conditionally Accepting Compliance Filing,
123 FERC 961,282 (2008) (“June 19, 2008 Budget Compliance Order™), PP 37-38.

-3-



In addition, although the following directive in the 2008 ERO Budget Order was
expressly applicable to NERC’s compliance filing comparing actual expenses to budgets for the
year ended December 31, 2007 for NERC and the Regional Entities, NERC has treated the
directive as intended to apply to the annual filings comparing actual expenses to budgets for
future years as well:

66. . . . [TThe Commission reminds NERC and the Regional Entities that, to the
extent funding identified as statutory is used to fund non-statutory activities, those
funds must be reimbursed (e.g., to load serving entities or to statutory
expenditures). NERC is directed to inform the Commission in the . . . compliance
filing the extent to which this has occurred and document that the funds have been
or will be reimbursed.

The comparisons of 2019 actual-to-budget funding and expenditures for NERC and the
Regional Entities are provided in Attachments 1 through 8, as follows:

e Attachment 1: NERC

e Attachment 2: MRO

e Attachment 3: NPCC

e Attachment 4: ReliabilityFirst

e Attachment 5: SERC

e Attachment 6: Texas RE

e Attachment 7: WECC

e Attachment 8: FRCC
Each Attachment also includes the respective entity’s audited financial report for the year ended
December 31, 2019, as prepared by its independent public accounting firm (with the exception of

Texas RE as noted above).

The comparisons provided in Attachments 1 through 8 conform to the Commission’s



directives as quoted above:’

e FEach comparison contains a cover letter or an overview or summary section
identifying overall actual-to-budget variances in Funding and total Expenses and in
major Expense categories, and discussing reasons for major areas of actual cost-to-
budget variances.

e FEach comparison contains a summary table, prepared using a NERC-supplied
template, showing the entity’s 2019 budget, 2019 actual amounts, and the variance,
for major line-item categories of Funding and Expenses.

e For those entities that engaged in both statutory and non-statutory activities in 2019,
the comparisons include separate summary tables for statutory programs and non-
statutory activities, prepared using the NERC-supplied template, showing the entity’s
2019 budget, 2019 actual amounts, and the variance, for major line-item categories of
Funding and Expenses.®

e The comparisons include individual tables, also prepared using a NERC-supplied
template, showing 2019 budget, 2019 actual amounts, and the variance, for major
line-item categories of Funding and Expenses, for each of the statutory programs’
(direct costs) and for the administrative functions!® (indirect costs). Explanations for
significant line-item actual-to-budget variances are provided following each table,
either below the table or on the immediately following page(s). Generally,
explanations have been provided for line-item variances that are greater than +/- 10%
of the budgeted amount and greater than $10,000 over or under the budgeted amount.

The Attachments also address (generally in the cover letter or overview section) (i) where

applicable, whether any statutory funds were used in 2019 for non-statutory activities (neither

’ The report provided by FRCC (Attachment 8), which ceased operations as a Regional Entity in August
2019, provides total company, total statutory, and total non-statutory actual-cost-to-budget comparisons
but does not include comparisons for the individual statutory programs and administrative functions, nor
the other information listed below.

¥ FRCC, NPCC, Texas RE and WECC had non-statutory activities in 2019 and each has provided
summary tables for statutory and non-statutory activities. NERC, MRO, ReliabilityFirst, and SERC did
not have non-statutory activities in 2019.

? Statutory programs encompass Reliability Standards, Compliance Operations and Enforcement,
Reliability Assessment and Performance (or System) Analysis, Training, Education and Operator
Certification, and Situation Awareness and Infrastructure Security (including Critical Infrastructure
Protection).

1 The administrative functions are Technical Committees and Member Forums, General and
Administrative, Legal and Regulatory, Information Technology, Human Resources, and Finance and
Accounting. Some of the Regional Entities report budget and actual expenditure information for some or
all of the overhead functions on a combined basis, in particular to protect the confidentiality of
compensation information for departments that have a limited number of staff members.
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NERC nor any Regional Entity reports using statutory funds for non-statutory activities during
2019); (ii) the impact of the entity’s 2019 results on its reserves for statutory programs (e.g.,
whether reserves were used to fund expenditures during 2019)'!; (iii) how indirect costs were
allocated to the direct statutory programs or functions; and (iv) where applicable, whether, and if
so how, costs were allocated between statutory programs and non-statutory activities in 2019.

NERC has provided additional information in its 2019 report in Attachment 1,
including: (1) actual cost to budget variances for Consultants and Contracts expense, by
department, and (2) analysis of the sources of changes in its Operating Reserves for 2019. The
table on page 3 of Attachment 1 shows the actual cost to budget variances for Consultants and
Contracts expense for 2019 by NERC program area, and is accompanied by a discussion of the
principal reasons for actual cost-to-budget variances for Consultants and Contracts expense in
the program areas. The analysis of changes in Operating Reserves is provided on page 9 of
Attachment 1, including a table which shows the changes in each category of Operating
Reserves due to 2019 budgeted operations and approved uses of reserves. In addition, NERC
has provided an actual cost-to budget comparison for 2019 Board of Trustees expenses, detailed
by Meetings and Travel Expense (Quarterly Board Meetings and Trustee Travel expense) and
Professional Services (Independent Trustee Fees and Trustee Search Fees). See page 7 of
Attachment 1.

Because the NERC and Regional Entity reports in each Attachment identify and discuss

major areas of actual cost-to-budget variances, and the individual tables for each direct statutory

"' The summary comparison tables for total entity and (where applicable) statutory and non-statutory
activities show the “Change in Working Capital” for the 2019 actual funding and expenditures. A
positive “Change in Working Capital” means the entity’s total actual funding exceeded its total actual
expenditures for the year 2019; a negative “Change in Working Capital” means the entity’s total actual
funding was less than its total actual expenditures for the year.

-6-



program and the indirect cost functions contain specific explanations of significant variances on
a line-item basis, a detailed, entity-by-entity discussion of the actual-to-budget variances
experienced in 2019 by NERC and individual Regional Entities is not provided here. However,
the list below describes several recurring drivers of actual cost-to-budget variances experienced

by NERC and the Regional Entities in 2019, as identified by NERC’s review of the comparisons.

e A number of entities'” experienced under-budget variances in Salary Expense and
related Personnel Expenses (Payroll Taxes, Employee Benefits and Retirement
Expense), in one or more program areas, due to being unable to fill budgeted
positions, due to higher vacancy rates (i.€., higher number of unfilled positions), or to
filling budgeted positions later in the year, than was assumed in the budget.!?

e Having fewer (or in some cases, more) personnel on staff than budgeted was a factor
tending to reduce (or increase) Meetings, Travel Expense, and/or Office Costs (each
of which is related, to some extent, to staffing levels) below (or above) the budgeted
amounts.

e The inability to fill budgeted positions as planned resulted, in some instances, in
higher-than budgeted Consultants and Contracts expense, due to the need to use
consultants or contractors to perform work that would have been performed by
employees in unfilled positions. Additionally, for some entities, the need to use
outside recruiting services to fill positions (including independent trustee positions on
the entity’s board) resulted in unbudgeted expenses for those services.

e Some entities experienced higher or lower Employee Benefits expenses than
budgeted due to actual rates from services providers for their health and medical
benefits programs being different than projected at the time of budget preparation.

e Some entities experienced higher (or lower) than budgeted Employee Benefits
expenses due to decisions by employees to participate (or not to participate) in the
entity’s medical benefits program, or due to greater or lesser participation by
employees in the entity’s retirement plan than was assumed in the budget. Employee
Benefits expense was also lower than budgeted for some entities due to employees
not using educational or training program benefits to the full extent assumed in the
budget.

12 The term “entities” is used in this discussion to include NERC as well as Regional Entities.

13 In the development of their annual budgets, NERC and some of the Regional Entities attempt to address
this “vacant position” variance issue by including an “attrition factor,” “vacancy factor” or “labor float
factor” into their budget calculations. The use of these factors recognizes that, as in any organization, a
portion of the budgeted positions will be vacant during a part of the year due to delays in filling new or
vacant positions and unexpected/unbudgeted departures of existing employees. Nonetheless, variances
between the projected and actual attrition factor, vacancy factor or labor float factor can result in
variances between budgeted and actual Personnel Expenses.
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In order to address unfilled positions or changing resource needs in particular
program areas, some entities transferred one or more employees from one program
area to another during 2019. This resulted in actual cost-to-budget variances in
Personnel Expenses and related Meeting and Travel expenses for the program areas
involved in such transfers, although not necessarily for the entity as a whole.

Some entities were able to spend less on Consultants and Contracts than budgeted as
a result of having work that was budgeted to be performed by contractors and
consultants handled by internal staff of the entity. As entities have increased their
staffing and expertise over time, thereby increasing in-house capabilities, entities
have seen less need to use outside services. Further, increased experience and
expertise gained by entity staffs, and implementation of process efficiencies based on
experience, has enabled entity staffs to perform and complete work for which
consultants or contractors were previously used.

A number of entities realized lower than budgeted actual costs for Meetings and
Travel due to (i) continued efforts to make greater use of teleconferencing, Webinars
and other virtual meeting capabilities rather than in-person meetings; (ii) scheduling
meetings at NERC or Regional Entity facilities rather than in rented, third-party
meeting spaces; (iii) cancellation of or non-attendance at planned meetings (including
training and education workshops and NERC or Regional Entity meetings) that were
reflected in the 2019 budget; and/or (iv) overall increased corporate attention to
controlling travel and meeting costs.

Some entities experienced higher (or lower) than budgeted actual costs for Meetings
due to conducting additional (or fewer) workshops or seminars for industry
participants, or additional (or fewer) committee meetings, beyond those planned for
in developing the budget, or due to greater (or lesser) attendance at these programs
than anticipated.

Some entities experienced lower than budgeted Consultants and Contracts expense
due to timing delays or deferrals in planned projects, while other entities experienced
higher than budgeted Consultants and Contracts expense due to acceleration of
projects requiring consultant or contractor assistance, the need to conduct unplanned,
emergent projects requiring consultant or contractor assistance, or the completion of
projects in 2019 that had been anticipated to be completed in 2018.

Some entities experienced higher or lower Office Rent or Office Costs expense than
budgeted due to higher or lower actual rent, property or other taxes, maintenance
costs, or utilities costs than assumed in preparing their budgets.

Some actual cost-to-budget variances within program areas are due to the entity
budgeting certain costs in one program area but then recording the actual costs in
another program area or areas responsible for incurring, or benefitting from, the cost.

For some entities, Information Technology projects or Fixed Asset purchases (e.g.,
office furniture purchases) that were included in the 2019 budget were either (i)
completed, or at least initiated, in late 2018, (ii) not carried out in 2019 (e.g.,
delayed/deferred to 2020 or later), or (iii) initiated later in 2019 than assumed in the
budget and therefore not completed in 2019. This resulted in reduced actual IT costs,
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Fixed Assets Additions, and/or Consultants and Contracts expense (where the project
was to require the use of consulting services or outside contracts compared to the
budget). In other cases, projects that were planned and budgeted for execution and
completion in 2018 were not fully completed in 2018, resulting in unbudgeted or
over-budget expenditures in 2019.

e Some entities budgeted certain expenditures as expenses (€.9., budgeting computer or
software purchases as Office Costs), but then determined that the expenditure(s)
needed to be capitalized (i.e., recorded as Fixed Asset additions, such as Computer &
Software Capital Expenditures or Equipment Capital Expenditures), based on the
entity’s capitalization policy or the capitalization requirements of GAAP. In other
instances, the reverse occurred.

e Generally, NERC and the Regional Entities allocate Indirect Expenses to the direct
statutory programs on the basis of numbers of FTEs in each statutory program.
Therefore, due either to (i) higher or lower total Indirect Expenses than budgeted, or
(i1) differences in actual versus budgeted FTEs during the year in individual statutory
programs, or both, entities experienced variances from budget in the amounts of
Indirect Expenses allocated to the individual direct statutory programs.

e Some entities experienced higher or lower Funding from Workshop attendance fees,
or other programs conducted for industry participants, due to higher or lower
attendance at workshops or other programs than projected in the budget, holding
more or fewer Workshops than were planned in the budget, or charging lower fees
than budgeted because the costs to hold the event were less than budgeted.

e Some entities realized higher funding from Interest or Investment Income than
budgeted due to higher-than-projected interests rates or returns earned on cash
balances or investments.

In addition to the above-described causes of actual-to-budget variances, NERC and the
Regional Entities experienced other above- or below-budget variances in actual Funding,
Expenses and Fixed Asset Additions in individual line items due to particular events and
circumstances impacting the particular entity. These variances are identified in the individual
actual cost-to-budget comparisons presented in Attachments 1 through 7.

NERC and the six Regional Entities are taking the actual cost-to-budget comparisons for
2019, as well as year-to-date actual cost-to-budget experience for 2020, into account in
developing their business plans and budgets for 2021, which are to be submitted to the NERC

Board for approval, and then filed with the Commission for approval, in August 2020.



IV. METRICS CONCERNING ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS IN
2019 NERC AND REGIONAL ENTITY BUDGETS AND ACTUAL COSTS

In the June 19, 2008 Budget Compliance Order, the Commission directed NERC to
develop additional metrics analyzing its administrative services expenses and those of the
Regional Entities, and to present these metrics in future annual actual cost-to-budget filings and
Business Plan and Budget filings. NERC has provided administrative cost metrics for NERC
and the Regional Entities in its annual actual cost-to-budget reports for the ensuing years. In
accordance with the June 19, 2008 Budget Compliance Order, the costs incurred by NERC and
the Regional Entities in the following functions are considered to be the administrative services
costs: Committees and Member Forums, General and Administrative, Legal and Regulatory,
Information Technology, Human Resources, and Finance and Accounting. See June 19, 2008
Budget Compliance Order, footnote 13.

Attachment 9 provides the following three sets of metrics comparisons for NERC and
the Regional Entities (other than FRCC, which ceased operations as a Regional Entity in August
2019) for their 2019 budgets and 2019 actual costs. In addition, Attachment 9 provides a
comparison of these metrics values for 2017, 2018 and 2019 actual results.'*

e Statutory indirect expenditures as a percent of total statutory expenditures, and

statutory direct expenditures per dollar of statutory indirect expenditures (top row of
tables on page 1 of Attachment 9). (The term “expenditures” as used here means

expenses plus capital expenditures (fixed asset additions net of depreciation).)

e Statutory indirect FTE as a percent of total statutory FTE, and ratio of statutory direct
FTE to statutory indirect FTE (middle row of tables on page 1 of Attachment 9).

e Total statutory expenditures per total FTE, statutory direct expenditures per direct
FTE, statutory indirect expenditures per indirect FTE, and statutory indirect
expenditures per total FTE (bottom row of tables on page 1 of Attachment 9).

4 As noted earlier, the tables in Attachment 9 do not include FRCC and the Southwest Power Pool
Regional Entity, which ceased operations as Regional Entities in 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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These are the same administrative cost metrics that NERC has provided in its previous annual
filings comparing actual-to-budget costs for NERC and the Regional Entities for the years 2008
through 2018.

V. CONCLUSION

The North American Electric Reliability Corporation respectfully requests that the
Commission accept this filing and Attachments as compliant with the Commission’s
requirements for annual presentation of comparisons of actual-to-budgeted funding and costs for

NERC and the Regional Entities for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Respectfully submitted,
James B. Robb /s/ Owen E. MacBride
President and Chief Executive Officer Owen E. MacBride
Andrew G. Sharp Schiff Hardin LLP
Vice President and Interim Chief Financial 233 South Wacker Drive, Suite 7100
Officer Chicago, IL 60606
North American Electric Reliability Corporation  (312) 258-5680
3353 Peachtree Road (312) 258-5600 — facsimile
Suite 600, North Tower omacbride@schifthardin.com

Atlanta, GA 30326
(404) 446-2560
(404) 446-9765 — facsimile

Sonia Mendonca

Senior Vice President, General Counsel and
Corporate Secretary

North American Electric Reliability Corporation

1325 G Street, N.W., Suite 600

Washington, D.C. 20005

(202) 400-3000

(202) 644-8099 — facsimile

sonia.mendonca@nerc.net
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ATTACHMENT 1

2019 ACTUAL COST-TO-BUDGET COMPARISON

AND

2019 AUDITED FINANCIAL REPORT

FOR

NORTH AMERICAN ELECTRIC RELIABILITY CORPORATION



NERC

NORTH AMERICAN ELECTRIC
RELIABILITY CORPORATION

North American Electric Reliability Corporation
2019 Audited Results - Actual to Budget
Variance Analysis

For the year ending December 31, 2019, NERC was on target for total funding and was $2.0M (2.5%)
under budget for total expenses and fixed asset additions, inclusive of expenses associated with the Cyber
Risk Information Sharing Program (CRISP).

Actual vs Budget — Including CRISP

YTD %
YTD Actual YTD Budget Over (Under) Over (Under)
TOTAL FUNDING** $ 78,702,563 $ 79,130,349 S (427,786) (0.5%)

EXPENDITURES

Personnel 44,540,383 S 43,952,190 S 588,193 1.3%
Meetings, Travel, and Conference Calls 4,209,865 3,380,400 829,464 24.5%
Contracts and Consultants 12,737,309 15,043,318 (2,306,009) (15.3%)
Rent and Facilities 3,583,461 3,335,058 248,403 7.4%
Office Costs, Professional, and Misc.* 8,793,108 9,346,517 (553,409) (5.9%)
Other Non-Operating Expenses (365,636) 214,171 (579,806) (270.7%)
Fixed Asset Additions* 4,581,630 4,778,000 (196,370) (4.1%)
TOTAL EXPENDITURES S 78,080,120 S 80,049,654 $ (1,969,534) (2.5%)
RESERVE INCREASE (DECREASE) $ 622443 $ (919,305) $ 1,541,748 (167.7%)
FTEs 201.8 204.9 (3.1) (1.5%)

* Excludes depreciation expense

** Penalty income from a registered entity is recorded as penalty revenue for financial statement
reporting purposes following the closure of an enforcement matter. For variance and true-up reporting
purposes, penalty income is not included in funding until the NERC Board of Trustees and FERC have
approved the release of previously collected penalty income from the Assessment Stabilization Reserve to
offset assessments. The above table excludes $2.5M of penalty income that was recorded for financial
statement reporting purposes in 2019, which is comprised of $1.0M that was invoiced and collected in 2019
and $1.5M that had previously been recorded in deferred revenenue but was reclassified to penalty
revenue to comply with new accounting guidance.
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Actual vs Budget — Excluding CRISP

YTD %
YTD Actual YTD Budget Over (Under) Over(Under)
TOTAL FUNDING $ 70,833,777 $ 70,086,642 S 747,136 1.1%

EXPENDITURES

Personnel S 43,810,713 S 42,986,397 S 824,316 1.9%
Meetings, Travel, and Conference Calls 4,119,364 3,332,400 786,964 23.6%
Contracts and Consultants 7,562,871 8,585,818 (1,022,947) (11.9%)
Rent and Facilities 3,583,461 3,335,058 248,403 7.4%
Office Costs, Professional, and Misc.* 8,582,895 8,837,081 (254,186) (2.9%)
Other Non-Operating Expenses (376,102) 214,171 (590,273) (275.6%)
Fixed Asset Additions* 4,454,666 4,678,000 (223,334) (4.8%)
TOTAL EXPENDITURES $ 71,737,867 S 71,968,925 $ (231,058) (0.3%)
RESERVE INCREASE (DECREASE) S (904,090) $ (1,882,284) $ 978,194 (52.0%)
FTEs 197.9 201.2 (3.2) (1.6%)

* Excludes depreciation expense

Summary of Variances by Major Categories (excluding CRISP)

e Funding was over budget $747k (1.1%) primarily attributable to higher than budgeted workshop
revenues ($423k) due to higher attendance and also greater interest income ($286k) due to higher
interest rates.

e Personnel expenses were over budget by $824k (1.9%).

Under appropriate accounting guidance, certain labor costs were capitalized and reflected as costs
associated with applicable software/tool projects. For 2019, $379k was capitalized toward these
projects and reflected in fixed assets. Before recognizing the capitalization of labor, the personnel
expense category was over budget $1.2M (2.7%) largely because of employee transition costs,
search fees, and increases in the value of the non-qualified deferred compensation plans which
are being equally offset by the gains in Other Non-Operating Expenses creating a net SO budget
impact.

e Meetings, Travel, and Conference Calls expenses were collectively over budget $787k (23.6%).
Meeting expenses were over budget $690k (66.0%) primarily attributable to the Human
Performance and Grid Security Conference workshops, which had greater attendance than was
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budgeted and was substantially offset by higher than budgeted workshop revenues. Travel
expenses were $67k (3.1%) over budget due to higher than anticipated travel.

e Contracts and Consultants expenses were under budget $1.0M (11.9%). See below for a brief
description of the variances by department.

YTD
CONTRACTS and CONSULTANTS YTD Actual YTD Budget  Over (Under)

Reliability Standards S 17,200 S 50,000 $ (32,800)
Compliance Assurance 62,695 50,000 12,695
Compliance Analysis, Registration and Certification - - -
Compliance Enforcement 118,958 161,000 (42,043)
Reliability Assessment and System Analysis 265,435 625,000 (359,565)
Situation Awareness 1,387,476 1,280,990 106,486
Event Analysis - - -
Performance Analysis 570,879 653,565 (82,686)
E-ISAC 1,607,107 1,820,500 (213,393)
Training, Education, and Personnel Certification 498,683 497,000 1,683
General and Administrative and Executive 178,183 220,000 (41,817)
Legal and Regulatory 356,412 - 356,412
Policy and External Affairs 19,037 20,000 (963)
Information Technology 1,709,756 2,042,763 (333,007)
Human Resources and Administration 677,551 690,000 (12,449)
Finance and Accounting 93,498 475,000 (381,502)

TOTAL $ 7562871 $ 8585818 $ (1,022,947)

= Compliance Assurance was over budget primarily due to discovery work costs (costs incurred
in the initial information gathering phase of software development projects) on the Align
project that was budgeted in fixed assets but recorded in contracts and consultants.

= Situation Awareness was over budget mainly because of unanticipated costs to maintain
SAFNR v2 prior to the go-live date for SAFNR v3 in Q4 2019.

= Performance Analysis was under budget largely due to enhancements on certain applications
that were budgeted in contracts and consultants but recorded in fixed assets, and was partially
offset by unanticipated Florida Reliability Coordinating Council (FRCC) regional entity
dissolution costs.

= Legal and Regulatory was over budget primarily attributable to Internal Audit projects that
were originally budgeted in the Finance and Accounting department but were charged to the
Legal and Regulatory department due to organization changes that were made after the 2019
budget had been created. This substantially accounts for the under budget amount in the
Finance and Accounting department.
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= |nformation Technology was under budget largely as a result of underspend to help fund
certain costs that were charged to the program areas.

= Reliability Standards, Compliance Enforcement, Reliability Assessment and System Analysis, E-
ISAC, General and Administrative and Executive, and Human Resources and Administration
were under budget due to the less than anticipated use of outside consulting support related
to various activities in those groups.

e Rent and Facilities expense was over budget $248k (7.4%) largely as a result of the difference

between the manner in which rent costs are budgeted versus how they have to be reported for
financial statement reporting purposes.
e Office Costs, Professional Services, and Miscellaneous expenses were collectively $254k (2.9%)

under budget. Office costs were $42k (0.7%) over budget because of higher than budgeted
software license and support costs, which were partially offset by audio visual and hardware
equipment payments budgeted in office costs but reclassified to capital lease payments.
Professional services were $301k (11.7%) under budget primarily as a result of lower than
anticipated spending on government relations and legal fees.

e Other Non-Operating expenses were under budget $590k (275.6%) because of gains in the value

of the non-qualified deferred compensation plans which are being equally offset by the increases
in Personnel expenses creating a net SO budget impact, as well as and the unanticipated refund of
prior and current year excise taxes due to recent tax law changes.

e Fixed Asset Purchases (excluding depreciation) were under budget $223k (4.8%) mainly because of

lower spending to offset increased costs in other areas, as well as some costs that were budgeted
in fixed assets but for which the costs were charged to software licenses and support due to the
type of license acquired.
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Summary of Variances by Program

YTD
DIRECT EXPENSES and NET FIXED ASSETS YTD Actual YTD Budget Over (Under)

Reliability Standards S 3,549,948 S 3,419,581 $ 130,366
Compliance Assurance 6,190,003 5,178,505 1,011,497
Compliance Analysis, Registration and Certification 1,981,096 2,881,804 (900,709)
Compliance Enforcement 3,475,466 3,861,690 (386,225)
Reliability Assessment and System Analysis 3,664,291 4,606,107 (941,816)
Situation Awareness 3,137,955 3,012,404 125,550
Event Analysis 2,754,904 2,771,658 (16,754)
Performance Analysis 3,318,516 2,873,967 444,549
E-ISAC 10,563,256 10,649,090 (85,834)
Training, Education, and Personnel Certification 1,479,464 1,367,755 111,709
General and Administrative and Executive 8,426,423 8,144,200 282,223
Legal and Regulatory 4,896,095 3,878,791 1,017,304
Policy and External Affairs 2,408,892 2,510,721 (101,829)
Information Technology 10,753,789 11,696,532 (942,743)
Human Resources 2,587,793 2,562,371 25,422
Finance and Accounting 2,549,978 2,553,747 (3,770)

TOTAL (excluding CRISP) S 71,737,867 S 71,968,925 S (231,058)
CRISP 6,342,253 8,080,729 (1,738,476)

TOTAL EXPENSES and NET FIXED ASSETS S 78,080,120 $ 80,049,655 $ (1,969,535)

In late 2018, NERC management went through an organizational assessment involving various program
areas and re-characterized several employees across multiple departments. In most cases, these
employees kept the same responsibilities and functional oversight, but were assigned new departments
and/or consolidated with other similar roles to align certain technical functions. The changes had no
effect on the total FTEs, and the net cost impact of these movements was immaterial. The following
program areas were impacted by this review and the resulting personnel changes are the main drivers of
their budget to actual variances:

e Reliability Standards

e Compliance Assurance

e Compliance Analysis, Registration and Certification
e Reliability Assessment and System Analysis

e Event Analysis

o Performance Analysis
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Following is a brief summary of other departmental variances:

e Compliance Enforcement — Under budget mainly due to lower personnel costs related to lower

than budgeted FTEs during the year.

e Situation Awareness — Over budget largely because of unanticipated costs to maintain SAFNR v2
prior to the go-live date for SAFNR v3 in Q4 2020.

e E-ISAC—Under budget primarily attributable to lower personnel costs related to lower than
budgeted FTEs during the year, lower contracts and consultants costs, and decreased leasehold
improvement costs. These under budget amount were partially offset by higher software license
and support costs and higher workshop expenses.

e Training, Education, and Personnel Certification — Over budget largely because of higher personnel
costs.

e General and Administrative and Executive — Over budget primarily due to higher meeting, travel,
and leasehold improvement costs.

e Legal and Regulatory — Over budget at year-end primarily due to employee transition costs and
search fees, as well as Internal Audit expenditures that were budgeted in the Finance and
Accounting department that were charged to the Legal and Regulatory department.

e Policy and External Affairs — Under budget mainly as a result of lower than budgeted lobbying
expense.

e Information Technology — Under budget mainly due to lower fixed asset spending and decreased
contracts and consultant costs to help fund expenses charged to other areas, for which these
under budget amounts were partially offset by higher personnel costs due to a lower attrition rate
and salaries that were charged to capital projects.

e CRISP — Under budget largely because of lower personnel, software, and contractor costs.
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Board of Trustees Expenses

As detailed in the following table, Board of Trustee expenses were over budget $6k (0.3%).

YTD %
Board of Trustee Expenses YTD Actual YTD Budget Over (Under) Inc (Dec)
Meetings and Travel Expenses
Quarterly Board Meetings S 208,744 S 185,000 S 23,744 12.8%
Trustee Travel 140,081 130,000 10,081 7.8%
Total S 348,825 S 315,000 $ 33,825 10.7%
Professional Services
Independent Trustee Fees S 1,395,312 S 1,410,000 (14,688) (1.0%)
Trustee Search Fees 87,093 100,000 (12,907) (12.9%)
Total $ 1,482,405 $ 1,510,000 $ (27,595) (1.8%)
Total Board of Trustee Expenses $ 1,831,230 $ 1,825,000 $ 6,230 0.3%
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Summary of CRISP Variances

YTD Actual YTD Budget Over (Under) Over (Under)
TOTAL FUNDING $ 7868786 $ 9,043,707 $ (1,174,921) (13.0%)
EXPENDITURES

Personnel $ 729,670 $ 965,793 $  (236,123) (24.4%)

Meetings, Travel, and Conference Calls 90,500 48,000 42,500 88.5%

Contracts and Consultants 5,174,439 6,457,500 (1,283,061) (19.9%)
Rent and Facilities - - -

Office Costs, Professional, and Misc.* 210,212 509,436 (299,224) (58.7%)
Other Non-Operating Expenses 10,467 - 10,467

Fixed Asset Additions* 126,964 100,000 26,964 27.0%

Indirect Expenses and Fixed Asset Allocation 928,881 962,978 (34,097) (3.5%)

TOTAL EXPENDITURES S 7,271,134 S 9,043,707 $ (1,772,573) (19.6%)

* Excludes depreciation expense

o Funding — Under budget $1.2M (13.0%) mainly because of lower third party funding of CRISP expenses by
CRISP participants due to lower revenue requirements to fund actual program costs, and was partially
offset by higher than expected interest income.

o Expenditures — Under budget by $1.8M (19.6%) primarily due to lower than expected personnel
expenses, and lower costs related to participant data analysis (offset by lower third party funding),
project support, and data storage.

Allocation of Indirect Expenses and Fixed Assets to Program Areas

Total expenses (excluding fixed asset purchases) of the administrative programs were $33.0M, which was
$429k (1.3%) over budget. The actual allocation of indirect expenses (excluding fixed asset purchases) per
program area FTE (i.e. direct FTE) was $252k, which was over budget by $14k (6.1%) per FTE. This over
budget amount was driven primarily by employee transition costs and search fees. These over budget
amounts were partially offset by lower contracts and consultants and office costs.

Total fixed asset purchases for the administrative programs were $1.0M, which was $19k (1.9%) over
budget. The actual allocation of fixed assets per program area FTE (i.e. direct FTE) was $500 above
budget.
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Use of Statutory Funds for Non-Statutory Activities

NERC does not have non-statutory activities and, therefore, did not use statutory funds for non-statutory
activities.

Operating Reserves Analysis

Beginning Budgeted Budgeted Other Net Financing Ending

Reserve Account Balance Funding Uses Funding (Uses) @ Activity @ Balance
Operating Contingency $ 5,644,359 S 550,000 $ (1,067,979) $ 1,467,390 S (394,688) $ 6,199,083
Future Obligations 2,535,333 - (480,457) 64,843 - 2,119,719
Assessment Stabilization 2,071,000 - (550,000) 1,000,000 - 2,521,000
System Operator 592,110 148,674 - 36,491 - 777,274.27
CRISP 500,000 - - - - 500,000
Total Reserves $ 11,342,801 S 698,674 S (2,098,436) $ 2,568,724 S (394,688) $ 12,117,076

NOTES:

(1) The column Other Funding (Uses) primarily reflects the net impact of normal operations. For example, under normal circumstances, if NERC
was tracking well under budget in actual expenditures, this would reflect additional funds into the reserve account. It also reflects the increase or
decrease in working capital during the period.

(2) Net financing activity in 2019 reflects principal debt repayments for borrowings originating in 2016. NERC did not make budgeted borrowings
for 2017, 2018, and 2019 in light of a favorable working capital position. The savings from the 2019 borrowing decision will be realized in the years
2020to 2022.

As of December 31, 2019, the balance in operating reserves was $12.1M, $3.5M more than budget,
including $6.2M in the Operating Contingency Reserve (OCR) and $2.5M in the Assessment Stabilization
Reserve (ASR). The primary drivers behind the over budget amount are higher than anticipated actual
beginning reserve balances and the overall under-budget results in 2019.
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North American Electric Reliability Corporation
Statement of Activities and Fixed Assets Budget
For the Period Ending 12/31/19 (Including CRISP)

YTD YTD YTD %
Actual* Budget Over (Under) Inc (Dec)
Funding
Assessments $ 68,883,995 68,883,995 $ 0 0.0%
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Penalties 550,000 550,000 (0) (0.0%)
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Non-Penalties - - -
Third-Party Funding (CRISP) 6,192,287 7,486,354 (1,294,067) (17.3%)
Testing 1,822,961 1,790,000 32,961 1.8%
Services & Software 45,000 40,000 5,000 12.5%
Workshop Fees 618,104 195,000 423,104 217.0%
Interest 589,893 185,000 404,893 218.9%
Miscellaneous 323 - 323
Total Funding (A) $ 78,702,563 79,130,349 $ (427,785) (0.5%)
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries $ 34,518,218 33,810,276 $ 707,942 2.1%
Payroll Taxes 2,052,327 2,044,880 7,447 0.4%
Employee Benefits 4,836,057 4,673,208 162,849 3.5%
Savings & Retirement 3,133,781 3,423,826 (290,045) (8.5%)
Total Personnel Expenses $ 44,540,383 43,952,190 $ 588,193 1.3%
Meeting Expenses
Meetings $ 1,750,168 1,056,500 $ 693,668 65.7%
Travel 2,288,161 2,184,000 104,161 4.8%
Conference Calls 171,536 139,900 31,636 22.6%
Total Meeting Expenses $ 4,209,865 3,380,400 $ 829,465 24.5%
Operating Expenses
Consultants and Contracts $ 12,737,309 15,043,318 S (2,306,009) (15.3%)
Rent & Improvements 3,583,461 3,335,058 248,403 7.4%
Office Costs 6,263,240 6,506,917 (243,677) (3.7%)
Professional Services 2,443,365 2,757,600 (314,235) (11.4%)
Miscellaneous 86,501 82,000 4,501 5.5%
Depreciation 3,554,031 3,446,022 108,009 3.1%
Total Operating Expenses $ 28,667,907 31,170,915 $  (2,503,008) (8.0%)
Other Non-Operating Expenses $ (365,636) 214,171 $ (579,806.80) (270.7%)
Indirect Expenses $ (0) -3 (0)
Total Expenses (B) $ 77,052,519 78,717,676 _$  (1,665,157) (2.1%)
Net Change in Assets S 1,650,044 412,673 S 1,237,371 299.8%
Fixed Assets
Depreciation S (3,554,030) (3,446,022) S (108,008) 3.1%
Software 3,676,015 3,488,000 188,015 5.4%
Computers - - -
Furniture & Fixtures - - -
Equipment 378,574 890,000 (511,426) (57.5%)
Capital Lease Assets 299,187 - 299,187
Leasehold Improvements 227,853 400,000 (172,147) (43.0%)
Allocation of Fixed Assets (0) (0) 0 (100.0%)
Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C) $ 1,027,599 1,331,978 $ (304,379) (22.9%)
Total Budget (=B+C) $ 78,080,118 80,049,654 $ (1,969,536) (2.5%)
Total Change in Working Capital (=A-B-C) $ 622,445 (919,305) $ 1,541,750.33 (167.7%)
FTEs on 12/31/2019 201.78 204.92 (3.14) (1.5%)
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Reliability Standards

Statement of Activities and Fixed Asset Budget

YTD YTD YTD %
Actual Budget Over (Under) Inc (Dec)
Funding
Assessments S 6,598,401 $ 6,598,401 S (0) (0.0%)
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Penalties 58,793 58,793 (0) (0.0%)
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Non-Penalties - - -
Third-Party Funding (CRISP) - - -
Testing - - -
Services & Software - - -
Workshop Fees 45,551 60,000 (14,449) (24.1%)
Interest 57,684 18,884 38,800 205.5%
Miscellaneous - - -
Total Funding (A) $ 6,760,428 $ 6,736,078 $ 24,351 0.4%
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries S 2,265,294 S 2,031,580 $ 233,713 11.5%
Payroll Taxes 142,349 134,348 8,001 6.0%
Employee Benefits 306,367 297,782 8,585 2.9%
Savings & Retirement 222,245 224,171 (1,926) (0.9%)
Total Personnel Expenses $ 2,936,255 $ 2,687,881 S 248,373 9.2%
Meeting Expenses
Meetings S 87,561 S 105,000 $ (17,439) (16.6%)
Travel 191,971 220,000 (28,029) (12.7%)
Conference Calls 4,446 18,000 (13,554) (75.3%)
Total Meeting Expenses $ 283,977 $ 343,000 $ (59,023) (17.2%)
Operating Expenses
Consultants and Contracts S 17,200 $ 50,000 S (32,800) (65.6%)
Rent & Improvements - - -
Office Costs 58,784 38,200 20,584 53.9%
Professional Services - - -
Miscellaneous 1,790 500 1,290 258.0%
Depreciation 47,837 257,774 (209,938) (81.4%)
Total Operating Expenses $ 125,611 $ 346,474 $ (220,864) (63.7%)
Other Non-Operating Expenses $ - $ - $ -
Indirect Expenses $ 4,260,102 S 3,446,152 S 813,949 23.6%
Total Expenses (B) $ 7,605,944 S 6,823,508 $ 782,436 11.5%
Net Change in Assets $ (845,516) $ (87,430) $ (758,086) 867.1%
Fixed Assets
Depreciation S (47,837) $ (257,774) $ 209,938 (81.4%)
Software 251,941 300,000 (48,059) (16.0%)
Computers - - -
Furniture & Fixtures - - -
Equipment - - -
Capital Lease Assets - - -
Leasehold Improvements - - -
Allocation of Fixed Assets (177,850) (129,656) (48,195) 37.2%
Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C) $ 26,254 $ (87,430) $ 113,685 (130.0%)
Total Budget (=B+C) $ 7,632,199 $ 6,736,078 $ 896,121 13.3%
Total Change in Working Capital (=A-B-C) $ (871,770) $ -8 (871,770)
FTEs on 12/31/2019 16.92 14.57 235 16.1%
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Explanation of Variances by Category — Reliability Standards

Funding
=  Workshop fees were $14k (24.1%) under budget because of lower than anticipated

attendance at the workshop.
» |Interest income was $39k (205.5%) over budget due to higher than expected interest rates.

Personnel — Over budget $248k (9.2%) primarily due to the organizational assessment involving
various program areas that re-characterized several employees across multiple departments, as
previously discussed.

Meetings, Travel and Conferencing Expenses
=  Meeting expenses were $17k (16.6%) under budget mainly due to lower than expected
meeting costs.
= Travel expenses were $28k (12.7%) lower than budget because of lower than anticipated
travel costs.
= Conference calls expenses were $14k (75.3%) under budget due to lower than expected
conferencing costs.

Operating Expenses
= Contract and consultant expenses were $33k (65.6%) under budget because of lower than
anticipated consultant needs.
= Office Costs were $21k (53.9%) greater than budget mainly due to higher than expected
dues fees.
= Depreciation expense was $210k (81.4%) under budget and is offset by a credit in the Fixed
Assets section and has no impact to the overall net change in assets.

Indirect Expenses — Over budget $814k (23.6%) primarily because the department received
more of the administrative departments’ direct costs than had been budgeted due to the
additional FTEs that this department had during the year compared to budget.

Fixed Assets
= Software was under budget $48k (16.0%) due to lower than anticipated spend.
= The fixed asset allocation was over budget S48k (37.2%) largely because the department
received more of the administrative departments’ fixed asset allocation credit than had
been budgeted due to the additional FTEs that this department had during the year
compared to budget.
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Funding
Assessments
Assessment Stabilization Reserves
Assessment Stabilization Reserves
Third-Party Funding (CRISP)
Testing
Services & Software
Workshop Fees
Interest
Miscellaneous

Total Funding (A)

Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries
Payroll Taxes
Employee Benefits
Savings & Retirement
Total Personnel Expenses

Meeting Expenses
Meetings
Travel
Conference Calls
Total Meeting Expenses

Operating Expenses
Consultants and Contracts
Rent & Improvements
Office Costs
Professional Services
Miscellaneous
Depreciation

Total Operating Expenses

Other Non-Operating Expenses
Indirect Expenses

Total Expenses (B)

Net Change in Assets

Fixed Assets
Depreciation
Software
Computers
Furniture & Fixtures
Equipment
Capital Lease Assets
Leasehold Improvements

Allocation of Fixed Assets

Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C)

Total Budget (=B+C)

Compliance Assurance Program
Statement of Activities and Fixed Asset Budget

Total Change in Working Capital (=A-B-C) $  (1,883,364)

FTEson 12/31/2019

YTD YTD YTD %
Actual Budget Over (Under) Inc (Dec)

S 8,835,237 $ 8,835,237 S 0 0.0%
- Penalties 66,379 66,379 (0) (0.0%)
- Non-Penalties - - -

68,728 21,320 47,408 222.4%

$ 8,970,345 $ 8,922,937 47,408 0.5%

S 3,451,873 S 2,526,754 925,120 36.6%

209,463 166,873 42,590 25.5%

586,276 441,671 144,605 32.7%

337,042 278,308 58,734 21.1%

$ 4,584,655 $ 3,413,605 $ 1,171,049 34.3%

S 64,293 $ 200,000 (135,707) (67.9%)

316,919 375,000 (58,081) (15.5%)

5,021 8,000 (2,979) (37.2%)

S 386,233 $ 583,000 (196,767) (33.8%)

S 62,695 $ 50,000 12,695 25.4%

264,415 247,400 17,015 6.9%
6,631 - 6,631

2,179 500 1,679 335.9%

S 335,921 $ 297,900 38,021 12.8%

$ - $ - $ -

$ 4,866,889 S 3,890,817 $ 976,072 25.1%

$ 10,173,697 $ 8,185,322 $ 1,988,375 24.3%

$ (1,203,352) $ 737,614 (1,940,967) (263.1%)

$ _ - -

883,195 884,000 (805) (0.1%)

(203,183) (146,386) (56,797) 38.8%

$ 680,012 $ 737,614 (57,602) (7.8%)

$ 10,853,709 $ 8,922,937 1,930,772 21.6%
$ - (1,883,364)

19.33 16.45 2.88 17.5%
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Explanation of Variances by Category — Compliance Assurance

o Funding — Over budget in interest income by $47k (222.4%) due to higher than expected interest
rates.

o Personnel — Over budget $1.2M (34.3%) primarily due to the organizational assessment
involving various program areas that re-characterized several employees across multiple
departments, as previously discussed.

o Meetings, Travel and Conferencing Expenses
=  Meeting expenses were $135k (67.9%) under budget mainly due to several meetings that
were budgeted in this department but were charged to a different department, due to the
changes previously noted related to the organizational assessment.
= Travel expenses were $58k (15.5%) lower than budget because of lower than anticipated
travel.

o Operating Expenses — Over budget in contract and consultant expenses $13k (25.4%) due to
discovery work costs (costs incurred in the initial information gathering phase of software
development projects) on the Align project that was budgeted in fixed assets but recorded in
contracts and consultants.

o Indirect Expenses — Over budget $976k (25.1%) primarily because the department received
more of the administrative departments’ direct costs than had been budgeted due to the
additional FTEs that this department had during the year compared to budget.

o Fixed Assets — The fixed asset allocation was over budget $57k (38.8%) largely because the
department received more of the administrative departments’ fixed asset allocation credit than
had been budgeted due to the additional FTEs that this department had during the year
compared to budget.
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Compliance Analysis, Certification and Registration
Statement of Activities and Fixed Asset Budget

Funding
Assessments

Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Penalties
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Non-Penalties

Third-Party Funding (CRISP)
Testing
Services & Software
Workshop Fees
Interest
Miscellaneous

Total Funding (A)

Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries
Payroll Taxes
Employee Benefits
Savings & Retirement
Total Personnel Expenses

Meeting Expenses
Meetings
Travel
Conference Calls
Total Meeting Expenses

Operating Expenses
Consultants and Contracts
Rent & Improvements
Office Costs
Professional Services
Miscellaneous
Depreciation

Total Operating Expenses

Other Non-Operating Expenses
Indirect Expenses

Total Expenses (B)

Net Change in Assets

Fixed Assets
Depreciation
Software
Computers
Furniture & Fixtures
Equipment
Capital Lease Assets
Leasehold Improvements

Allocation of Fixed Assets

Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C)

Total Budget (=B+C)

Total Change in Working Capital (=A-B-C)

FTEs on 12/31/2019

YTD YTD YTD %
Actual Budget Over (Under) Inc (Dec)
4,971,365 $ 4,971,365 (0) (0.0%)
37,931 37,931 (0) (0.0%)
17,087 12,183 4,903 40.2%
5,026,383 $ 5,021,479 $ 4,903 0.1%
829,910 $ 1,596,696 (766,786) (48.0%)
50,758 98,909 (48,152) (48.7%)
133,447 232,391 (98,944) (42.6%)
91,274 178,558 (87,284) (48.9%)
1,105,388 $ 2,106,554 (1,001,166) (47.5%)
4,496 S 2,250 2,246 99.8%
77,691 150,500 (72,809) (48.4%)
2,870 5,400 (2,530) (46.9%)
85,057 $ 158,150 (73,093) (46.2%)
-8 R R
15,928 16,600 (672) (4.0%)
(68) 500 (568)  (113.5%)
263,758 111,677 152,081 136.2%
279,618 $ 128,777 $ 150,841 117.1%
-8 -8 R
1,258,895 $ 2,223,324 (964,429) (43.4%)
2,728,959 $ 4,616,805 (1,887,846) (40.9%)
2,297,424 S 404,674 $ 1,892,750 467.7%
(263,758) $ (111,677) (152,081) 136.2%
774,790 600,000 174,790 29.1%
(52,556) (83,649) 31,093 (37.2%)
458,476 _$ 404,674 53,801 13.3%
3,187,435 $ 5,021,479 (1,834,045) (36.5%)
1,838,948 $ - 1,838,948
5.00 9.40 (4.40) (46.8%)
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Explanation of Variances by Category — Compliance Analysis, Certification and Registration

o Personnel — Under budget $1.0M (47.5%) primarily due to the organizational assessment
involving various program areas that re-characterized several employees across multiple
departments, as previously discussed.

o Meetings, Travel and Conferencing Expenses — Travel expenses were $73k (48.4%) lower than
budget because of less FTEs than budgeted and lower than anticipated travel costs.

o Operating Expenses — Depreciation expense was $152k (136.2%) over budget and is offset by a
credit in the Fixed Assets section and has no impact to the overall net change in assets.

o Indirect Expenses — Under budget $964k (43.4%) primarily because the department received less
of the administrative departments’ direct costs than had been budgeted due to the fewer FTEs
that this department had during the year compared to budget.

o Fixed Assets

= Software was over budget $175k (29.1%) due to scope changes on the Entity Registration-
CORES project, as well as labor costs that were capitalized and added to the cost of the tool
once it went into production.

= The fixed asset allocation was under budget $31k (37.2%) largely because the department
received less of the administrative departments’ fixed asset allocation credit than had been
budgeted due to the lower number of FTEs that this department had during the year
compared to budget.
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Compliance Enforcement
Statement of Activities and Fixed Asset Budget

YTD YTD YTD %
Actual Budget Over (Under) Inc (Dec)
Funding
Assessments S 6,787,076 S 6,787,076 S 0 0.0%
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Penalties 53,103 53,103 0 0.0%
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Non-Penalties - -
Third-Party Funding (CRISP) - - -
Testing - - -
Services & Software - - -
Workshop Fees - - -
Interest 41,320 17,056 24,264 142.3%
Miscellaneous - - -
Total Funding (A) $ 6,881,499 $ 6,857,235 $ 24,264 0.4%
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries S 1,672,612 $ 1,991,052 $ (318,440) (16.0%)
Payroll Taxes 120,588 126,256 (5,668) (4.5%)
Employee Benefits 191,642 198,145 (6,503) (3.3%)
Savings & Retirement 169,510 218,788 (49,277) (22.5%)
Total Personnel Expenses $ 2,154,352 $ 2,534,240 (379,888) (15.0%)
Meeting Expenses
Meetings S 9,959 $ 2,000 $ 7,959 397.9%
Travel 55,186 47,500 7,686 16.2%
Conference Calls 4,014 2,400 1,614 67.3%
Total Meeting Expenses $ 69,159 $ 51,900 $ 17,259 33.3%
Operating Expenses
Consultants and Contracts S 118,958 S 161,000 (42,043) (26.1%)
Rent & Improvements - - -
Office Costs 248,314 230,050 18,264 7.9%
Professional Services - - -
Miscellaneous 1,489 500 989 197.8%
Depreciation 105,014 105,014 0 0.0%
Total Operating Expenses S 473,775 S 496,564 (22,789) (4.6%)
Other Non-Operating Expenses $ - S - S -
Indirect Expenses $ 2,769,570 $ 3,112,654 (343,084) (11.0%)
Total Expenses (B) $ 5,466,855 $ 6,195,358 (728,503) (11.8%)
Net Change in Assets $ 1,414,644 S 661,877 $ 752,767 113.7%
Fixed Assets
Depreciation S (105,014) $ (105,014) (0) 0.0%
Software 883,195 884,000 (805) (0.1%)
Computers - - -
Furniture & Fixtures - - -
Equipment - - -
Capital Lease Assets - - -
Leasehold Improvements - - -
Allocation of Fixed Assets (115,624) (117,109) 1,485 (1.3%)
Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C) S 662,557 $ 661,877 S 679 0.1%
Total Budget (=B+C) $ 6129411 $ 6,857,235 (727,824) (10.6%)
Total Change in Working Capital (=A-B-C) S 752,088 $ - 752,088
FTEs on 12/31/2019 11.00 13.16 (2.16) (16.4%)
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Explanation of Variances by Category — Compliance Enforcement

o Funding — Interest income was $24k (142.3%) over budget due to higher than expected interest
rates.

o Personnel — Under budget $380k (15.0%) largely because of lower than budgeted FTEs.

o Operating Expenses — Contract and consultant expenses were $42k (26.1%) under budget
because of lower than anticipated consultant needs.

o Indirect Expenses — Under budget $343k (11.0%) primarily because the department received less
of the administrative departments’ direct costs than had been budgeted due to the fewer FTEs
that this department had during the year compared to budget.
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Reliability Assessments and System Analysis (RASA)
Statement of Activities and Fixed Asset Budget

Funding
Assessments

Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Penalties
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Non-Penalties

Third-Party Funding (CRISP)
Testing
Services & Software
Workshop Fees
Interest
Miscellaneous

Total Funding (A)

Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries
Payroll Taxes
Employee Benefits
Savings & Retirement
Total Personnel Expenses

Meeting Expenses
Meetings
Travel
Conference Calls
Total Meeting Expenses

Operating Expenses
Consultants and Contracts
Rent & Improvements
Office Costs
Professional Services
Miscellaneous
Depreciation

Total Operating Expenses

Other Non-Operating Expenses
Indirect Expenses
Total Expenses (B)

Net Change in Assets

Fixed Assets
Depreciation
Software
Computers
Furniture & Fixtures
Equipment
Capital Lease Assets
Leasehold Improvements

Allocation of Fixed Assets

Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C)

Total Budget (=B+C)

Total Change in Working Capital (=A-B-C)

FTEs on 12/31/2019

YTD YTD YTD %
Actual Budget Over (Under) Inc (Dec)
7,924,404 $ 7,924,404 $ (0) (0.0%)
60,690 60,690 0 0.0%
- 25,000 (25,000) (100.0%)
41,430 19,493 21,937 112.5%
8,026,524 $ 8,029,587 $ (3,063) (0.0%)
2,133,748 S 2,588,128 S (454,381) (17.6%)
128,061 156,888 (28,827) (18.4%)
282,918 355,375 (72,457) (20.4%)
220,646 285,005 (64,359) (22.6%)
2,765,372 $ 3,385,397 $ (620,024) (18.3%)
257,863 S 121,000 $ 136,863 113.1%
233,219 250,000 (16,781) (6.7%)
4,589 6,500 (1,911) (29.4%)
495,671 $ 377,500 $ 118,171 313%
265,435 $ 625,000 $ (359,565) (57.5%)
137,781 217,710 (79,929) (36.7%)
32 500 (468) (93.6%)
208,782 225,375 (16,593) (7.4%)
612,030 $ 1,068,585 $ (456,555) (42.7%)

-8 -8 R
3,119,542 $ 3,557,318 $ (437,776) (12.3%)
6,992,616 $ 8,388,800 $ (1,396,184) (16.6%)
1,033,908 $ (359,213) $ 1,393,121 (387.8%)
(208,782) $ (225,375) $ 16,593 (7.4%)
(130,234) (133,838) 3,604 (2.7%)
(339,017) $ (359,213) $ 20,197 (5.6%)
6,653,509 $ 8,029,587 $ (1,375,988) (17.1%)
1,372,925 $ -8 1,372,925

12.39 15.04 (2.65) (17.6%)
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Explanation of Variances by Category — RASA

o Funding

=  Workshop fees were $25k (100.0%) under budget because the workshop that was
budgeted for did not occur.
» |Interest income was $22k (112.5%) over budget due to higher than expected interest rates.

o Personnel — Lower than budget by $620k (18.3%) primarily due to the organizational assessment
involving various program areas that re-characterized several employees across multiple
departments, as previously discussed.

o Meetings, Travel and Conferencing Expenses — Meeting expenses were $137k (113.1%) over
budget mainly due to several meetings that were budgeted in another department but were
charged to this department, due to the changes previously noted related to the organizational
assessment.

o Operating Expenses

= Contract and consultant expenses were $360k (57.5%) under budget because of lower than
anticipated consultant needs.

= Office Costs were $80k (36.7%) lower than budget mainly due to lower than expected
software license and support costs.

o Indirect Expenses — Under budget $438k (12.3%) primarily because the department received less
of the administrative departments’ direct costs than had been budgeted due to the lower
number of FTEs that this department had during the year compared to budget.
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Performance Analysis

Statement of Activities and Fixed Asset Budget

YTD YTD YTD %
Actual Budget Over (Under) Inc (Dec)
Funding
Assessments $ 5,132,484 S 5,132,484 S 0 0.0%
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Penalties 41,724 41,724 0 0.0%
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Non-Penalties - -
Third-Party Funding (CRISP) - - -
Testing - - -
Services & Software 45,000 40,000 5,000 12.5%
Workshop Fees 7,153 - 7,153
Interest 44,153 13,401 30,752 229.5%
Miscellaneous - - -
Total Funding (A) $ 5,270,514 $ 5,227,610 $ 42,905 0.8%
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries S 1,815,067 $ 1,581,929 233,138 14.7%
Payroll Taxes 123,185 104,052 19,133 18.4%
Employee Benefits 276,374 186,375 89,999 48.3%
Savings & Retirement 194,036 176,656 17,380 9.8%
Total Personnel Expenses $ 2,408,661 $ 2,049,012 $ 359,649 17.6%
Meeting Expenses
Meetings S 42,175 S 11,000 31,175 283.4%
Travel 99,275 80,000 19,275 24.1%
Conference Calls 3,158 3,600 (442) (12.3%)
Total Meeting Expenses $ 144,607 $ 94,600 $ 50,007 52.9%
Operating Expenses
Consultants and Contracts S 570,879 S 653,565 (82,686) (12.7%)
Rent & Improvements - - -
Office Costs 86,873 76,290 10,583 13.9%
Professional Services - - -
Miscellaneous 520 500 20 4.0%
Depreciation 273,425 295,995 (22,569) (7.6%)
Total Operating Expenses $ 931,698 $ 1,026,350 (94,652) (9.2%)
Other Non-Operating Expenses $ - S - S -
Indirect Expenses $ 3,265,574 S 2,445,656 S 819,918 33.5%
Total Expenses (B) $ 6,750,540 $ 5,615,618 $ 1,134,922 20.2%
Net Change in Assets $  (1,480,026) S (388,009) (1,092,017) 281.4%
Fixed Assets
Depreciation $ (273,425) $ (295,995) 22,569 (7.6%)
Software 106,975 - 106,975
Computers - - -
Furniture & Fixtures - - -
Equipment - - -
Capital Lease Assets - - -
Leasehold Improvements - - -
Allocation of Fixed Assets (136,331) (92,014) (44,317) 48.2%
Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C) $ (302,781) $ (388,009) 85,227 (22.0%)
Total Budget (=B+C) $ 6,447,759 $ 5,227,610 1,220,149 23.3%
Total Change in Working Capital (=A-B-C) $ (1,177,245) S - (1,177,245)
FTEs on 12/31/2019 12.97 10.34 2.63 25.4%
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Explanation of Variances by Category — Performance Analysis

o Funding — Interest income was $31k (229.5%) over budget due to higher than expected interest
rates.

o Personnel — Over budget $360k (17.6%) primarily due to the organizational assessment involving
various program areas that re-characterized several employees across multiple departments, as
previously discussed.

o Meetings, Travel and Conferencing Expenses
=  Meeting expenses were $31k (283.4%) over budget mainly due to several meetings that
were budgeted in another department but were charged to this department, due to the
changes previously noted related to the organizational assessment.
= Travel expenses were $19k (24.1%) over budget primarily because of higher than budgeted
FTEs, due to the organizational assessment.

o Operating Expenses
= Contract and consultant expenses were $83k (12.7%) under budget due to costs that were
budgeted in contacts and consultants for software enhancements but charged to fixed
assets.
= Office Costs were $11k (13.9%) greater than budget mainly due to higher than expected
software license and support costs.

o Indirect Expenses — Over budget $820k (33.5%) primarily because the department received
more of the administrative departments’ direct costs than had been budgeted due to the
additional FTEs that this department had during the year compared to budget.

o Fixed Assets

= Software was over budget $107k (100.0%) due to costs that were budgeted in contacts and
consultants but charged to fixed assets due to the type of charge incurred.

» The fixed asset allocation was over under budget $44k (48.2%) largely because the
department received more of the administrative departments’ fixed asset allocation credit
than had been budgeted due to the additional FTEs that this department had during the
year compared to budget.
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Situation Awareness

Statement of Activities and Fixed Asset Budget

YTD YTD YTD %
Actual Budget Over (Under) Inc (Dec)
Funding
Assessments $ 4,266,141 S 4,266,141 S 0 0.0%
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Penalties 22,759 22,759 (0) (0.0%)
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Non-Penalties - - -
Third-Party Funding (CRISP) - - -
Testing - - -
Services & Software - - -
Workshop Fees - - -
Interest 19,597 7,310 12,288 168.1%
Miscellaneous - - -
Total Funding (A) $ 4,308,497 $ 4,296,209 12,288 0.3%
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries S 921,741 $ 865,683 56,059 6.5%
Payroll Taxes 60,902 58,475 2,427 4.2%
Employee Benefits 210,835 182,721 28,115 15.4%
Savings & Retirement 81,346 95,435 (14,090) (14.8%)
Total Personnel Expenses $ 1,274,824 S 1,202,314 72,510 6.0%
Meeting Expenses
Meetings S 7,949 S 2,000 5,949 297.4%
Travel 40,632 33,000 7,632 23.1%
Conference Calls 1,719 - 1,719
Total Meeting Expenses $ 50,300 $ 35,000 15,300 43.7%
Operating Expenses
Consultants and Contracts S 1,387,476 S 1,280,990 106,486 8.3%
Rent & Improvements - - -
Office Costs 266,864 93,600 173,264 185.1%
Professional Services - - -
Miscellaneous - 500 (500) (100.0%)
Depreciation 7,882 8,948 (1,066) (11.9%)
Total Operating Expenses S 1,662,222 $ 1,384,038 $ 278,184 20.1%
Other Non-Operating Expenses $ - S - S -
Indirect Expenses $ 1,482,979 S 1,333,994 S 148,984 11.2%
Total Expenses (B) S 4,470,325 $ 3,955,347 S 514,978 13.0%
Net Change in Assets $ (161,828) $ 340,863 (502,691) (147.5%)
Fixed Assets
Depreciation S (7,882) $ (8,948) 1,066 (11.9%)
Software 158,491 400,000 (241,510) (60.4%)
Computers - - -
Furniture & Fixtures - - -
Equipment - - -
Capital Lease Assets - - -
Leasehold Improvements - - -
Allocation of Fixed Assets (61,911) (50,189) (11,722) 23.4%
Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C) $ 88,697 $ 340,863 (252,165) (74.0%)
Total Budget (=B+C) $ 4,559,022 S 4,296,209 262,813 6.1%
Total Change in Working Capital (=A-B-C) $ (250,525) $ - (250,525)
FTEs on 12/31/2019 5.89 5.64 0.25 4.4%
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Explanation of Variances by Category — Situation Awareness

o Funding — Interest income was $12k (168.1%) over budget due to higher than expected interest
rates.

o Personnel — Over budget $73k (6.0%) mainly because of higher than budgeted salaries and
insurance costs, which was partially offset by lower than budgeted 401(k) match expense.

o Operating Expenses
= Contract and consultant expenses were $106k (8.3%) over budget mainly due to
unanticipated costs to maintain SAFNR v2 prior to the go-live date for SAFNR v3 in Q4
2020.
» Office Costs were $173k (185.1%) greater than budget mainly due to software license costs
that were budgeted in fixed assets but charged to software licenses and support due to the
type of license acquired.

o Indirect Expenses — Over budget $149k (11.2%) primarily because the department received
more of the administrative departments’ direct costs than had been budgeted due to the
additional FTEs that this department had during the year compared to budget.

o Fixed Assets

= Software was under budget $242k (60.4%) mainly because of software license costs that
were budgeted in fixed assets but charged to software licenses and support due to the type
of license acquired.

= The fixed asset allocation was over budget $S12k (23.4%) largely because the department
received more of the administrative departments’ fixed asset allocation credit than had
been budgeted due to the additional FTEs that this department had during the year
compared to budget.
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Event Analysis
Statement of Activities and Fixed Asset Budget

YTD YTD YTD %
Actual Budget Over (Under) Inc (Dec)
Funding
Assessments $ 5,239,131 S 5,239,131 S 0 0.0%
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Penalties 45,517 45,517 (0) (0.0%)
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Non-Penalties - - -
Third-Party Funding (CRISP) - - -
Testing - - -
Services & Software - - -
Workshop Fees 153,579 40,000 113,579 283.9%
Interest 32,778 14,620 18,158 124.2%
Miscellaneous - - -
Total Funding (A) $ 5,471,005 $ 5,339,268 $ 131,737 2.5%
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries S 1,876,316 $ 1,903,950 (27,634) (1.5%)
Payroll Taxes 102,104 113,420 (11,316) (10.0%)
Employee Benefits 229,232 264,308 (35,076) (13.3%)
Savings & Retirement 176,248 210,479 (34,231) (16.3%)
Total Personnel Expenses $ 2,383,901 $ 2,492,158 (108,257) (4.3%)
Meeting Expenses
Meetings S 183,816 $ 81,500 102,316 125.5%
Travel 138,165 150,000 (11,835) (7.9%)
Conference Calls 3,439 - 3,439
Total Meeting Expenses $ 325419 $ 231,500 93,919 40.6%
Operating Expenses
Consultants and Contracts $ -8 - -
Rent & Improvements - - -
Office Costs 41,738 47,500 (5,762) (12.1%)
Professional Services - - -
Miscellaneous 3,846 500 3,346 669.2%
Depreciation 77,915 85,582 (7,667) (9.0%)
Total Operating Expenses S 123,499 $ 133,582 (10,083) (7.5%)
Other Non-Operating Expenses $ - S - S -
Indirect Expenses $ 2,412,043 S 2,667,989 (255,946) (9.6%)
Total Expenses (B) $ 5,244,863 $ 5,525,228 (280,366) (5.1%)
Net Change in Assets $ 226,143 $ (185,960) $ 412,103 (221.6%)
Fixed Assets
Depreciation S (77,915) $ (85,582) 7,667 (9.0%)
Software - - -
Computers - - -
Furniture & Fixtures - - -
Equipment - - -
Capital Lease Assets - - -
Leasehold Improvements - - -
Allocation of Fixed Assets (100,698) (100,379) (319) 0.3%
Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C) $ (178,613) $ (185,960) $ 7,348 (4.0%)
Total Budget (=B+C) $ 5066250 $ 5,339,268 (273,018) (5.1%)
Total Change in Working Capital (=A-B-C) $ 404,755 $ - 404,755
FTEs on 12/31/2019 9.58 11.28 (1.70) (15.1%)
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Explanation of Variances by Category — Event Analysis

Funding
=  Workshop fees were $114k (283.9%) over budget due to higher attendance than expected
at the Human Performance Workshop. These fees covered a substantial portion of the
higher costs in meeting expenses.
» |Interest income was $18k (124.2%) over budget due to higher than expected interest rates.

Personnel — Personnel expenses were under budget $108k (4.3%) primarily due to the
organizational assessment involving various program areas that re-characterized several
employees across multiple departments, as previously discussed.

Meetings, Travel and Conferencing Expenses
=  Meeting expenses were $102k (125.5%) over budget primarily due to higher costs related
to the Human Performance Workshop. The higher cost was partially offset by higher
workshop fees, as noted above.

Indirect Expenses — Under budget $256k (9.6%) primarily because the department received less
of the administrative departments’ direct costs than had been budgeted due to the lower
number of FTEs that this department had during the year compared to budget.
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Funding
Assessments
Assessment Stabilization
Assessment Stabilization
Third-Party Funding (CRIS
Testing
Services & Software
Workshop Fees
Interest
Miscellaneous

Total Funding (A)

Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries
Payroll Taxes
Employee Benefits
Savings & Retirement
Total Personnel Expenses

Meeting Expenses
Meetings
Travel
Conference Calls
Total Meeting Expenses

Operating Expenses

Consultants and Contracts

Rent & Improvements
Office Costs
Professional Services
Miscellaneous
Depreciation

Total Operating Expenses

Other Non-Operating Expenses

Indirect Expenses

Total Expenses (B)

Net Change in Assets

Fixed Assets
Depreciation
Software
Computers
Furniture & Fixtures
Equipment
Capital Lease Assets
Leasehold Improvements

Allocation of Fixed Assets

Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C)

Total Budget (=B+C)

Total Change in Working Capital (=A-B-C)

FTEs on 12/31/2019

E-ISAC, including CRISP

Statement of Activities and Fixed Asset Budget

YTD YTD YTD %
Actual Budget Over (Under) Inc (Dec)
$ 19,627,897 19,627,897 S 0 0.0%

Reserves - Penalties 155,517 155,517 (0) (0.0%)

Reserves - Non-Penalties - - -

P) 6,192,287 7,486,353 (1,294,067) (17.3%)
411,822 70,000 341,822 488.3%
232,490 55,859 176,630 316.2%

$ 26,620,012 27,395,627 $ (775,615) (2.8%)
S 5,812,826 6,297,594 S (484,768) (7.7%)
364,013 384,429 (20,416) (5.3%)
814,061 825,677 (11,616) (1.4%)
561,691 672,423 (110,732) (16.5%)
$ 7,552,591 8,180,123 $ (627,533) (7.7%)
S 525,463 127,000 $ 398,463 313.8%
378,620 291,000 87,620 30.1%
53,104 - 53,104
$ 957,187 418,000 $ 539,187 129.0%
S 6,781,546 8,278,000 $ (1,496,454) (18.1%)
937,285 903,196 34,089 3.8%
164,047 250,000 (85,953) (34.4%)
8,644 500 8,144 1628.7%
162,405 118,296 44,109 37.3%
$ 8,053,927 9,549,992 $ (1,496,065) (15.7%)
$ 10,467 - $ 10,467
$ 8,563,005 9,004,572 $ (441,566) (4.9%)
$ 25,137,178 27,152,687 $  (2,015,509) (7.4%)
$ 1,482,834 242,940 $ 1,239,895 510.4%
S (162,405) (118,296) $ (44,109) 37.3%
293,392 300,000 (6,607) (2.2%)
126,964 - 126,964
73,385 400,000 (326,615) (81.7%)
(357,488) (338,764) (18,724) 5.5%
$ (26,151) 242,940 $ (269,091) (110.8%)
$ 25,111,026 27,395,627 $ (2,284,600) (8.3%)
$ 1,508,986 -8 1,508,986
34.01 37.60 (3.59) (9.5%)
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Explanation of Variances by Category — E-ISAC, including CRISP

o Funding

Third-Party Funding, which represents funding of CRISP expenses by CRISP participants,
was under budget $1.3M (17.3%) due to the lower revenue requirement to fund actual
program costs.

Workshop fees were $342k (488.3%) over budget due to higher attendance than expected
at the Grid Security Conference. These fees covered a substantial portion of the higher
costs in meeting expenses.

Interest income was $177k (316.2%) over budget due to higher than expected interest
rates.

o Personnel — Personnel expenses were $628k (7.7%) under budget primarily due to having lower
FTE than budgeted.

o Meetings, Travel and Conferencing Expenses

Meeting expenses were $398k (313.8%) over budget due to higher attendance costs of the
Grid Security Conference. These costs were substantially offset by increased workshop fee
revenue.

Travel expenses were $88k (30.1%) over budget due to more travel related to conferences,
training, and stakeholder outreach efforts.

Conference Calls expenses were $53k (100%) over budget due primarily because of a
subscription to an enhanced conferencing service for E-ISAC industry-wide calls.

o Operating Expenses

Contract and consultant expenses were $1.5M (18.1%) lower than budget primarily due to
lower CRISP costs related to participant data analysis (offset by lower third party funding)
and decreased CRISP and E-ISAC project support costs.

Office costs were $34k (3.8%) over budget largely because of higher software license and

support expenses in the E-ISAC and were partially offset by lower than budgeted third-
party data storage costs for CRISP.

Professional Services expenses were $86k (34.4%) under budget due to lower than
budgeted legal expenses related to CRISP and the E-ISAC.

Depreciation expense was $44k (37.3%) under budget and is offset by a credit in the Fixed
Assets section and has no impact to the overall net change in assets.

o Indirect Expenses — Under budget $S442k (4.9%) primarily because the department received less
of the administrative departments’ direct costs than had been budgeted due to the lower

number of FTEs that this department had during the year compared to budget.
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o Fixed Assets
= Equipment purchases had unbudgeted expenditures of $127k due to the unplanned
purchases of CRISP network infrastructure hardware.
= Leasehold improvement expenditures were under budget $326k (81.7%) due to lower than
anticipated changes needed for the E-ISAC office space.
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Training, Education and Operator Certification
Statement of Activities and Fixed Asset Budget

YTD YTD YTD %
Actual Budget Over (Under) Inc (Dec)
Funding
Assessments S 569,839 $ 569,839 $ 0 0.0%
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Penalties 7,586 7,586 0 0.0%
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Non-Penalties - -
Third-Party Funding (CRISP) - - -
Testing 1,822,961 1,790,000 32,961 1.8%
Services & Software - - -
Workshop Fees - - -
Interest 34,627 4,873 29,753 610.5%
Miscellaneous 323 - 323
Total Funding (A) $ 2,435,336 $ 2,372,299 $ 63,037 2.7%
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries S 542,091 $ 461,613 S 80,478 17.4%
Payroll Taxes 41,245 34,613 6,632 19.2%
Employee Benefits 84,812 78,388 6,425 8.2%
Savings & Retirement 57,326 51,167 6,159 12.0%
Total Personnel Expenses $ 725,474 S 625,781 S 99,693 15.9%
Meeting Expenses
Meetings $ 39,519 $ 44,250 $ (4,731) (10.7%)
Travel 27,811 17,000 10,811 63.6%
Conference Calls 1,150 1,200 (50) (4.1%)
Total Meeting Expenses $ 68,480 $ 62,450 $ 6,030 9.7%
Operating Expenses
Consultants and Contracts S 498,683 S 497,000 $ 1,683 0.3%
Rent & Improvements - - -
Office Costs 186,827 182,024 4,803 2.6%
Professional Services - - -
Miscellaneous - 500 (500) (100.0%)
Depreciation - 1,919 (1,919) (100.0%)
Total Operating Expenses $ 685,510 $ 681,443 $ 4,067 0.6%
Other Non-Operating Expenses $ - S - $ -
Indirect Expenses $ 1,002,081 $ 889,330 $ 112,751 12.7%
Total Expenses (B) $ 2,481,545 $ 2,259,004 $ 222,541 9.9%
Net Change in Assets $ (46,209) $ 113,295 $ (159,504) (140.8%)
Fixed Assets
Depreciation S - S (1,919) S 1,919 (100.0%)
Software - - -
Computers - - -
Furniture & Fixtures - - -
Equipment - - -
Capital Lease Assets - - -
Leasehold Improvements - - -
Allocation of Fixed Assets (41,835) (33,460) (8,375) 25.0%
Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C) $ (41,835) $ (35,379) $ (6,456) 18.2%
Total Budget (=B+C) $ 2,439,710 $ 2,223,625 $ 216,085 9.7%
Total Change in Working Capital (=A-B-C) $ (4,374) $ 148,674 $ (153,048)  (102.9%)
FTEs on 12/31/2019 3.98 3.76 0.22 5.9%
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Explanation of Variances by Category — Training, Education and Operator Certification

o Funding — Interest income was $30k (610.5%) over budget due to higher than expected interest
rates.

o Personnel — Over budget $100k (15.9%) primarily due to FTE positions being filled at a level higher
than had been budgeted.

o Meetings, Travel and Conferencing Expenses — Travel expenses were over budget $11k (63.6%)
higher largely because of unbudgeted remote employee travel costs.

o Indirect Expenses — Over budget $113k (12.7%) primarily because the department received
more of the administrative departments’ direct costs than had been budgeted due to the
additional FTEs that this department had during the year compared to budget.

North American Electric Reliability Corporation — 2019 True-Up Filing Based Upon Audited Results 31



Administrative Services
Statement of Activities and Fixed Asset Budget

YTD YTD YTD %
Actual Budget Over (Under) Inc (Dec)
Funding
Assessments $  (1,067,980) $ (1,067,980) S (0) 0.0%
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Penalties - - -
Assessment Stabilization Reserves - Non-Penalties - - -
Third-Party Funding (CRISP) - - -
Testing - - -
Services & Software - - -
Workshop Fees - - -
Interest - - -
Miscellaneous - - -
Total Funding (A) $ (1,067,980) $ (1,067,980) $ (0) 0.0%
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries $ 13,196,740 $ 11,965,297 $ 1,231,443 10.3%
Payroll Taxes 709,660 666,617 43,043 6.5%
Employee Benefits 1,720,092 1,610,374 109,718 6.8%
Savings & Retirement 1,022,418 1,032,835 (10,417) (1.0%)
Total Personnel Expenses $ 16,648910 $ 15,275,124 $ 1,373,786 9.0%
Meeting Expenses
Meetings S 527,074 $ 360,500 $ 166,574 46.2%
Travel 728,675 570,000 158,675 27.8%
Conference Calls 88,025 94,800 (6,775) (7.1%)
Total Meeting Expenses $ 1,343,773 $ 1,025,300 $ 318,473 31.1%
Operating Expenses
Consultants and Contracts S 3,034,437 S 3,447,763 S (413,326) (12.0%)
Rent & Improvements 3,583,461 3,335,058 248,403 7.4%
Office Costs 4,018,432 4,454,347 (435,915) (9.8%)
Professional Services 2,272,686 2,507,600 (234,914) (9.4%)
Miscellaneous 68,070 77,000 (8,930) (11.6%)
Depreciation 2,407,013 2,235,443 171,569 7.7%
Total Operating Expenses $ 15,384,099 $ 16,057,212 $ (673,113) (4.2%)
Other Non-Operating Expenses $ (376,102) $ 214,171 $ (590,273) (275.6%)
Indirect Expenses $  (33,000,680) $ (32,571,806) $ (428,874) 1.3%
Total Expenses (B) $ - $ - $ 0" #pIv/0!
Net Change in Assets $ (1,067,980) $ (1,067,980) $ (0) 0.0%
Fixed Assets
Depreciation S (2,407,013) $  (2,235,443) S (171,569) 7.7%
Software 324,037 120,000 204,037 170.0%
Computers - - -
Furniture & Fixtures - - -
Equipment 251,610 890,000 (638,390) (71.7%)
Capital Lease Assets 299,187 - 299,187
Leasehold Improvements 154,468 - 154,468
Allocation of Fixed Assets 1,377,710 1,225,443 152,267 12.4%
Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C) $ - S - $ -
Total Budget (=B+C) $ -8 -8 0
Total Change in Working Capital (=A-B-C) $ (1,067,980) $ (1,067,980) $ (0) 0.0%
FTEson 12/31/2019 70.71 67.68 3.03 4.5%
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Summary of Direct Expenses and Fixed Assets by Administrative Program

Administrative Services
(in whole dollars)
Direct Expenses and Fixed Assets FTEs
Over (Under) Over (Under)
2019 Actual 2019 Budget Budget 2019 Actual 2019 Budget Budget
General and Administrative $10,835,315 | $10,654,921 | S 180,394 14.75 14.10 0.65
Legal and Regulatory 4,896,095 3,878,791 1,017,304 13.95 13.16 0.79
Information Technology 10,753,789 11,696,532 (942,743) 24.35 23.50 0.85
Human Resources 2,587,793 2,562,371 25,422 9.61 9.40 0.21
Finance and Accounting 2,549,978 2,553,747 (3,770) 8.05 7.52 0.53
Total Administrative Services $31,622,970 [ $31,346,363 | $ 276,607 70.71 67.68 3.03

Explanation of Variances by Category — All Administrative Services Programs

o Personnel — Total personnel expenses and total FTEs in the combined Administrative Services
programs were over budget. Personnel expenses were over budget $1.4M (9.0%) primarily due
to employee transition costs, search fees, and increases in the value of the non-qualified
deferred compensation plans which are being equally offset by the gains in Other Non-Operating
Expenses creating a net SO budget impact.

o Meetings, Travel and Conferencing Expenses

= Meeting expenses were $166k (46.2%) over budget mainly due to several unbudgeted
meetings during the year and higher than budgeted costs for other meetings.
= Travel expenses were $156k (27.8%) higher than budget because of increased travel for
ERO Enterprise outreach, training, and general travel needs.

o Operating Expenses
= Contract and Consultant expenses were under budget $413k (12.0%) primarily due to

underspend in the Information Technology department to help fund expenses charged to

the program areas.
= QOther Non-Operating expenses was under budget in total by $590k (275.6%) largely

because of gains in the value of the non-qualified deferred compensation plans which are
being equally offset by the increases in Personnel expenses creating a net SO budget
impact, as well as and the unanticipated refund of prior and current year excise taxes due
to recent tax law changes.
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o Fixed Assets

= Software expenditures were $204k (170.0%) over budget mainly due to amounts that were
budgeted in software licenses and support but charged to fixed assets due to the type of
software purchased.

» Equipment expenditures were $638k (71.7%) under budget mainly attributable to
underspend in the Information Technology department to fund costs in other areas.

= (Capital lease asset purchases had unbudgeted expenditures of $299k since these costs
were budgeted in office costs but charged to fixed assets.

= Leasehold improvements had unbudgeted expenditures of $154k to complete renovations
started in 2018 in the Atlanta office.
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O GrantThornton

GRANT THORNTON LLP

1100 Peachtree Street NE, Suite 1200
Atlanta, GA 30309

D +1404 3302000
F +1404 330 2047

GT.COM

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Trustees of
North American Electric Reliability Corporation

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of North American
Electric Reliability Corporation (a New Jersey non-profit corporation), which
comprise the statement of financial position as of December 31, 2019, and the
related statement of activities, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the
related notes to the financial statements.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audit. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Grant Thornton LLP is the U.S. member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and each of its member firms

are separate legal entities and are not a worldwide partnership.



O GrantThornton

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of North American Electric Reliability
Corporation as of December 31, 2019, and the change in its net assets and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole. The supplemental schedule of selected expenses shown
on page 18 is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required
part of the financial statements. Such supplementary information is the
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial
statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures.
These additional procedures included comparing and reconciling the information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplementary information is
fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements a
whole.

DA Thowdon LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
May 14, 2020
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Statement of financial position
December 31 2019
$
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 43,183,981
Cash - regulatory designated 2,521,000
Restricted cash 500,000
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $10,467 3,855,447
Prepaid expenses 3,602,899
Total current assets 53,663,327
Long-term assets
Property and equipment, net 11,971,747
Security deposits 125,585
Non-qualified deferred compensation plan assets 2,374,247
Total long-term assets 14,471,579
Total assets 68,134,906
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 10,316,902
Accrued retirement liabilities 24,022
Deferred revenue 16,371,330
Deferred rent 485,954
Capital lease obligations 536,125
Regional assessments collected in advance 15,167,169
Total current liabilities 42,901,502
Long-term liabilities
Accrued retirement liabilities 336,906
Deferred rent 2,032,312
Deferred compensation 1,948,835
Insurance reserve 500,000
Capital lease obligations 605,834
Total long-term liabilities 5,423,887
Total liabilities 48,325,389
Net assets
Net assets without donor restrictions
Undesignated 17,288,517
Regulatory designated funds 2,521,000
Total net assets 19,809,517
Total liabilities and net assets 68,134,906

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.



North American Electric Reliability Company 4
Statement of activities
For the Year Ended December 31: 2019
$
Revenues:
NERC assessments 68,883,995
Penalty income 3,071,000
Third-party funding 6,192,287
Testing / fees 1,822,961
Services and software 45,000
Workshops 618,104
Interest 589,893
Miscellaneous revenues 323
Total revenues 81,223,563
Expenses:
Salaries and other compensation 34,106,785
Employee benefit costs 6,888,384
Retirement and savings plans 3,133,781
Travel and meetings 4,209,865
Services 15,180,674
Rent and tenant expense 3,583,461
Office costs 1,800,128
Computer software and supplies 4,463,112
Depreciation and amortization 3,554,031
Property and other tax expense (18,652)
Provision for bad debts 10,540
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 5,482
Miscellaneous expenses 86,503
Interest 48,427
Total expenses 77,052,521
Change in net assets 4,171,042
Total net assets, beginning of year 15,638,475
Total net assets, end of year 19,809,517

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Statement of cash flows
For the Year Ended December 31: 2019
$
Cash flows from operating activities
Change in total net assets 4,171,042
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 3,554,031
Change in deferred rent (103,174)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 5,482
Provision for bad debts (10,468)
Non-qualified deferred compensation 424,693
Change in cash attributable to changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 171,975
Prepaid expenses (955,471)
Receipt of funds for regional entities 117,697,346
Disbursements of funds to regional entities (117,697,346)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 334,086
Deferred revenue 2,612,357
Deferred revenue - penalties (2,071,000)
Regional assessments collected in advance 2,455,210
Deferred compensation plan assets (287,563)
Accrued retirement liabilities (1,918,984)
Net cash provided by operating activities 8,382,216
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment (4,560,697)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 2,175
Net cash used in investing activities (4,558,522)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from non-revolving credit facility and capital leases 299,187
Debt service (427,577)
Capital lease payments (467,440)
Net cash used in financing activities (595,830)
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash 3,227,864
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - beginning of year 42 977,117
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - end of year 46,204,981
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash information
Fixed asset purchases within accounts payable 916,381
Supplemental disclosure of cash paid
Interest 48,427
Reconciliation of cash
Cash and cash equivalents 43,183,981
Cash, regulatory designated 2,521,000
Restricted cash 500,000
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - end of year 46,204,981

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Notes to financial statements

1 Organization and Nature of Business

North American Electric Reliability Corporation (the “Corporation” or “NERC”) is an international,
independent, not-for-profit organization, whose mission is to assure the effective and efficient reduction of risks
to the reliability and security of the bulk power system in North America. NERC relies on the diverse and
collective expertise of electricity industry participants, subject to government oversight and audit. The
Corporation is certified by the United States Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) as the Electric
Reliability Organization (“ERO”) within the United States. In the United States, the Corporation has the authority
to levy fines and penalties against any of the individual users, owners and operators of the bulk power system for
non-compliance with the reliability standards that govern the bulk power system. The Corporation has also been
recognized as the ERO by governmental authorities in Canada.

To achieve the Corporation’s mission, it develops and enforces reliability standards; monitors the bulk power
system; assesses future adequacy; and educates, trains and certifies industry personnel. Entities subject to the
Corporation’s reliability standards account for virtually all the electricity supplied in the United States, Canada and
a portion of Baja California, Norte, Mexico.

The Corporation is the successor to the North American Electric Reliability Council (the “Council”), which was
formed in 1968 in the aftermath of the November 1965 blackout that affected the northeastern United States and
Ontario, Canada. On October 31, 20006, the Council entered into an agreement and plan of merger with the
Corporation, a New Jersey non-profit corporation. At the effective date of the merger, January 1, 2007, the
separate corporate existence of the Council ceased, and the Corporation became the surviving entity. All of the
property, assets, rights, privileges, powers, franchises and immunities of the Council became the property of the
Corporation. All debts, liabilities and obligations of the Council were also assumed by the Corporation. The
Corporation is organized and operates as a business league under Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(6). The
activities of the Corporation are directed by an independent Board of Trustees.

The membership of the Corporation is unique. It is a not-for-profit corporation whose members include users,
owners and operators of the bulk power system, regional entities, large and small end-use customers, state and
provincial governmental authorities and other interested parties.

The Corporation entered into separate delegation agreements, which were approved by FERC, with the following
regional entities: Florida Reliability Coordinating Council (“FRCC”), Midwest Reliability Organization (“MRO”),
Northeast Power Coordinating Council (“NPCC”), Reliability First Corporation (“RFC”), SERC Reliability
Corporation (“SERC”), Texas Reliability Entity (“TRE”) and Western Electricity Coordinating Council
(“WECC”) (collectively, the “Regional Entities”). Through these agreements, the Corporation has delegated
certain ERO responsibilities and functions to the Regional Entities. Effective August 31, 2019, FERC approved
the dissolution of FRCC and the transfer of its responsibilities to SERC.

The Corporation must annually approve the Regional Entities” budgets and submit them, along with its budget
and schedule of LSE assessments, to FERC for final approval of the budgets and the U.S. portion of the
assessments. The Corporation has the sole responsibility to invoice, collect and disburse the monies approved in
the Regional Entities’ budgets. These pass-through amounts are not included as revenue and expense in the
statement of activities (see Note 6).
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2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Accounting and Presentation

The financial statements of the Corporation have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”).

Net assets and revenue are classified based on the existence of or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.
Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are classified and reported as follows:

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions - Net assets available for use in general operations and not
subject to donor restrictions.

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions - Net assets subject to donor-imposed restrictions. Some donor-
imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those that will be met by the passage of time or
other events specified by the donor. Other donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual in nature, where the
donor stipulates that such resources be maintained in perpetuity. NERC did not have any net assets with
donor restrictions at December 31, 2019.

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Including Regulatory Designated and Restricted Cash

The Corporation considers all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or less
to be cash and cash equivalents. The Corporation maintains its cash balances with one bank. The accounts at the
bank are insured up to certain limits by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. Balances in these accounts
may exceed Federally-insured limits from time to time. Regulatory designated cash of $2,521,000 represents
penalty revenue collected as of December 31, 2019, but not yet approved by NERC’s Board of Trustees and
FERC to be released to fund expenditures. Restricted cash of $500,000 has been set aside for an insurance
reserve, and is recorded in current assets and non-current liabilities, and is restricted from use for any other
purpose.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition and Deferred Revenue

The Corporation generates revenues from the following principal activities:

e Assessments to Load-Serving Entities
e Third-party funding

e Fees for services

e Penalty assessment

The majority of the Corporation’s revenue is recognized over time, with performance obligations that are satisfied
within the same fiscal year. The majority of the Corporation’s contracts do not contain variable consideration and
contract modifications are generally minimal.

The Corporation recognizes revenue upon completion of the following:

1. A customer agrees to the Corporation’s terms and conditions through a contract that has commercial
substance;

2. The performance obligations in the contract are identified (typically, the Corporation has only one
performance obligation which occurs within a short period of time);
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3. The transaction price is determined (based on amounts determined at the time the transaction is
initiated);

4. 'The transaction price is allocated to the various performance obligations (typically not required since only
one performance obligation is involved); and

5. The Corporation satisfies its performance obligations.

Annually, the Board of Trustees approves an operating budget for the Corporation that includes a provision for
working capital and operating reserves, which are recovered through assessments to Load-Serving Entities
(“LSE”). The determination of the annual working capital and operating reserve requirements and the
authorization of management to access these funds is governed by the Corporation’s “Working Capital and
Operating Reserve Policy.” The Corporation assesses each LSE a proportional share of its annual operating
budget based on “net energy for load.” During 2019, the assessments to LSEs made up approximately 84.8% of
the total funding for the Corporation.

Third-party funding relates to the Cybersecurity Risk Information Sharing Program (“CRISP”), which is a
voluntary program to facilitate the exchange of detailed cybersecurity information. CRISP allows electrical power
critical infrastructure operations to better protect their networks from sophisticated threat actors by providing
participants tactical and strategic cybersecurity assessments of analyzed data. NERC invoices CRISP participants
their share of NERC costs and fixed asset expenditures, as well as third-party subcontractor costs.

The Corporation recognizes third-party funding and assessment revenue billed on a pro-rata basis over the
calendar and fiscal year, and control transfers to the participant and customer over time.

The Corporation also generates funding from the collection of fees charged for vatious services. These services
include management of some contracts associated with the Electricity Information Sharing and Analysis Center
(“E-ISAC”), the maintenance of a certification program for system operators, the development of reports and
software programs, and the hosting of workshops to educate the industry on various reliability matters. Fees
generated for contract management, testing, certifications, services and software, workshops and other services
are recognized when the test is taken, service is rendered and/or workshops are completed. Control transfers to
the customer at a point in time.

Penalty income is derived from FERC’s approval of assessment of penalties to registered entities regarding
enforcement of NERC’s Reliability Standards. The penalty income from a registered entity is recorded as penalty
revenue following closure of the enforcement matter, including exhaustion of appeals, and is to be used to reduce
future NERC assessments. Penalty revenues collected but not yet approved by NERC’s Board of Trustees and
FERC to be released to fund expenditures are reflected in the statement of financial position as “regulatory
designated” cash and net assets. Penalty income is considered NERC’s only variable consideration, and is
estimated at the most likely amount that is expected to be earned at a point in time.

Deferred revenue represents assessments and fees billed and received in advance of the period in which it is
earned. Deferred revenue is recognized as revenue in the period in which it is earned.

The ending balance of regional assessments collected in advance and not yet remitted to the Regional Entities

based upon the remittance schedule set forth in the delegation agreements at December 31, 2019 was
$15,167,169.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the original invoice amount, less an estimated allowance for uncollectible
accounts. Credit is generally extended on a short-term basis; thus, accounts receivable do not bear interest.
Accounts receivable are periodically evaluated for collectability based on past experience and an analysis of
current accounts receivable collectability. Changes in the estimated collectability of accounts receivable are
recorded in the results of operations for the period in which the estimate is revised. Accounts deemed
uncollectible are charged to the allowance in the years they are deemed uncollectible. The ending accounts
receivable balance at December 31, 2019, was $3,855,447, net of an allowance of doubtful accounts of $10,467.
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Property and Equipment

Purchased property and equipment are capitalized at cost. The Corporation’s minimum capitalization policy is for
additions greater than $25,000.

Depreciation and amortization are provided by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
related assets as follows:

Years
Softw are 3-5years
Furniture and equipment 3-7 years
Leasehold improvements Term of lease or estimated useful life of the asset, w hichever is shorter

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred while renewals and betterments
are capitalized.

Compensated Absences

Employees of the Corporation are entitled to paid time off depending on length of service. At December 31,
2019, the Corporation has recorded accrued compensated absences of approximately $734,711 related to days
earned, which is included with accounts payable and accrued expenses on the statement of financial position.

Income Taxes

The Corporation has received a determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service concluding that it is
exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(6) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Corporation is
subject to a proxy tax related to nondeductible lobbying and political expenses incurred. There was no proxy tax
incurred in 2019.

The Corporation recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that
the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authority, based on the technical merits of the
position. There were no positions recognized for the year ended December 31, 2019. The Corporation is no
longer subject to federal and state tax examinations by the respective taxing authorities for the years prior to 2016.
Tax years 2016 through 2019 remain subject to examination by major tax jurisdictions.

Subsequent Events

The Corporation discloses material events that occur after the statement of financial position date but before
financial statements are issued. In general, these events are recognized in the financial statements if the condition
existed at the date of the statement of financial position, but are not recognized if the condition did not exist at
the statement of financial position date. The Corporation discloses non-recognized events if required to keep the
financial statements from being misleading.

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) as a
pandemic, which continues to spread throughout the United States. The spread of COVID-19 has caused
significant volatility in U.S. and international markets. There is significant uncertainty around the breadth and
duration of business disruptions related to COVID-19, as well as its impact on the U.S. and international
economies and, as such, the Company is unable to determine if it will have a material impact to its operations.

On March 27, 2020, the United States enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (“CARES
Act”). The Cares Act is an emergency economic stimulus package that includes spending and tax breaks to
strengthen the United States economy and fund a nationwide effort to curtail the effect of COVID-19. Due to
the recent enactment of the CARES Act, the Corporation is unable to quantify the impact, if any, that the CARES
Act will have on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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Management evaluated other events occurring subsequent to December 31, 2019 through May 14, 2020, the date
the financial statements were available for issuance, noting none requiring disclosure.

3 Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following at December 31:
December 31 2019
$
Software 16,713,179
Furniture and equipment 9,207,947
Leasehold improvements 1,296,444
27,217,570
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (15,245,823)
Property and equipment, net 11,971,747

Depreciation and amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $3,554,031.

4 Non-Revolving Credit Facility and Line of Credit

The Corporation secured a non-revolving credit facility on November 1, 2016 to finance certain capital
expenditures approved and authorized by the Board of Trustees and FERC under the Capital Financing Program,
for annual expenditures made from January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2019. The size of this credit facility is
$5,000,000. The interest rate is floating and equal to LIBOR plus 275 basis points, which yielded a rate of 2.91%
at closing and 4.45% as of December 31, 2019. The total authorized borrowings each year are limited to the
amount approved by the Board of Trustees and FERC in that year’s business plan and budget, for capital
expenditures made through December 31, 2016. This facility is collateralized by all existing and future assets and
subject to a filing under the Uniform Commercial Code. As of December 31, 2019, there were no borrowings
outstanding on this facility.

The Corporation has a line of credit with a bank that renews annually and currently expires in September 2020.
The line of credit provides for up to $4,000,000 of availability to be used for working capital needs. In
connection with the non-revolving credit facility secured on November 1, 2010, the line of credit was amended
and restated. The line of credit accrues interest at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR plus 275 basis points. The
line of credit is collateralized by all existing and future assets and subject to a filing under the Uniform
Commercial Code. There were no borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2019. At December 31, 2019, the
available amount under the line of credit was reduced by open letters of credit totaling $109,798, which represent
security deposits for the Corporation’s office lease agreements.

Both loan agreements contain various positive and negative covenants, and the Corporation was in compliance
with these covenants as of December 31, 2019.

5 Net Assets

NERC’s Working Capital and Operating Reserve Policy established a separate Future Obligation Reserve, System
Operator Certification Reserve and Operating Contingency Reserve. The purpose of these reserves is to spread
the use of available operating surpluses over a number of years in order to avoid wide swings in annual member
assessments that could otherwise result from applying all of these funds as an offset to assessments in a single
year. The reserves are approved by NERC’s Board of Trustees and FERC, and are available to offset future
assessments.

The Future Obligation Reserve includes funding that has been received to satisfy future obligations under the
office lease agreements to which the Corporation is a party. At December 31, 2019, $2,518,266 is designated in
the Future Obligation Reserve.
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The System Operator Certification Reserve supports the system operator certification program, and includes
surplus funding from operator certification and testing fees that are above incurred expenses. At December 31,
2019, $777,274 is designated in the System Operator Certification Reserve.

The Operating Contingency Reserve includes reserves for contingencies that were not anticipated, assumed to be
likely or the timing of which was uncertain at the time of preparation and approval of the Corporation’s business
plan and budget. The determination of the amount of the Operating Contingency Reserve shall take into
consideration the projected costs and risks of ongoing operations, projected resource requirements associated
with the significant ongoing or emerging reliability initiatives, capital-spending forecasts and other factors that the
Board, Finance and Audit and Committee, and management consider appropriate. At December 31, 2019,
$6,199,083 is designated in the Operating Contingency Resetve.

Penalty income from a registered entity is recorded as penalty revenue following closure of the enforcement
matter, including exhaustion of appeals, and is to be used to reduce future NERC assessments. Penalty revenues
collected but not yet approved by NERC’s Board of Trustees and FERC to be released to fund expenditures are
reflected in the statement of financial position as “regulatory designated” cash and net assets. At December 31,
2019, the regulatory designated net assets balance is $2,521,000.

6 Regional Assessments Collected in Advance

In addition to the Corporation assessments billed to LSEs or designees, a regional assessment is also billed by the
Corporation on behalf of the Regional Entities. The regional assessment is based on approved budgets of the
Regional Entities and remitted to the Regional Entities by the Corporation. There is a credit risk if the
Corporation does not collect the assessments from LSEs or designees before the regional assessments are due to
the Regional Entities. However, the risk is minimal since the Corporation has the ability to reassess and rebill in a
subsequent period for any uncollected assessments. Regional assessments billed and remitted for 2019 were as
follows:

For the Year Ended December 31 2019

$
Total regional assessments billed to WECC, ERCOT, individual LSE's and designees 114,211,050
Total regional assessments remitted to regional entities (114,211,050)

Billings over remittances -

7 Deferred Compensation
Deferred Compensation Plan

The Corporation established a deferred compensation plan for certain employees in 2012 in accordance with
Internal Revenue Code Section 457(b). The plan provides that eligible employees may make elective salary
reduction contributions in accordance with limitations established by the Internal Revenue Code. In 2014, the
plan was amended to allow the Corporation to make discretionary, non-elective contributions to the plan on
behalf of the employee. While the Corporation has the discretion to make contributions to this plan, the balances
are primarily comprised of funds contributed by the employees. The liability for this deferred compensation plan
is $2,011,715 at December 31, 2019, and is included in accounts payable and accrued expense current liabilities
and deferred compensation non-current liabilities on the statement of financial position.

In 2015, the Corporation established a 457(f) nonqualified deferred compensation plan for certain key employees.
The plan allows the Corporation to make discretionary, annual awards that vest over time. The vesting period of
each award for each participant is specified in writing. When the award is made, the Corporation makes a
contribution to the 457(f) plan and records the contribution as non-qualified deferred compensation plan assets
on the statement of financial position. The Corporation records the expense of the award over time, based on the
vesting schedule, on the statement of activities. The accrued expense liability is recorded in accounts payable and
accrued expense current liabilities and accrued retirement liabilities non-current liabilities on the statement of
financial position. As of December 31, 2019, the accrued liability for this deferred compensation plan is $289,504.
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At December 31, 2019, the Corporation holds investments to fund future liabilities of the 457(b) and 457(f) non-
qualified deferred compensation plans totaling $2,374,247. These investments are reported at fair market value
and are included the non-qualified deferred compensation plan assets on the statement of financial position.
Investments are primarily held in mutual funds. Realized and unrealized gains on non-qualified deferred
compensation plan assets totaling $411,433 in 2019 are deducted from deferred compensation expense, which is
included in salaries and other compensation expense on the statement of activities.

Fair Value Measurements — Deferred Compensation Plan

The guidance for fair value measurements establishes the authoritative definition for fair value, sets out a
framework for measuring fair value, and outlines the required disclosures regarding fair value measurements. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal
or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The Deferred Compensation Plan (the “DC Plan”) uses a three-tier fair value hierarchy based
upon observable and non-observable inputs as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active matkets for identified assets or liabilities that the reporting entity
has the ability to access at the measurement date.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs developed using the DC Plan’s estimates and assumptions which reflect those that
market participants would use.

The asset or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of
any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation techniques used need to maximize the use
of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

Following is a description of the valuation methodology used for assets measured at fair value. There have been
no changes in the methodologies used at December 31, 2019.

Mutual funds: valued at the quoted market prices of shares held by the DC Plan at year-end, and are considered
Level 1 measurements.

The valuation methodology described may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, although the DC Plan believes its valuation
methodology is appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or
assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value
measurement at the reporting date.

The availability of observable market data is monitored to assess the appropriate classification of financial
instruments within the fair value hierarchy. Changes in economic conditions or model-based valuation techniques
may require the transfer of financial instruments from one fair value level to another. In such instances, the
transfer is reported at the beginning of the reporting period.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, there were no transfers in or out of Levels 1, 2 or 3.

Retiree Medical Benefits

Effective September 1, 2007, the Board of Trustees approved and adopted a policy to provide medical coverage
for a limited number of current and transitional retirees and their dependents up to a maximum monthly benefit
of $550 paid directly to the applicable insurer. Assumptions used in recording the retiree medical benefits
included the 2017 Social Security Administration Actuarial Period Life Table, annual inflation rate of 2.3% and
discount rate of 4.8%. At December 31, 2019, the total accrued retiree medical benefits liability was $196,227, and
is included in current and non-current accrued retirement liabilities on the statement of financial position. The
retiree medical expense related to this policy was $9,492 for the year ended December 31, 2019.
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8 Commitments
Operating Leases

The Corporation leases office space in Atlanta, Georgia and Washington, D.C. under non-cancellable lease
agreements, with expiration dates in 2025 and 2022, respectively. In 2017, the Corporation entered into an
agreement to expand the amount of leased space in Atlanta, Georgia and extend the term on existing and newly
leased space until 2025. In 2015, the Corporation entered into an agreement to expand the amount of leased
space in Washington, D.C. with an expiration date in 2022, which is coterminous with the term of the lease for
the original premises.

Approximate future minimum payments on leased office space at December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Leased Space

Years ending December 31: $
2020 3,714,000
2021 3,881,000
2022 3,090,000
2023 2,258,000
2024 2,379,000
Thereafter 2,068,000

Future obligation 17,390,000

The office leases are subject to escalation clauses covering increases in real estate taxes and operating costs over
the base year. The difference between rent expense calculated ratably over the lease term and actual payments
under the agreements are recorded as a deferred rent obligation on the statement of financial position in the
amount of $2,518,266 at December 31, 2019. Office rent and tenant expense was $3,583,461 for the year ended
December 31, 2019.

Capital Leases

The Corporation has entered into capital lease agreements for office equipment. Depreciation expense related to
these capital leases was $471,602 for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Assets leased by the Corporation under capital leases are included in property and equipment, net and capital lease
obligation on the statement of financial position and consisted of the following:

December 31, 2019 Capital Leases
$

Office equipment leases (audio visual, computers, etc.) 2,308,411

Accumulated depreciation (1,198,584)

Net book value 1,109,827
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The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under these capital leases, together with the future
obligation net of interest as of December 31, 2019:

Future Minimum Payments

Years ending December 31: $
2020 561,955
2021 518,121
2022 87,666
2023 13,380
2024 -

Total minimum lease payment 1,181,122
Less: Amounts representing interest (39,164)

Future obligation net of interest 1,141,958

Contractual Commitments

The Corporation has software license, maintenance support and data management service agreements with
varying expiration dates through 2023. The following table is a schedule of future commitments under the terms
of the agreements:

Future Minimum Payments

Years ending December 31: $
2020 317,000
2021 260,000
2022 220,000
2023 76,000
2024 -

Total service agreements 873,000

The Corporation is, in the routine operation of its business, subject to various legal matters. In the opinion of
management, none of these matters are expected to result in a settlement or judgement having a material adverse
effect of the Corporation’s statement of financial position or statement of activities.

9 Savings and Investment Plan

The Corporation sponsors an employee savings 401 (k) plan (the “Plan”) whereby eligible employees may elect to
contribute up to the Internal Revenue Service Code 402(g)(1) limit. The Corporation contributes a 75% match of
the first 6% of a participant’s elective contribution, which vests immediately to the employee. The Corporation
also makes a discretionary contribution equal to a percentage of the eligible compensation of all qualifying
participants, which vests to the employee over a five-year period. The additional discretionary contributions are
determined annually by the Board of Trustees and are subject to the limitation imposed by the Internal Revenue
Service Code 401(a)(17). The Corporation’s expenses related to the Plan for the year ended December 31, 2019
were $3,133,781. No contributions are accrued as of December 31, 2019.

10 Concentration of Credit Risk

The Corporation receives a significant portion of its income from assessments, based upon “net energy for load,”
to LSEs within the regions located throughout the United States, Canada and a portion of Baja California, Norte,
Mexico. LSEs are assessed a proportional share of the Corporation’s operating budget as well as a proportional
share of the operating budget of the regional entity in whose territory the LSE is located. The Corporation issues
quarterly invoices directly to LSEs or, in some circumstances, designees. With respect to LSEs located within
TRE, the Corporation issues a quarterly invoice to Electric Reliability Council of Texas (“ERCOT”), which then
issues invoices to the LSEs in its region, collects the assessments and remits the funds to the Corporation. The
Corporation then remits the regional assessments to TRE. A similar arrangement exists with respect to LSEs
located within WECC. For LSEs located within the PJM Interconnection (“PJM”), the Corporation issues
invoices to PJM, which issues invoices to the LSEs, collects the assessments and remits the funds to the
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Corporation. The Corporation then forwards the regional assessment to RFC. The Corporation is extending
credit to the LSEs and designees and is exposed to credit risk to the extent regional assessments are paid by the
Corporation to the Regional Entities prior to collecting assessments from the LSEs or designees. Based on past
history, the Corporation believes that the risk of its trade accounts receivable credit exposure is limited.

11 Functional Classification

The Corporation is required to provide information about expenses reported by their functional classification,
which is a method of grouping expenses according to the purpose for which costs are incurred. NERC incurs
expenses that directly relate to, and can be assigned to, a specific operational or administrative activity. NERC
also conducts a number of activities which benefit both its program objectives as well as supporting services (i.e.
general and administrative, legal and regulatory, information technology, human resources, and finance and
accounting activities) as defined by FERC. Costs not specifically attributable to a specific program ot supporting
activity are recorded as administrative program expenses. The following table summarizes operational and
administrative programs on a functional basis for the year ended December 31, 2019:

For the Year Ended December 31 2019
$

Operational programs:
Reliability standards 3,345,843
Compliance analysis and certification 1,470,063
Compliance assurance 5,306,808
Compliance enforcement 2,697,285
Reliability assessment and performance analysis 7,358,040
Event analysis 2,832,819
Situation awareness 2,987,346
Training, education and operator certification 1,479,464
E-ISAC 16,574,173
Total operational programs 44,051,841

Administrative programs:

General and administrative 10,893,400
Legal and regulatory 4,896,095
Information technology 12,073,414
Human resources 2,587,793
Finance and accounting 2,549,978

Total administrative programs 33,000,680

Total expenses 77,052,521

12 Liquidity and Availability

NERC is substantially supported by assessment revenue billed to the LSEs. NERC must maintain sufficient
resources to meet those responsibilities. Therefore, certain financial assets reflected as regional assessments
collected in advance and deferred revenue may not be available for general expenditures within one year. As part
of NERC’s liquidity management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available as its general
expenditures, liabilities and other obligations come due. In addition, NERC invests cash in excess of daily
requirements in short-term investments. The Board of Trustees and FERC also designate a portion of any
operating surplus to its liquidity reserves, as discussed in Note 5. This is a fund established by the governing
board that may be drawn upon in the event of an immediate liquidity need resulting from events outside of the
typical life cycle of converting financial assets to cash or settling financial liabilities. In the event of an
unanticipated liquidity need, NERC can also draw upon its available line of credit, as further discussed in Note 4.
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NERC’s financial assets available to meet cash needs for general expenditures within one year are as follows:
Financial assets: $
Cash and cash equivalents 43,183,981
Accounts receivable 3,855,447
Financial assets at December 31, 2019 47,039,428
Less: Assets unavailable for general expenditures within one year
Regional assessments collected in advance 15,167,169
Board-designated operating reserves - operating contingency 6,199,083
Board-designated operating reserves - future obligation 2,518,266
Board-designated operating reserves - system operator certification 777,274
Total financial assets unavailable for general expenditure within one year 24,661,792
Financial assets available to meet cash needs for general expenditures within one year 22,377,636
13 Revenues
The following table shows the Corporation’s revenues disaggregated according to the timing of satisfaction of
performance obligations for the year ended December 31, 2019:
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019
$
Revenue recognized at a point in time:
Testing / fees 1,822,961
Penalty Income 3,071,000
Services and software 45,000
Workshops 618,104
Miscellaneous revenues 323
Total revenue recognized at a point in time 5,557,388
Revenue recognized over time:
NERC assessments 68,883,995
Third-party funding 6,192,287
Interest 589,893
Total revenue recognized over time 75,666,175
Total revenues 81,223,563
14 Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable as of December 31, 2019 by each major revenue stream is as follows:
At December 31, 2019
$
Accounts receivable by each major revenue stream:
NERC assessments 1,630,635
Third-party funding -
Testing / fees -
Other non-major revenue streams 288,641
Other receivables (non-revenue) - regional assessments 1,936,171

Total accounts receivable

3,855,447
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15 Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenue (contract liability) as of December 31, 2019 by each major revenue stream is as follows:
At December 31, 2019
$
Deferred revenue by each major revenue stream:
NERC assessments 13,718,482
Third-party funding 2,496,448
Testing / fees 96,400
Other non-major revenue streams 60,000

Total deferred revenue

16,371,330
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Supplemental schedule of selected expenses

For the Year Ended December 31 2019
$

Employee benefit costs:
Payroll taxes (FICA, SUI, FUI, Medicare) 2,052,327
Employee benefits - medical 3,479,530
Employee benefits - life / disability 350,694
Employee benefits - other 479,798
Insurance - workers' compensation 58,141
Relocation expenses 55,000
Educational 412,894
Total employee benefit costs 6,888,384

Travel and meetings:

Meetings 1,092,227
Workshops 657,941
Travel 2,288,161
On-line meetings 171,536

Total travel and meetings 4,209,865

Services:

Insurance - commercial 152,725
Contract and consultants 12,737,309
Independent trustee fees 1,395,312
Search fees 90,623
Outside services 245,246
Accounting and auditing fees 119,777
Legal fees 439,682

Total services 15,180,674

Office costs:

Publications and subscriptions 235,779
Dues 85,283
Postage 7,951
UPS, express malil, etc. 36,734
Telephone 349,011
Office and equipment repair/services 125,786
Copying 28,474
Audio visual and computer equipment 257,839
Office supplies 273,947
Bank charges 27,543
Credit card merchant fees 90,701
Sales & use tax -
Internet expenses 281,080

Total office costs 1,800,128




ATTACHMENT 2

2019 ACTUAL COST-TO-BUDGET COMPARISON

AND

2019 AUDITED FINANCIAL REPORT

FOR

MIDWEST RELIABILITY ORGANIZATION



2019 MRO Budget
True-Up

May 1, 2020
380 St. Peter St, Suite 800
> V/-\ l\R’IéEIVXEfLTI-TY b f;;ul, e
{
\ e/ ORGANIZATION 651-855-1769

MRO.net



Table of Contents

=Y - - S 3
2019 Statutory Summary Budget VariancCe ..........cccciieimiiiinnisnsisnnsnssne s 4
Summary of Financials and ReSOUICES .........cccciiiiiiiiiniiinnisssssssrsssss s s 5
Section A — Statutory Programs..........cccciiiiiiiiiiiiiiissssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss s sssssssssss s ssssnnnssnnssnnnnnas 8
1. Reliability Standards, Organization Registration and Certification Program ..........................cc e, 8
2. Compliance Monitoring and Enforcement Program (CMEP)..........oooiiiii e, 10
3. Reliability Assessment and Performance Analysis Program............ccccueeerieeiiiiiiiiienie e eeeeeee e 12
4. Training, Education, and Operator Certification Program ...........cccccoviiiiiiiiiiee e 14
5. Situation Awareness and Infrastructure Security Program..............ccooeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeneeeees 16
6. AdMINISIratiVe SEIVICES. ......eeiiiiiii e e e e e e e e e s e b e eeeeeas 18
6a. General and AdMINISIrAtIVE. .......o o e a e e e eeaaeas 19
6. Legal and REQUIATOIY ... ... bbb bbb bntbanebnnenne 21
(S a1 (o] ga b= iTe] o TN =Y ] T g Vo] (oo | 23
6. HUMAN RESOUICES ....coiiiiietteeieee ettt ettt et e e e e ettt et e e e e e e e bbb e e e e e e e s senbbereeeaeeas 25
Be. FINANCE and ACCOUNTING . ... ceitie it et ettt e e 26
Section B — Supplemental Financial Information.............oooooii e 29
) PAGE | 2



2019 MRO BUDGET TRUE-UP SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESOURCES

PREFACE

Midwest Reliability Organization (MRO) is dedicated to its vision of a highly reliable and secure North
American bulk power system. To ensure reliability of the bulk power system in the United States,
Congress passed the Energy Policy Act of 2005, creating a new regulatory organization called the Electric
Reliability Organization (ERO) to establish mandatory Reliability Standards and monitor and enforce
compliance with those standards on those who own, operate or use the interconnected power grid.

In 2006, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC)
approved the North American Electric Reliability Corporation
(NERC) as the ERO under section 215(e)(4) of the

Federal Power Act. NERC delegates its authority to

monitor and enforce compliance to Regional

Entities established across North America, of which
MRO is one. Recognizing the international nature of MT
the grid, NERC as the ERO, along with MRO,

established similar arrangements with provincial

" ‘@.
The MRO region spans the provinces of Saskatchewan Ml

authorities in Canada.

and Manitoba, and all or parts of the states of Arkansas,
lllinois, lowa, Kansas, Louisiana, Michigan, Minnesota,
Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, New Mexico, North
Dakota, Oklahoma, South Dakota, Texas, and
Wisconsin. The region is comprised of more than 200
organizations that are involved in the production and
delivery of electricity, including municipal utilities, NM
cooperatives, investor-owned utilities, transmission

system operators, federal power marketing agencies,

Canadian Crown Corporations, and independent

power producers. LA
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MRO’s primary responsibilities are to: ensure compliance with

mandatory Reliability Standards by entities who own, operate, or use

the bulk power system; conduct assessments of the grid’s ability to meet

electricity demand in the region; and analyze regional system events.

Additionally, MRO creates an open forum for stakeholder experts in the region to discuss important topics
related to addressing risk and improving reliable operations of the bulk power system.
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2019 MRO BUDGET TRUE-UP

2019 STATUTORY SUMMARY BUDGET VARIANCE

(In Whole Dollars)

Funding

ERO Funding

Total ERO Funding

Personnel Expenses

Total Personnel Expenses

Meeting Expenses

Total Meeting Expenses

Operating Expenses

Total Operating Expenses

Indirect Expenses

Other Non-Operating Expenses

B. Total Expenses

Change in Assets

Fixed Assets

C. Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets

Total Budget (B + C)

Change in Working Capital (A-B-C)

Head Count
FTEs

ERO Assessments
Penalty Sanctions

Salaries

Payroll Taxes
Benefits
Retirement Costs

Meetings
Travel
Conference Calls

Consultants & Contracts
Office Rent

Office Costs
Professional Senices
Miscellaneous
Depreciation

Total Direct Expenses

Depreciation

Computer & Software CapEx
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx
Equipment CapEx
Leasehold Improvements

Beginning WC-1/1/19 $
Change to WC-2019
Working Capital at December 31, 2019 $
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESOURCES

2019 YITD 2019 YTD 2019 YTD
Actual Budget Variance %
$ 15,471,670 $15,471,670 -
59,255 59,255 -
$ 15,530,925 $15,530,925 §$ -
$ 7692315 $ 8,386,512 (694,197)
540,432 539,357 1,075
835,914 928,884 (92,970)
1,260,966 1,714,916 (453,950)
$ 10,329,626 $11,569,669 $ (1,240,043) -10.7%
$ 122,501 145,850 (23,349)
411,964 905,314 (493,350)
$ 534,465 $ 1,051,164 §$ (516,699) -49.2%
$ 833,094 $ 1,100,010 (266,916)
750,937 743,500 7,437
565,003 858,013 (293,010)
596,171 413,000 183,171
502,425 626,000 (123,575)
$ 3,247,630 $ 3,740,523 $ (492,893) -13.2%
$ 14,111,721 $16,361,356 $ (2,249,635) -13.7%
$ 261,178 $ - 261,178
$ 14,372,899 $16,361,356 $ (1,988,457)
$ 1,158,026 $ (830,431) $ 1,988,457
(502,425) (626,000) 123,575
198,241 245,000 (46,759)
27,000 - 27,000
4,709 - 4,709
$ (272,475) $ (381,000) $ 108,525 -28.5%
$ 14,100,424 $15,980,356 $ (1,879,932) -11.8%
$ 1,430,501 $ (449,431) $ 1,879,932
55.00 59.00 (4.00)
53.00 59.00 (6.00)
4,730,716 $ 1,818,473 § 2,912,243
1,430,501 (449,431) 1,879,932
6,161,217 $ 1,369,042 § 4,792,175
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIALS AND RESOURCES

MRO staff reports the audited final numbers for the 2019 budget were 11.8 percent under budget.’
Budget underage is primarily due to being understaffed which represents the largest cost variance in
dollars as well as impacted all other expense areas. Variances to budget include decreases in
personnel, meeting, travel, consulting, and office costs; and increases in professional service costs.

Delays in staffing and staff turnover both contributed to a year-end variance of $1,240,043 or 10.7
percent underage in personnel expenses. MRO is actively recruiting to fill current vacancies and
anticipates that it will reach its projected 63 FTEs in 2020. The annual actuarial adjustment of MRO’s
Retiree Medical Plan resulted in a significant decrease to the Savings & Retirement portion of
personnel costs. The adjustment is also represented as a one-time non-operating cost.

Staff travel and meeting expenses were lower than budgeted because of fewer face-to-face working
group meetings, fewer travel reimbursement requests from stakeholder volunteers, and increased
MRO hosted webinar meetings.

Consultants and contracts budget variance was primarily due to a lower than anticipated need to
utilize consultants for CMEP work and IT network support and maintenance, which was performed
by internal staff. Office costs were under budget due to lower than budgeted employee training costs
because of fewer FTEs than budgeted, and the realization of savings from negotiating lower prices
on office supplies and other office related services. Fixed assets were lower than budgeted due to
negotiation of costs for equipment purchases.

External professional services are difficult to budget because these costs typically incur in response
to specific situations that develop during the year. External professional service was higher than
budgeted due to the effort and coordination of recruiting independent directors to serve on the board.

MRO staff believes the principal responsibilities under the delegation agreement were met in 2019.
Some highlights:

¢ Conducted 28 audits, including 12 combined CIP/operations and planning audits, 3 CIP
audits, and 13 operations and planning audits; MRO also participated in 1 combined
ClP/operations and planning audit led by another Regional Entity, 6 operations and planning
audits led by another Regional Entity, 3 coordinated CIP audits led by another Regional
Entity, and 3 CIP-only audits led by FERC

e Participated in 1 operations and planning spot check led by another Regional Entity

o Completed the transition of MRO’s Compliance Oversight Plan (COP) process to be
harmonious with the ERO COP tools. In late October 2019, MRO obtained NERC'’s approval
to start creating COPs under MRO’s new process that utilizes the ERO COP tools.

' Adoption of a new accounting standard resulted in a change in presentation of revenue for audited
financial statements. This change is not presented on the statement of activities for this true-up
report. Audited statement of activities including new standard resulted in an increase in recognized
penalty revenue which increased the overall budget underage from 11.8% to 12.3%.
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2019 MRO BUDGET TRUE-UP SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESOURCES

e Submitted 247 noncompliances and 13 dismissals with FERC or the Applicable
Governmental Authority

s Registered 7 new entities, added functions to 4 entities, removed functions from 3 entities,
and deregistered 6 entities

» Participated in 1 certification and 1 certification review, both led by WECC

o Completed the seasonal and long-term reliability assessments for the year

¢ Provided analysis of 31 events in the Region and worked with registered entities on the
completion of reports, recommendations, lessons learned, and reliability assessments

e Developed metrics based on data from the events and causes, as well as for the
performance of protection systems, and assessed situation awareness information provided
by registered entities

o Completed several workshops in support of regional reliability and security, in addition to
other outreach activities

As requested, variances greater than $10,000 and 10 percent are explained below; expenses not
budgeted are also explained.

Personnel Expenses (Variance of $1,240,043 (10.7%) under budget)

Delays in staffing and staff turnover both contributed to the underage in personnel expenses. Staff
headcount was budgeted at 59 but the actual headcount was 55 by year-end. Actual allocation of
FTEs in 2019 fluctuated throughout the year. During the year, MRO employed 61 people, but timing
of staffing activities culminated in a net FTE of 53.

Meeting and Travel Expenses (Variance of $516,699 (49.2%) under budget)

Meeting costs were under budget due to: (1) fewer face-to-face working group meetings, and (2) an
increase in MRO hosted webinar meetings. Travel expenses were under budget due to: (1) fewer
than anticipated personnel traveling, (2) fewer travel reimbursement requests from stakeholder
volunteers, and (3) efficient use of technology (i.e. WebEXx). Additionally, MRO continues to
maximize the use of its expanded conference space and its online capability to reduce the need for
travel by staff and members.

Consultants & Contracts (Variance of $266,916 (24.3%) under budget)
The 2019 budget variance was primarily due to a lower than anticipated need to utilize consultants
for CMEP work and IT network support and maintenance, which was performed by internal staff.

Office Costs (Variance of $293,010 (34.1%) under budget)

The 2019 budget variance was primarily due to lower than budgeted employee training costs
because of fewer FTEs than budgeted, and the realization of savings from negotiating lower prices
on office supplies and other office related services.

Professional Services (Variance of $183,171 (44.4%) over budget)

External professional services are difficult to budget because these costs typically incur in response
to specific situations that develop during the year. External professional services was higher than
budgeted due to the effort and coordination of a staff-wide compensation study and recruitment of
independent directors to serve on the board.
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2019 MRO BUDGET TRUE-UP SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Fixed Assets
Absent the results of budgeted versus actual depreciation which is not an expenditure of cash, real

purchases in leasehold improvements, capital equipment, and office furniture resulted in a variance
of 6.1 percent.

MRO had no non-statutory activities in 2019; therefore, there were no allocations of costs between
statutory and non-statutory activities and no statutory funds were used for non-statutory purposes.
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2019 MRO BUDGET TRUE-UP SECTION A — STATUTORY PROGRAMS

SECTION A — STATUTORY PROGRAMS

1. Reliability Standards, Organization Registration and Certification Program

2019 Variance

2019 2019 from Budget
RELIABILITY STANDARDS, REGISTRATION AND CERTIFICATION
Actual Budget Over(Under) %
Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments 654,899 654,899 0.0%
Penalty Sanctions 2,331 2,331 - 0.0%
A. Total Funding $ 657,230 $ 657,230 $ - 0.0%
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries 253,916 275,583 (21,667) -7.9%
Payroll Taxes 16,727 17,361 (634) -3.6%
Employee Benefits 26,341 29,628 (3,287) -11.1%
Savings and Retirement 53,353 61,782 (8,429) -13.6%
Total Personnel Expenses $ 350,338 $ 384,354 $ (34,016) -8.9%
Meeting Expenses
Meetings 960 1,400 (440) -31.4%
Travel - Staff Business 13,621 50,300 (36,679) -72.9%
Travel - Member Reimbursement 1,163 18,000 (16,837)  -93.5%
Conference Calls - - -
Total Meeting Expenses $ 15,744 $ 69,700 $ (53,956) -77.4%
Operating Expenses
Consultants - - -
Contract - - -
Building Rent and Facilities - - -
Office Costs 6,104 5,938 166 2.8%
Professional Services - - -
Depreciation - - -
Contingency - - -
Total Operating Expenses $ 6,104 $ 5938 $ 166 2.8%
Indirect Expenses 239,436 212,230 27,206 12.8%
Other Non-Operating Expenses
B. Total Expenses $ 611,623 $ 672,222 $ (60,599) -9.0%
Change in Assets (A-B) $ 45,607 $ (14,992) $ 60,599 -404.2%
Fixed Assets
Depreciation - - -
Computer & Softw are CapEx - - -
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx - - -
Equipment CapEx - - -
Leasehold Improvements - - -
Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ - $ - $ -
Allocation of Fixed Assets $ (11,098) $ (14,992) $ 3,894 -26.0%
C. Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ (11,098) $ (14,992) $ 3,894 -26.0%
Total Budget (B+C) $ 600,525 $ 657,230 $ (56,705) -8.6%
Change in Working Capital (A-B-C) $ 56,705 $ - $ 56,705
FTEs 1.63 1.88 (0.25)  -13.3%
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2019 MRO BUDGET TRUE-UP SECTION A — STATUTORY PROGRAMS

Explanation of variances greater than $10,000 and 10 percent; as well as expenses not
budgeted:

Meeting Expenses

There were fewer face-to-face meetings and an increased utilization of WebEx meetings. There was
an overall travel expense decrease for both staff travel and member reimbursement. Actual travel
dollars for participation on ERO working groups, CORES, and member travel for council face-to-face
meetings were lower than budgeted.

Indirect Expenses

Indirect expenses were higher than budget primarily due to total Administrative Services Expenses
being higher than budget. The allocation of Administrative Services costs was also impacted by the
under-budget variance in FTEs for this program.
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2. Compliance Monitoring and Enforcement Program (CMEP)

2019 Variance

2019 2019 from Budget
COMPLIANCE MONITORING AND ENFORCEMENT PROGRAM
Actual Budget Over(Under) %
Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments 10,723,591 10,723,591 0.0%
Penalty Sanctions 40,119 40,119 - 0.0%
A. Total Funding $ 10,763,710 $ 10,763,710 $ - 0.0%
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries 3,901,631 4,696,697 (795,066)  -16.9%
Payroll Taxes 281,611 309,055 (27,444) -8.9%
Employee Benefits 455,526 504,160 (48,634) -9.6%
Savings and Retirement 613,306 895,415 (282,109) -31.5%
Total Personnel Expenses $ 5,252,075 $ 6,405,327 $ (1,153,252) -18.0%
Meeting Expenses
Meetings 6,800 7,500 (700) -9.3%
Travel - Staff Business 131,559 264,314 (132,755)  -50.2%
Travel - Member Reimbursement 21,144 20,000 1,144 5.7%
Conference Calls - - -
Total Meeting Expenses $ 159,503 $ 291,814 $ (132,311) -45.3%
Operating Expenses
Consultants 46,151 403,000 (356,849)  -88.5%
Contract 171,249 100,000 71,249 71.2%
Building Rent and Facilities - - -
Office Costs 106,991 169,600 (62,609) -36.9%
Professional Services - - -
Depreciation - - -
Contingency - - -
Total Operating Expenses $ 324,391 $ 672,600 $ (348,209) -51.8%
Indirect Expenses 4,001,364 3,651,929 349,435 9.6%
Other Non-Operating Expenses
B. Total Expenses $ 9,737,333 $ 11,021,670 $ (1,284,337) -11.7%
Change in Assets (A-B) $ 1,026,377 $ (257,960) $ 1,284,337 -497.9%
Fixed Assets
Depreciation - - -
Computer & Softw are CapEx - - -
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx - - -
Equipment CapEx - - -
Leasehold Improvements - - -
Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ - 8 - $ -
Allocation of Fixed Assets $ (185,463) $ (257,960) $ 72,497 -28.1%
C. Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ (185,463) $ (257,960) $ 72,497 -28.1%
Total Budget (B+C) $ 9,551,870 $ 10,763,710 $  (1,211,840) -11.3%
Change in Working Capital (A-B-C) $ 1,211,840 $ - $ 1,211,840
FTEs 27.24 32.35 (5.11)  -15.8%
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2019 MRO BUDGET TRUE-UP SECTION A — STATUTORY PROGRAMS

Explanation of variances greater than $10,000 and 10 percent; as well as expenses not
budgeted:

Personnel Expenses

Staff turnover combined with delays in recruitment led to lower personnel costs. MRO shifted staff
resources to meet priorities in all program areas. Senior staff transitioned to program management.
Executive staff transitioned to organizational management.

Meeting Expenses

There were fewer face-to-face meetings and an increased utilization of WebEx meetings. There was
an overall travel expense decrease for staff. Actual travel dollars for participation on ERO working
groups and the Align project were lower than budgeted.

Operating Expenses

MRO used fewer external consultants, relying instead on internal staff to manage workload. Contract
costs were high because the agreement with the third-party compliance tool provider was extended
while the transition to the Align tool is in progress.

Indirect Expenses

Indirect expenses were higher than budget primarily due to total Administrative Services Expenses
being higher than budget. The allocation of Administrative Services costs was also impacted by the
under-budget variance in FTEs for this program.
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2019 MRO BUDGET TRUE-UP SECTION A — STATUTORY PROGRAMS

3. Reliability Assessment and Performance Analysis Program

2019 Variance

2019 2019 from Budget
RELIABILITY ASSESSMENT AND PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS Actual Budget Over(Under) %
Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments 2,944,741 2,944,741 0.0%
Penalty Sanctions 10,331 10,331 - 0.0%
A. Total Funding $ 2,955,072 $ 2,955,072 $ - 0.0%
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries 1,016,164 1,252,799 (236,635) -18.9%
Payroll Taxes 73,709 83,361 (9,652) -11.6%
Employee Benefits 76,151 133,407 (57,256)  -42.9%
Savings and Retirement 190,046 302,771 (112,725)  -37.2%
Total Personnel Expenses $ 1,356,070 $ 1,772,338 $ (416,268) -23.5%
Meeting Expenses
Meetings 6,076 7,500 (1,424)  -19.0%
Travel - Staff Business 64,530 115,000 (50,470)  -43.9%
Travel - Member Reimbursement 46,395 88,400 (42,005) -47 5%
Conference Calls - - -
Total Meeting Expenses $ 117,001 $ 210,900 $ (93,899) -44.5%
Operating Expenses
Consultants - - -
Contract 59,055 81,400 (22,345)  -27.5%
Building Rent and Facilities - - -
Office Costs 16,856 16,500 356 2.2%
Professional Services - - -
Depreciation - - -
Contingency - - -
Total Operating Expenses $ 75911 $ 97,900 $ (21,989) -22.5%
Indirect Expenses 1,031,189 940,358 90,831 9.7%
Other Non-Operating Expenses
B. Total Expenses $ 2,580,171 $ 3,021,496 $ (441,325) -14.6%
Change in Assets (A-B) $ 374,901 $ (66,424) $ 441,325 -664.4%
Fixed Assets
Depreciation - - -
Computer & Softw are CapEx - - -
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx - - -
Equipment CapEx - - -
Leasehold Improvements - - -
Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ - $ - $ -
Allocation of Fixed Assets $ (47,796) $ (66,424) $ 18,628 -28.0%
C. Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ (47,796) $ (66,424) $ 18,628 -28.0%
Total Budget (B+C) $ 2,532,375 $ 2,955,072 $ (422,697) -14.3%
Change in Working Capital (A-B-C) $ 422,697 $ - $ 422,697
FTEs 7.02 8.33 (1.31)  -15.7%
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2019 MRO BUDGET TRUE-UP SECTION A — STATUTORY PROGRAMS

Explanation of variances greater than $10,000 and 10 percent; as well as expenses not
budgeted:

Personnel Expenses

Staff turnover combined with delays in recruitment led to lower personnel costs. MRO shifted staff
resources to meet priorities in all program areas. Senior staff transitioned to program management.
Executive staff transitioned to organizational management.

Meeting Expenses

There were fewer face-to-face meetings and an increased utilization of WebEx meetings. There was
an overall travel expense decrease for both staff travel and member reimbursement. Actual travel
dollars for participation on ERO working groups and member travel for council face-to-face meetings
were lower than budgeted.

Operating Expenses
Contracts
There was reduced spending on Power System Simulation (PSS) modeling.

Indirect Expenses

Indirect expenses were higher than budget primarily due to total Administrative Services Expenses
being higher than budget. The allocation of Administrative Services costs was also impacted by the
under-budget variance in FTEs for this program.
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4. Training, Education, and Operator Certification Program
2019 Variance

TRAINING, EDUCATION, AND OPERATOR CERTIFICATION 2019 2019 from Budget
PROGRAM Actual Budget Over(Under) %
Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments 894,593 894,593 0.0%
Penalty Sanctions 3,200 3,200 - 0.0%
A. Total Funding $ 897,793 $ 897,793 $ -
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries 291,242 357,617 (66,375) -18.6%
Payroll Taxes 22,349 22,481 (132) -0.6%
Employee Benefits 40,003 40,358 (355) -0.9%
Savings and Retirement 51,068 71,058 (19,990) -28.1%
Total Personnel Expenses $ 404,662 $ 491,514 $ (86,852) -A7.7%

Meeting Expenses

Meetings 55,118 66,000 (10,882)  -16.5%
Travel - Staff Business 14,684 49,600 (34,916) -70.4%
Travel - Member Reimbursement 21 20,000 (19,979) -99.9%
Conference Calls - - -

Total Meeting Expenses $ 69,823 $ 135,600 $ (65,777)  -48.5%

Operating Expenses
Consultants - - -
Contract - - -
Building Rent and Facilities - - -
Office Costs - - -
Professional Services - - -
Depreciation - - -
Contingency - - -
Total Operating Expenses

Indirect Expenses 320,227 291,251 28,976 9.9%

Other Non-Operating Expenses

B. Total Expenses $ 794,712 $ 918,365 $ (123,653) -13.5%

Change in Assets (A-B) $ 103,081 $ (20,572) $ 123,653 -601.1%

Fixed Assets

Depreciation - - -
Computer & Softw are CapEx - - -
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx - - -
Equipment CapEx - - -
Leasehold Improvements - - -
Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ - $ - $ -
Allocation of Fixed Assets $ (14,843) $ (20,572) $ 5,729 -27.8%
C. Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ (14,843) $ (20,572) $ 5,729 -27.8%
Total Budget (B+C) $ 779,869 $ 897,793 $ (117,924) -13.1%
Change in Working Capital (A-B-C) $ 117,924 $ - $ 117,924
FTEs 2.18 2.58 (0.40) -15.5%
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Explanation of variances greater than $10,000 and 10 percent; as well as expenses not
budgeted:

Personnel Expenses
Outreach and training initiatives were led by subject matter experts. Executive staff resources
allocated time to meet priorities in other program areas.

Meeting Expenses
There were fewer face-to-face meetings and an increased utilization of WebEx meetings. There was
an overall travel expense decrease for both staff travel and member reimbursement.

Indirect Expenses

Indirect expenses were higher than budget primarily due to total Administrative Services Expenses
being higher than budget. The allocation of Administrative Services costs was also impacted by the
under-budget variance in FTEs for this program.
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5. Situation Awareness and Infrastructure Security Program

2019 Variance
SITUATION AWARENESS AND INFRASTRUCTURE SECURITY 2019 2019 from Budget
Actual Budget Over(Under) %
Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments 703,278 703,278 - 0.0%
Penalty Sanctions 3,274 3,274 - 0.0%
A. Total Funding $ 706,552 $ 706,552 $ - 0.0%
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries 243,206 230,429 12,777 5.5%
Payroll Taxes 17,493 15,160 2,333 15.4%
Employee Benefits 32,283 41,640 (9,357) -22.5%
Savings and Retirement 36,448 63,200 (26,752) -42.3%
Total Personnel Expenses $ 329,430 $ 350,429 $ (20,999) -6.0%
Meeting Expenses
Meetings 4,717 1,450 3,267 225.3%
Travel - Staff Business 9,862 18,400 (8,538) -46.4%
Travel - Member Reimbursement 15,251 45,000 (29,749) -66.1%
Conference Calls - - -
Total Meeting Expenses $ 29,831 $ 64,850 $ (35,020) -54.0%
Operating Expenses
Consultants - - -
Contract - - -
Building Rent and Facilities - - -
Office Costs 3,360 14,300 (10,940)  -76.5%
Professional Services - - -
Depreciation - - -
Contingency - - -
Total Operating Expenses $ 3,360 $ 14,300 $ (10,940) -76.5%
Indirect Expenses 286,441 298,025 (11,584) -3.9%
Other Non-Operating Expenses
B. Total Expenses $ 649,062 $ 727,604 $ (78,542) -10.8%
Change in Assets (A-B) $ 57,490 $ (21,052) $ 78,542 -373.1%
Fixed Assets
Depreciation - - -
Computer & Softw are CapEx - - -
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx - - -
Equipment CapEx - - -
Leasehold Improvements - - -
Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ - $ - $ -
Allocation of Fixed Assets $ (13,277) $ (21,052) $ 7,775 -36.9%
C. Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ (13,277) $ (21,052) $ 7,775 -36.9%
Total Budget (B+C) $ 635,785 $ 706,552 $ (70,767) -10.0%
Change in Working Capital (A-B-C) $ 70,767 $ - $ 70,767
FTEs 1.95 2.64 (0.69) -26.1%
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Explanation of variances greater than $10,000 and 10 percent; as well as expenses not
budgeted:

Meeting Expenses
There were fewer face-to-face meetings and an increased utilization of WebEx meetings; thus,
member travel for council face-to-face meetings was lower than budgeted.

Operating Expenses

Office Costs
Spending in staff training and designated department supplies was lower than budgeted.
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6. Administrative Services

Methodology for Allocation of Administrative Services Expenses to Programs

All expenses for the Administrative Services programs, referred to as indirect expenses, are
allocated to the delegated program areas based on their respective number of FTEs.
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2019 MRO BUDGET TRUE-UP

6a. General and Administrative

SECTION A — STATUTORY PROGRAMS

2019 Variance

2019 2019 from Budget
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
Actual Budget Over(Under) %
Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments (449,432) (449,432) (0) 0.0%
Penalty Sanctions
A. Total Funding $ (449,432) $ (449,432) $ - 0.0%
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries 627,804 582,342 45,462 7.8%
Payroll Taxes 35,767 26,054 9,713 37.3%
Employee Benefits 44,086 45,483 (1,397) -3.1%
Savings and Retirement 98,167 115,028 (16,861) -14.7%
Total Personnel Expenses $ 805,824 $ 768,907 $ 36,917 4.8%
Meeting Expenses
Meetings 47,974 60,000 (12,026)  -20.0%
Travel - Staff Business 23,790 63,000 (39,210)  -62.2%
Travel - Member Reimbursement 48,185 108,300 (60,115) -55.5%
Conference Calls - - -
Total Meeting Expenses $ 119,949 $ 231,300 $ (111,351) -48.1%
Operating Expenses
Consultants 155,352 32,000 123,352  385.5%
Contract - - -
Building Rent and Facilities - - -
Office Costs 87,384 43,500 43,884  100.9%
Professional Services - - -
Depreciation - - -
Contingency - - -
Total Operating Expenses $ 242,736 $ 75,500 $ 167,236  221.5%
Indirect Expenses (1,168,508) (1,075,707) (92,801) 8.6%
Other Non-Operating Expenses
B. Total Expenses $ 0 $ - $ 0
Change in Assets (A-B) $ (449,432) $ (449,432) $ (0) 0.0%
Fixed Assets
Depreciation - - -
Computer & Softw are CapEx - - -
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx - - -
Equipment CapEx - - -
Leasehold Improvements - - -
Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ - $ - $ -
Allocation of Fixed Assets $ -
C. TotalInc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ - 8 - $ -
Total Budget (B+C) $ [ - $ 0
Change in Working Capital (A-B-C) $ (449,432) $ (449,432) $ (0)
FTEs 2.79 2.84 (0.05) -1.8%
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Explanation of variances greater than $10,000 and 10 percent; as well as expenses not
budgeted:

Meeting Expenses

There were fewer face-to-face meetings and an increased utilization of WebEx meetings. There was
an overall travel expense decrease for both staff travel and member reimbursement. Actual travel
dollars for participation on ERO working groups, the Align project, and member travel for council
face-to-face meetings were lower than budgeted.

Operating Expenses

The increase in Consultants and Contracts occurred because the MRO Board dedicated funds to
search for two new independent directors. The increase in office costs is higher than budgeted due
to executive level coaching.
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2019 MRO BUDGET TRUE-UP

6b. Legal and Regulatory

SECTION A — STATUTORY PROGRAMS

2019 Variance

2019 2019 from Budget
LEGAL AND LATORY
G REGU o Actual Budget Over(Under) %
Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments
Penalty Sanctions
A. Total Funding $ - $ - $ - 0.0%
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries 230,679 211,570 19,109 9.0%
Payroll Taxes 10,653 9,820 833 8.5%
Employee Benefits 13,969 13,773 196 1.4%
Savings and Retirement 38,860 39,202 (342) -0.9%
Total Personnel Expenses $ 294,161 $ 274,365 $ 19,796 7.2%
Meeting Expenses
Meetings 698 698
Travel - Staff Business 10,845 19,000 (8,155) -42.9%
Travel - Member Reimbursement
Conference Calls - - -
Total Meeting Expenses $ 11,543 $ 19,000 $ (7,457) -39.2%
Operating Expenses
Consultants 91,500 - 91,500
Contract - - -
Building Rent and Facilities - - -
Office Costs 5,909 4,525 1,384 30.6%
Professional Services 552,743 353,000 199,743 56.6%
Depreciation - - -
Contingency - - -
Total Operating Expenses $ 650,152 $ 357,525 $ 292,627 81.8%
Indirect Expenses (955,857) (650,890) (304,967) 46.9%
Other Non-Operating Expenses
B. Total Expenses $ 0 $ - $ (0)
Change in Assets (A-B) $ 0 $ - $ 0
Fixed Assets
Depreciation - - -
Computer & Softw are CapEx - - -
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx - - -
Equipment CapEx - - -
Leasehold Improvements - - -
Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ - $ - $ -
Allocation of Fixed Assets $ -
C. Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ - $ - $ - 0.0%
Total Budget (B+C) $ 0) $ - $ (0)
Change in Working Capital (A-B-C) $ 0 $ - $ 0
FTEs 0.88 0.86 0.02 2.3%
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Explanation of variances greater than $10,000 and 10 percent; as well as expenses not
budgeted:

Meeting Expenses
Legal Counsel had unplanned meetings with board members and outside counsel.

Operating Expenses
There was increased spending in consulting costs for execution of unbudgeted compensation
studies, one for the independent directors and one for all staff.

Indirect Expenses

There were more indirect costs than budgeted generated by this administrative service area. These
costs are allocated to the other technical program areas based on the technical areas’ FTEs.
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6c¢. Information Technology
2019 Variance

2019 2019 from Budget
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
Actual Budget Over(Under) %
Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments
Penalty Sanctions
A. Total Funding $ - $ - $ - 0.0%
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries 464,854 359,608 105,246 29.3%
Payroll Taxes 36,048 28,021 8,027 28.6%
Employee Benefits 73,252 63,581 9,671 15.2%
Savings and Retirement 68,352 68,772 (420) -0.6%
Total Personnel Expenses $ 642,505 $ 519,982 $ 122,523 23.6%
Meeting Expenses
Meetings
Travel - Staff Business 3,787 10,000 (6,213) -62.1%
Travel - Member Reimbursement
Conference Calls - - -
Total Meeting Expenses $ 3,787 $ 10,000 $ (6,213) -62.1%
Operating Expenses
Consultants 56,648 191,000 (134,353)  -70.3%
Contract 202,083 200,200 1,883 0.9%
Building Rent and Facilities - - -
Office Costs 172,215 329,400 (157,185)  -47.7%
Professional Services - - -
Depreciation 502,425 626,000 (123,575) -19.7%
Contingency - - -
Total Operating Expenses $ 933,371 $ 1,346,600 $ (413,229) -30.7%
Indirect Expenses (1,579,662) (1,876,582) 296,920 -15.8%
Other Non-Operating Expenses
B. Total Expenses $ 0 $ - $ (0)
Change in Assets (A-B) $ 0 $ - $ 0
Fixed Assets
Depreciation (502,425) (626,000) 123,575  -19.7%
Computer & Softw are CapEx 198,241 245,000 (46,759) -19.1%
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx - - -
Equipment CapEx 27,000 - 27,000
Leasehold Improvements 4,709 - 4,709
Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ (272,475) $ (381,000) $ 108,525 -28.5%
Allocation of Fixed Assets $ 272,475 $ 381,000 $ (108,525)  -28.5%
C. Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ 0) $ - $ (0)
Total Budget (B+C) $ 0) $ - $ (0)
Change in Working Capital (A-B-C) $ 0 $ - $ 0
FTEs 4.51 3.97 0.54 13.6%
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2019 MRO BUDGET TRUE-UP SECTION A — STATUTORY PROGRAMS

Explanation of variances greater than $10,000 and 10 percent; as well as expenses not
budgeted:

Personnel Expenses
MRO shifted staff resources to meet priorities in this program area.

Operating Expenses
The decrease in consulting reflects decreased reliance on external IT consulting. Similarly, there
was decreased spending in phone services and in IT computer supplies.

Indirect Expenses

There were fewer indirect costs than budgeted generated by this administrative service area. These
costs are allocated to the other technical program areas based on the technical areas’ FTEs.

Fixed Assets

Absent the results of budgeted versus actual depreciation which is not an expenditure of cash, real
purchases in capital equipment and office furniture resulted in a variance of 8.1 percent.
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2019 MRO BUDGET TRUE-UP

6d. Human Resources

HUMAN RESOURCES

Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments
Penalty Sanctions
A. Total Funding

Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries
Payroll Taxes
Employee Benefits
Savings and Retirement
Total Personnel Expenses

Meeting Expenses
Meetings
Travel - Staff Business
Travel - Member Reimbursement
Conference Calls
Total Meeting Expenses

Operating Expenses
Consultants
Contract
Building Rent and Facilities
Office Costs
Professional Services
Depreciation
Contingency
Total Operating Expenses

Indirect Expenses
Other Non-Operating Expenses
B. Total Expenses
Change in Assets (A-B)
Fixed Assets
Depreciation
Computer & Softw are CapEx
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx
Equipment CapEx
Leasehold Improvements
Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets
Allocation of Fixed Assets
C. Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets
Total Budget (B+C)

Change in Working Capital (A-B-C)

FTEs

SECTION A — STATUTORY PROGRAMS

2019 Variance
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2019 2019 from Budget
Actual Budget Over(Under) %

- $ - $ - 0.0%
151,691 151,691 0.0%
10,296 10,296 0.0%
17,707 17,707 0.0%
23,272 23,272 0.0%
202,966 $ 202,966 0.0%

157 157 0.0%
1,923 1,923 0.0%
2,080 $ 2,080 0.0%
15,926 - 15,926
52,316 - 52,316
68,242 $ - $ 68,242

(273,287) (273,287)

0 $ - $ 0

(0) $ -8 0)

- $ - $ N

$ -

- $ - $ - 0.00%

0 $ - $ 0

(0) $ - $ (0)

0.98 0.00 0.98



2019 MRO BUDGET TRUE-UP SECTION A — STATUTORY PROGRAMS

Explanation of variances greater than $10,000 and 10 percent; as well as expenses not
budgeted:

Personnel Expenses
MRO added staff resources to meet priorities in this program area. Previously costs in this area were
included in the Finance and Accounting program. This resulted in an unbudgeted personnel cost.

Operating Expenses

The increase in this area was from moving hiring and recruitment costs from Finance and
Accounting to the human resource function. This increase was offset by a decrease in the other
functional area.

Indirect Expenses

There were more indirect costs than budgeted generated by this administrative service area. These
costs are allocated to the other technical program areas based on the technical areas’ FTEs.
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2019 MRO BUDGET TRUE-UP SECTION A — STATUTORY PROGRAMS

6e. Finance and Accounting

2019 Variance
2019 2019 from Budget
FINANCE AND ACCOUNTING
Actual Budget Over(Under) %
Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments
Penalty Sanctions
A. Total Funding $ - $ - $ - 0.0%
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries 511,128 419,867 91,261 21.7%
Payroll Taxes 35,779 28,044 7,735 27.6%
Employee Benefits 56,596 56,854 (258) -0.5%
Savings and Retirement 88,093 97,688 (9,595) -9.8%
Total Personnel Expenses $ 691,596 $ 602,453 $ 89,143 14.8%
Meeting Expenses
Meetings 2,000 (2,000) -100.0%
Travel - Staff Business 5,205 16,000 (10,795) -67.5%
Travel - Member Reimbursement
Conference Calls - - -
Total Meeting Expenses $ 5205 $ 18,000 $ (12,795) -71.1%
Operating Expenses
Consultants 5,110 22,000 (16,890)  -76.8%
Contract 30,021 40,410 (10,389)  -25.7%
Building Rent and Facilities 750,937 743,500 7,437 1.0%
Office Costs 113,867 222,250 (108,383)  -48.8%
Professional Services 43,428 60,000 (16,572) -27.6%
Depreciation - - -
Contingency - - -
Total Operating Expenses $ 943,363 $ 1,088,160 $ (144,797) -13.3%
Indirect Expenses (1,901,342) (1,790,613) (110,729) 6.2%
Other Non-Operating Expenses 261,178 - 261,178
B. Total Expenses $ 0) $ (82,000) $ 82,000 -100.0%
Change in Assets (A-B) $ 0 $ 82,000 $ (82,000) -100.0%
Fixed Assets
Depreciation - - -
Computer & Softw are CapEx - - -
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx - - -
Equipment CapEx - - -
Leasehold Improvements - - -
Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ - $ - 3 -
Allocation of Fixed Assets $ -
C. Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets $ - $ - $ -
Total Budget (B+C) $ 0) $ (82,000) $ 82,000 -100.0%
Change in Working Capital (A-B-C) $ 0 $ 82,000 $ (82,000)
FTEs 3.80 3.55 0.25 7.0%
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2019 MRO BUDGET TRUE-UP SECTION A — STATUTORY PROGRAMS

Explanation of variances greater than $10,000 and 10 percent; as well as expenses not
budgeted:

Personnel Expenses
MRO shifted staff resources to meet priorities in this program area.

Meeting Expenses
Finance staff attended all planned meetings through virtual means, which resulted in zero meeting
costs and lower than budgeted travel costs.

Operating Expenses

The decrease in this area was from moving the hiring, recruitment, and other employee related
activities and associated costs from Finance and Accounting to the Human Resource function. Also,
costs associated with legal counsel for HR issues was expended under the legal program.

Other Non-Operating Expenses

There is an annual actuarial assessment of the MRO Retiree Medical Plan. The 2019 adjustment
resulted in an increase in the deferred liability, primarily because the benefit discount rate decreased
while retiree benefit premiums remained flat.
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SECTION B — SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

unctions in Delegation Agreement
Reliability Standards
and Organization Reliability Assessment
Statement of Activities and Capital Expenditures by Non- Registration and and Performance ituation A d
Program Statutory Certification (Section Analysis and Education | Infrastructure Security | Committee and General and Accountingand
2019 Business Pl Total Statutory Total Total Statutory Total Compliance (Section 400) (Section 800) (Section 6008:900) (Section 1000) Member Forums inistratiy Legal and Regulatory hnol Human Resources Finance
Funding
ERO Funding
NERC Assessments 15,471,667 15,471,667 15,471,667 654,899 10,723,589 2,944,740 894,503 703,278 (449,432)
Penalty Sanctions 59,255 59,255 59,255 2,332 40,119 10,331 3,200 3,274
Total NERC Funding 15,530,922 15,530,922 - 15,530,922 657,230 10,763,709 2,955,071 897,792 706,552 - (449,432) - - - -
Membership Dues - - - - -
Testing Fees - -
Services & Software -
Workshops -
Interest - -
Miscellaneous - - - -
Total Funding (A) 15,530,922 15,530,922 - 15,530,922 657,230 10,763,709 2,955,071 897,792 706,552 - (a49,432) - - - -
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
salaries 7,692,315 7,692,315 7,692,315 253,916 3,901,631 1,016,164 291,242 243,206 - 627,804 230,679 464,854 151,691 511,128
Payroll Taxes 540,432 540,432 - 540,432 16,727 281,611 73,709 22,349 17,493 - 35,767 10,653 36,048 10,296 35,779
Benefits 835,914 835,914 - 835,914 26,341 455,526 76,151 40,003 32,283 - 44,086 13,969 73,252 17,707 56,596
Retirement Costs 1,260,966 1,260,966 1,260,966 53,353 613,306 190,046 51,068 36,448 - 98,167 38,860 68,352 23,272 88,093
Total Personnel Expenses 10,329,626 10,329,626 10,329,626 350,338 5,252,075 1,356,070 404,662 329,430 - 805,824 294,161 642,505 202,966 691,596
Meeting Expenses
Meetings 122,501 122,501 122,501 960 6,800 6,076 55,118 4717 47,97 698 - 157 -
Travel 411,964 411,94 - 411,94 14,784 152,703 110,925 14,705 25113 71,974 10,845 3,787 1,923 5,205
Conference Calls - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Total Meeting Expenses 534,465 534,465 534,465 15,744 159,503 117,001 69,823 29,831 - 119,949 11,543 3,787 2,080 5,205
Operating Expenses
Consultants & Contracts 833,004 833,04 833,004 - 217,400 59,055 - - - 155,352 91,500 258,730 15,926 35,131
Office Rent 750,937 750,937 - 750,937 - - - - - - - - - - 750,937
Office Costs 565,003 565,003 565,003 6,104 106,991 16,856 - 3,360 - 87,384 5,909 172,215 52,316 113,867
Professional Services 596,171 596,171 59,171 - - - - - - - 552,743 - 43,428
Miscellaneous - - - - - - - - - -
Depreciation 502,425 502,425 502,425 - - - - - - - - 502,425 - -
Total Operating Expenses 3,247,630 3,247,630 3,247,630 6,104 324,391 75,911 - 3,360 - 242,736 650,152 933,371 68,242 943,363
Total Direct Expenses 14,111,721 14,111,721 - 14,111,721 372,187 5,735,969 1,548,982 474,485 362,621 - 1,168,508 955,857 1,579,662 273,287 1,640,164
Indirect Expenses (© © (0) 239,436 4,001,364 1,031,189 320,227 286,441 - (1,168,508) (955,857) (1,579,662) (273,287) (1,901,342)
Other Non-Operating Expenses 261,178 261,178 - 261,178 - - - 261,178
Total Expenses (B) 14,372,899 14,372,899 - 14,372,899 611,622 9,737,333 2,580,171 794,711 649,062 - - - - - -
Change in Assets 1,158,022 1,158,022 - 1,158,022 45,608 1,026,375 374,900 103,081 57,490 - (449,432) - - - -
Fixed Assets
Depreciation (502,425) (502,425) - (502,425) - - = - - - - - (502,425) = =
Computer & Software CapEx 198,241 198,241 198,241 198,241
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx - - - -
Equipment CapEx 27,000 27,000 27,000 27,000
Leasehold Improvements 4,709 4,709 4,709 4,709
Allocation of Fixed Assets - - - - (11,098) (185,463) (47,79) (14,843) (13,277) - - 272,476 - -
Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets ( C) 272,476) (272,476) - (272,476) (11,098) (185,463) (47,79) (14,843) (13,277) - - - - - B
TOTAL BUDGET (<B+C) 14,100,424 14,100,424 - 14,100,424 600,524 9,551,870 2,532,375 779,869 635,785 - - - - - -
TOTAL CHANGE IN WORKING CAPITAL (=A-B-C) 1,430,498 1,430,498 - 1,430,498 56,706 1,211,838 422,696 117,923 70,767 - (449,432) - - - -
FTEs 52.98 52.98 - 52.98 163 27.24 7.02 218 195 279 088 451 098 380
Indirect Costs Allocation © © (0 239,436 4,001,364 1,031,189 320,227 286,441 - (1,168,508) (955,857) (1,579,662) (273,287) (1,901,342)
Allocation of Fixed Assets - - - (272,476) - -
Penalty Sanctions Allocation 59,255 2,413 40,332 10,394 3,228 2,887

Interest Income Allocation

Other Non-Operating Expenses
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@ pakertilly

Independent Auditors' Report

To the Board of Directors of
Midwest Reliability Organization

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Midwest Reliability Organization (the
Organization), which comprise the statements of financial position as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and
the related statements of activities and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the
financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Organization as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the changes in its net assets and its
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP trading as Baker Tilly is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members of which are
separate and independent legal entities.
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Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Organization adopted Financial Accounting Standards
Board Accounting Standards Updates No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230), Restricted Cash;
No. 2017-07, Compensation: Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic
Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost; and No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers during the year ended December 31, 2019. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Bk Tyt f sty

Minneapolis, Minnesota
April 2, 2020



MIDWEST RELIABILITY ORGANIZATION

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018

ASSETS
2019 2018
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,985,734 $ 6,557,354
Restricted cash 557,718 60,754
Prepaid expenses 306,243 167,671
Total Current Assets 6,849,695 6,785,779
PROPERTY, IMPROVEMENTS AND EQUIPMENT, NET 1,228,039 1,481,143
OTHER ASSETS
Restricted cash - non-current 2,600,001 619,359
Security deposit - non-current 39,858 39,858
Capitalized software costs, net of accumulated amortization of
$474,871 and $456,114, respectively 34,620 53,991
TOTAL ASSETS $ 10,752,213 $ 8,980,130
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable - trade $ 307,198 $ 268,988
Accrued liabilities 1,114,263 1,129,470
Retirement plan contribution 658,750 595,851
Deferred assessments - 60,754
Total Current Liabilities 2,080,211 2,055,063
OTHER LIABILITIES
Postretirement medical benefit obligation 777,773 463,404
Deferred assessments - non-current - 619,359
Deferred rent - non-current 501,761 544,488
Total Liabilities 3,359,745 3,682,314
NET ASSETS (WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS) 7,392,468 5,297,816
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 10,752,213 $ 8,980,130

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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MIDWEST RELIABILITY ORGANIZATION

STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES
For the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

REVENUE
Assessments
Penalty sanctions

Total Revenue

EXPENSES
Personnel expenses
Salaries
Payroll taxes
Employee benefits
Retirement benefits
Total personnel expenses

Meeting expenses
Meetings
Travel
Total meeting expenses

Operating expenses
Building rent and facilities
Consulting
Office costs
Professional services
Total operating expenses

Total Expenses

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS
BEFORE POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT RELATED CHANGES

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT RELATED CHANGES
Postretirement medical benefit obligation

changes other than net periodic cost
Other components of net periodic pension cost
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS - Beginning of Year

Cumulative effect of adoption of new accounting standard (Note 1)

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS - END OF YEAR

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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2019 2018
15,471,670 $ 15,425,792
315,769 142,001
15,787,439 15,567,793
7,692,315 7,613,052
540,432 490,565
835,914 689,817
1,301,258 1,198,515
10,369,919 9,991,949
122,501 87,054
411,964 385,991
534,465 473,045
750,937 741,981
833,094 774,987
1,067,428 1,068,605
596,171 474,972
3,247,630 3,060,545
14,152,014 13,525,539
1,635,425 2,042,254
261,178 (730,393)
(40,292) 874
220,886 (729,519)
1,414,539 2,771,773
5,297,816 2,526,043
680,113 -
7,392,468 $ 5,297,816




MIDWEST RELIABILITY ORGANIZATION

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in net assets $ 1414539 $ 2,771,773
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets
to net cash flows from operating activities

Depreciation 483,667 531,392
Software amortization 18,758 22,653
Change in assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses (138,572) 138,389
Accounts payable - trade 46,536 84,386
Accrued liabilities (15,207) 174,431
Retirement plan contribution 62,899 54,636
Deferred assessments - 505,752
Deferred rent (42,727) (30,949)
Postretirement medical benefit obligation 314,369 (617,118)
Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities 2,144,262 3,635,345

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, improvements and equipment and software (238,276) (601,590)
Net Cash Flows From Investing Activities (238,276) (601,590)

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,905,986 3,033,755

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH - BEGINNING OF YEAR 7,237,467 4,203,712
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH - END OF YEAR $ 9,143,453 $ 7,237,467

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURE
Equipment and software additions included in accounts payable $ - $ 8,326

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
5



MIDWEST RELIABILITY ORGANIZATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Services

Midwest Reliability Organization (or the Organization) is a nonprofit organization dedicated to ensuring
the reliability of the bulk power system in the north-central part of North America. The Organization is a
Regional Entity under the Energy Policy Act of 2005 (United States) and operates under delegated
authority from the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) via a delegation agreement with the
North American Electric Reliability Corporation (NERC). Additionally, the Organization operates in the
provinces of Saskatchewan and Manitoba through other agreements. The primary focus of the
Organization is ensuring compliance with reliability standards utilizing open, fair processes in the public
interest and providing assessments on bulk power system reliability. In addition to the Board of Directors,
the board has established three technical organizational groups comprised of stakeholders: Security
Advisory Council, Compliance Monitoring and Enforcement Program Advisory Council, and the Reliability
Advisory Council. The Board of Directors has three committees: Finance and Audit Committee,
Governance and Personnel Committee, and Organizational Group Oversight Committee.

In February 2018, the Organization amended its delegation agreement with NERC updating its
geographical borders to include the reassignment of 93 of the 122 registered entities formerly registered
in the Southwest Power Pool, Inc. Regional Entity to the Organization.

Financial Statement Presentation

As a 501(c)(3) non-profit organization, net assets, support and revenue are classified based upon the
existence or absence of donor imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets of the Organization and
changes therein are classified and reported as follows:

Without Donor Restrictions - Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations.

With Donor Restrictions - Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that will be met by
action of the Organization and/or passage of time. The Organization has no net assets with donor
restrictions as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Organization considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to
be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are held by one financial institution, Wells Fargo, in
three accounts. Escrowed amounts resulting from penalties assessed and collected in the United States
are segregated into a separate account and reported as restricted cash on the statements of financial
position. Cash on deposit in excess of federally insured limits are subject to the usual banking risks of
funds in excess of those limits.

Property, Improvements and Equipment

Property, improvements and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
amortization. Significant additions or improvements exceeding $3,000 are capitalized, while expenditures
for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred. Depreciation is recorded using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, ranging from three to seven years.
Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated
useful life or the remaining lease term. The cost and related accumulated depreciation of assets sold or
disposed of are removed from the accounts, and the resulting gain or loss is included in operations.



MIDWEST RELIABILITY ORGANIZATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLICIES (Continued)

Capitalized Software Costs

The Organization capitalizes software development costs incurred and purchased software in upgrading
computer software used internally to serve its members. The Organization begins capitalization of these
costs after technological feasibility has been determined. The capitalized software, once placed in
service, is amortized on the straight-line method over its estimated useful life of three years. Amortization
expense totaled $18,758 and $22,653 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Tax Status

The Internal Revenue Service has determined that the Organization is exempt from federal income taxes
under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Organization is also exempt from state
income taxes under applicable state provisions. However, any unrelated business income may be subject
to taxation.

The Organization follows the accounting standards for contingencies in evaluating uncertain tax positions.
This guidance prescribes recognition threshold principles for the financial statement recognition of tax
positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return that are not certain to be realized. No liability has
been recognized by the Organization for uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. The
Organization’s tax returns are subject to review and examination by federal and state authorities.

Revenue and Assessments

The Organization performs various services under its delegation agreement with NERC and similar
agreements with other regulatory authorities to ensure compliance with mandatory reliability standards
promulgated in the Energy Policy Act of 2005 (the Act) by entities who own, operate, or use the
interconnected, international bulk power system. Services provided by the Organization consist of
outreach and engagement, oversight and risk management, and measuring the reliability and
performance of the bulk power system.

The Organization’s assessment revenues are derived from NERC charges of all load-serving entities
within the Organization’s delegated geographical area. The assessments are based on the Organization’s
budgeted costs of operations, which are subject to review and approval by the Organization’s board of
directors, the NERC Board of Trustees, and the FERC. Once approved, the assessment is allocated to all
load-serving entities within the Organization’s delegated geographical area based on a net energy-to-load
allocation formula prescribed under the Act in the United States, and similar arrangements in
Saskatchewan and Manitoba. Since the services performed by the Organization constitute a continuous
series of activities which are substantially the same, the Organization accounts for the services it
performs under its delegation authority as a single performance obligation. Assessment revenues are
therefore recognized over time on a straight-line basis. Assessments are billed and collected from load-
serving entities by NERC. In turn, NERC remits assessments to the Organization on a quarterly basis.

Penalty sanctions are considered a form of variable consideration and are derived from the
Organization’s compliance and enforcement activities. Revenue resulting from penalty sanctions is
recognized at the point in time when the regulatory body, FERC, has issued an order of settlement.
Penalties are typically collected within 30 days of receipt of the order of settlement.

There are no sales or other taxes collected by the Organization concurrent with revenue-producing
activities, and the Organization has no significant financing components contained in its delegation
agreements with NERC or other regulatory authorities.



MIDWEST RELIABILITY ORGANIZATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLICIES (Continued)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards
Update (ASU) No. 2016-02, Leases. ASU No. 2016-02 was issued to increase transparency and
comparability among entities. Lessees will need to recognize nearly all lease transactions (other than
leases that meet the definition of a short-term lease) on the statement of financial position as a lease
liability and a right-of-use asset (as defined). Lessor accounting under the new guidance will be similar to
the current model. ASU No. 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. Early
application is permitted. Upon adoption, lessees and lessors will be required to recognize and measure
leases at the beginning of the earliest period presented using a modified retrospective approach, which
includes a number of optional practical expedients that entities may elect to apply. The Organization is
assessing the impact this standard will have on its financial statements.

New Accounting Pronouncements Adopted in Current Year

Due to the FASB's issuance of ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230), Restricted Cash,
the Organization changed its method of presenting the statements of cash flows. Prior to the issuance of
ASU No. 2016-18, the Organization excluded restricted cash from the beginning and ending balances in
the statements of cash flows. As required by ASU No. 2016-18, the Organization now presents the
statements of cash flows including all restricted cash in the beginning and ending balances. The effects of
the required retrospective application of this change in presentation on the Statement of Cash Flows for
the year ended December 31, 2018 are increase net cash flows from investing activities by $505,752 and
increase beginning cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash by $174,361 and ending cash, cash
equivalents, and restricted cash, by $680,113.

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within
the statements of financial position as of December 31:

2019 2018
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5985734 % 6,557,354
Restricted cash 557,718 60,754
Restricted cash — non-current 2,600,001 619,359

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restrictedcash $ 9,143,453 $ 7,237,467




MIDWEST RELIABILITY ORGANIZATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLICIES (Continued)

The Organization adopted ASU No. 2017-07 Compensation: Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving
the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost during 2019.
The amendments in this update require that a not-for-profit report the service cost component of net
periodic pension costs and net periodic postretirement benefit costs in the same line item or items as
other compensation costs arising from services rendered by the pertinent employees during the period.
The other components of net benefit cost are required to be presented in the statement of activities
separately from the service cost component and outside an intermediate measure of operations, if one is
presented. As a result of implementing this ASU, $874 was reclassified from retirement benefits expense
to other components of net periodic pension cost on the statement of activities for the year ended
December 31, 2018.

In May 2014, FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. This new
guidance outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue from
contracts with customers. The Organization adopted ASC 606 using the modified retrospective method
applied to all contracts as of January 1, 2019. Results for reporting periods beginning after January 1,
2019 are presented under ASC 606 while prior period amounts continue to be reported in accordance
with legacy GAAP. The cumulative effect of adoption of ASC 606 as of January 1, 2019 was $680,113,
which consists of the recognition of previously deferred assessments as of the date of adoption and is
presented as an increase to net assets without donor restrictions on the statement of activities.

Subsequent Events

The Organization has evaluated subsequent events through April 2, 2020, which is the date that the
financial statements were approved and available to be issued.

NOTE 2 - Liquidity and Availability of Financial Assets

The Organization’s financial assets available within one year of the statement of financial position date for
general expenditure such as operating expenses as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

2019 2018
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5985734 $ 6,557,354
Restricted cash - current 557,718 60,754
Total $ 6,543,452 $ 6,618,108

The Organization’s practice is to structure its financial assets to be available as its general expenses,
liabilities and obligations come due and targets a minimum of 30 days of operating expense coverage at
any point in time.

Cash in excess of daily requirements is typically invested in short-term, liquid securities. The Organization
also has an unsecured $2 million line of credit. No funds have been drawn from this line since its
inception.



MIDWEST RELIABILITY ORGANIZATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 3 - NERC TRANSACTIONS

The Organization has entered into a delegation agreement with NERC to enforce the Reliability
Standards as set by NERC within a designated region. In connection with the current delegation
agreement, the Organization has the ability to propose Reliability Standards and Regional Variances. The
Organization has the authority to enforce the Reliability Standards as set by NERC and approved by
regulatory authorities within the geographic boundaries. The Organization is subject to oversight from
NERC and applicable regulations in the United States, Manitoba, and Saskatchewan.

To ensure the delegated functions have reasonable funding, NERC is to fund the Organization with the
monies necessary to carry out its activities as per the agreement. A formula is devised that allocates
charges among the end users within the boundaries served by the Organization, based on net energy for
load or through such other formula as provided. The Organization provides NERC with a board approved
annual operating budget on or before June 30 of each year. Budgeted assessment revenues (exclusive of
penalty sanctions revenue described previously) were $15,471,669 and $10,730,106 for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, which agree with the amounts received from NERC. During
the year ended December 31, 2018, the Organization also received under dissolution agreement of
Southwest Power Pool, Inc. Regional Entity an additional $4,695,686 in assessments for expansion of the
Organization’s geographical boundaries.

NOTE 4 - Lease Commitments

The Organization executed an operating lease for office space in St. Paul, Minnesota on January 20,
2012. On July 13, 2015 the Second Amendment to the Office Lease was executed which expanded the
premises and extended the terms. Rent expense was $359,756 for each of the years ended December
31, 2019 and 2018.

Future expected minimum lease payments under the lease as of December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Years Ending December 31

2020 $ 414,600
2021 426,971
2022 439,766
2023 452,900
2024 466,457
Thereafter 399,645

$ 2,600,339

NOTE 5 - PROPERTY, IMPROVEMENTS AND EQUIPMENT

The following is a schedule of property, improvements and equipment as of December 31:

2019 2018
Equipment $ 2464884 $ 2,239,643
Furniture 681,498 681,498
Leasehold improvements 981,030 976,320
4,127,412 3,897,461
Less: Accumulated depreciation (2,899,373) (2,416,318)
Net Property, Improvements and Equipment $ 1,228,039 $ 1,481,143
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MIDWEST RELIABILITY ORGANIZATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 6 - LINE OF CREDIT

The Organization has a revolving line of credit from National Cooperative Service Corporation (NCSC)
with an established credit limit of $2,000,000. The interest rate is equal to the NCSC Line of Credit Rate
in effect from time to time, not to exceed the Prevailing Bank Prime Rate as published in the “Money
Rates” column of the eastern edition of the Wall Street Journal on the publication day immediately
preceding the day on which an adjustment in the interest rate becomes effective. The Organization is
required to maintain a Debt Service Coverage Ratio of not less than 1.00. The line of credit is secured by
substantially all assets of the Organization, and expires on February 26, 2023. There were no outstanding
balances at December 31, 2019 or 2018.

NOTE 7 - RETIREMENT PLANS

Postretirement Health Plan

The Organization has a defined benefit postretirement health plan available to eligible current and future
retirees and eligible spouses and dependents. The Midwest Reliability Organization Retiree Medical Trust
is the sole source of funding for the plan benefits. Under the terms of the postretirement health plan,
Midwest Reliability Organization has no obligation to make any contributions to the trust. Information
regarding the plan as of December 31 was as follows:

2019 2018
Change in projected benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 1,818,971 $ 2,374,584
Service cost 239,206 283,786
Interest cost 74,863 85,549
Actuarial loss (gain) 380,559* (902,402)**
Benefits paid (57,882) (22,906)
Benefit obligation at end of year 2,455,717 1,818,971
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 1,355,567 1,294,062
Actual return on plan assets 234,536 (86,974)
Employer contribution 145,723 171,385
Benefits paid (57,882) (22,906)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 1,677,944 1,355,567
Unfunded status recognized as a noncurrent liability $ (777,773) $ (463,404)
Weighted average assumptions used to calculate the benefit
obligation-discount rate 3.21% 4.20%

*  Primary sources of actuarial loss in 2019 are: 1) Unchanged post-65 monthly premiums (remains
$130.90 for 2019 and for 2020); 2) A decrease in discount rate from 4.20% as of December 31,
2018 to 3.21% as of December 31, 2019; 3) Partial offset by pre-65 monthly premium increases
that were as expected (7% actual vs. 6% expected) and; 4) an increase in the number of active
participants (from 47 as of December 31, 2018 to 51 as of December 31, 2019).

**  Primary sources of actuarial gain in 2018 are a reduction in post-65 monthly premiums (from
$232.90 for 2018 to $130.90 for 2019) and an increase in discount rate (from 3.63% as of
December 31, 2017 to 4.20% as of December 31, 2018). Partially offset by pre-65 monthly
premium increases which were greater than expected (14% actual vs. 6.4% expected) and an
increase in the number of active participants (from 37 as of December 31, 2017 to 47 as of
December 31, 2018).
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MIDWEST RELIABILITY ORGANIZATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 7 - RETIREMENT PLANS (Continued)

Net periodic postretirement benefit expense for the years ending December 31 is comprised of the
following:

2019 2018

Components of net periodic benefit cost

Service cost $ 239,206 $ 283,786

Interest cost 74,863 85,549

Expected return on plan assets (76,554) (74,904)

Amortization of prior service credit (38,601) (38,601)

Amortization of actuarial loss - 28,830

Net periodic benefit cost $ 198,914 $ 284,660

Weighted-average assumptions used to calculate the net

periodic benefit cost

Discount rate 4.20% 3.63%

Expected return on plan assets 5.50% 5.50%

Rate of compensation increases N/A N/A

The mortality assumptions for the plan were based on Pri-2012 headcount weighted mortality tables issued
by the Society of Actuaries in October 2019 under scale MP-2019 during the year ended December 31,
2019. The mortality assumptions for the plan were based on RP-2006 mortality tables under MP-2018
during the year ended December 31, 2018.

The expected rates of return on plan assets are based on the weighting of the Organization's asset
allocations, the 30-year rolling historical average returns, and recent historical average return.

Assumed health care cost trend rates used to determine the benefit obligation at December 31 consist of
the following:

2019 2018

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 6.0% 6.2%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the

ultimate trend rate) 5.0% 5.0%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2025 2025

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health
care plan. A one-percentage point change in assumed health care trend rates would have the following
effects:

One-Percentage Point

Increase Decrease
Effect on total of service cost and interest cost $ 81,638 $ (61,382)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 522,446 (399,375)
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MIDWEST RELIABILITY ORGANIZATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 7 - RETIREMENT PLANS (Continued)

Plan related changes other than net periodic cost included in retirement benefit expense:

2019 2018
Actuarial loss (gain) arising during the year $ 222577 % (768,994)
Amortization of prior year service cost 38,601 38,601

$ 261,178 $  (730,393)

The Organization employs a total return investment approach for plan assets with a mix of equity and
debt investments used to maximize the long-term appreciation of plan assets for a prudent level of risk.
The Organization's plan assets are invested in various funds, which consist of both stocks and bonds.
The equity component includes investment in companies of various sizes, with an emphasis on large cap
stocks, and represents several investment styles. The equity portion also includes an allocation to
international stocks. Investments in bonds are diversified into three portfolios that invest mainly in U.S.
treasuries, high quality corporate issues and mortgage securities.

Percentage of fair value by investment category at December 31, are as follows:

2019 2018
Equity Securities 53% 50%
Debt Securities 46% 45%
Other 1% 5%

The fair values of the Organization’s postretirement health plan assets at December 31, by asset
category, are as follows:

2019 2018
Quoted Prices  Quoted Prices
in Active in Active
Markets for Markets for
Identical Identical
Assets Assets
(Level 1) (Level 1)
Asset category
Cash equivalents $ 19,439 $ 61,448
Mutual funds-bonds 763,806 610,494
Mutual funds-equities 894,699 683,625

$ 1677944 $ 1,355,567

Cash equivalents - Investments in cash equivalents consist of money market funds and are classified
as Level 1 as they are traded in an active market for which closing prices are readily available.

Mutual Funds - Investments in mutual funds are classified as Level 1 as they are traded in an active
market for which closing prices are readily available.

There have been no changes in the fair market valuation techniques and inputs as of December 31, 2019
and 2018.
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MIDWEST RELIABILITY ORGANIZATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 7 - RETIREMENT PLANS (Continued)

While the plan believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market
participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain
financial instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date.

Estimated future benefit payments (which reflect expected future service, as appropriate) as of December
31, 2019 are as follows:

Years Ending December 31

2020 $ 88,410
2021 76,139
2022 62,504
2023 79,842
2024 97,004
2025 - 2028 475,346

It is reasonably possible that changes in these estimates could occur in the near term and that actual
results could differ from these estimates and could have a material effect on the financial statements.

The Organization expects to contribute $143,033 to the plan in 2020.
Defined Contribution Retirement Plan

The Organization has a thrift savings plan to replace the terminated multiple-employer plan for the benefit
of its employees. The Organization’s previous 401(k) plan was converted into the new plan as well as the
establishment of a new, non-elective employer contribution plan. In order to participate in the plan,
employees must have attained age 20 and have completed one month of service. Employees may
contribute up to the IRS limitations for their elective deferral, with a 50% matching contribution from the
Organization. For employees to receive the non-elective or employer contribution, they must have worked
1,000 hours during the plan year. The Organization matched $391,652 and $309,180 of employee
deferrals as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. In addition, the Organization elected to make
employer contributions in the amounts of $581,116 and $534,897 for the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively.

As noted above, the Organization maintains a thrift savings plan and discretionary age-weighted
contributions may be made by MRO. MRO also has a 457B plan. The 457B plan is approved by the
President and CEO, as well as the Organization’s Board of Directors. To the extent the discretionary age-
weighted contribution is in excess of the IRS limitations as specified by the 457B plan, and the employee
is an eligible participant in the 457B plan, the excess discretionary age-weighted contribution is credited in
the 457B plan. For eligible participants, MRO contributed a total non-elective amount to the 457B plan of
$56,055 and $60,955 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The Organization also has a 457F plan. To the extent the discretionary age-weighted contribution is in
excess of the IRS limitations as specified by the 457F plan, and the employee is an eligible participant in
the 457F plan, the excess discretionary age-weighted contribution is credited in the 457F plan. The
Organization contributed in the amounts of $21,588 and $0, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively.
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MIDWEST RELIABILITY ORGANIZATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 8 - FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

The financial statements report certain categories of expenses that are attributable to the Organization's
program and supporting functions and thus require allocation. Expenses relating to building rent and
facilities and depreciation have been allocated based on square footage estimates relating to office space
used for program purposes versus office space used for supporting functions. Salaries, payroll taxes and
employee benefits expense allocations are based on estimates of time and effort of the related
employees. Additionally, information technology, meeting expenses and office costs have been allocated
based on employee productivity estimates used from data in the Organization's time reporting system.
Total functional expenses for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

2019
Program Management
Service and General Total
Description Expenses Expenses Expenses
Salaries $ 6,714509 $ 977,806 $ 7,692,315
Payroll taxes and employee benefits 2,337,125 340,479 2,677,604
Meetings and travel 406,230 128,235 534,465
Building rent and facilities 610,617 140,320 750,937
Consulting 605,476 227,618 833,094
Office costs 429,442 135,561 565,003
Professional services 420,120 176,051 596,171
Depreciation and amortization 408,541 93,884 502,425
$ 11,932,060 $ 2,219,954 $ 14,152,014
2018
Program Management
Service and General Total
Description Expenses Expenses Expenses
Salaries $ 6,341,214 $ 1,271,838 $ 7,613,052
Payroll taxes and employee benefits 1,974,485 404,412 2,378,897
Meetings and travel 358,286 114,759 473,045
Building rent and facilities 603,334 138,647 741,981
Consulting 534,389 240,598 774,987
Office costs 389,730 124,830 514,560
Professional services 314,888 160,084 474,972
Depreciation and amortization 450,516 103,529 554,045
$ 10,966,842 $ 2,558,697 $ 13,525,539
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ATTACHMENT 3

2019 ACTUAL COST-TO-BUDGET COMPARISON
AND
2019 AUDITED FINANCIAL REPORT
FOR

NORTHEAST POWER COORDINATING COUNCIL, INC.



Via Email

May 1, 2020

North American Electric Reliability Corporation
3353 Peachtree Road NE

Suite 600, North Tower

Atlanta, GA 30326

Attention: Mr. Andy Sharp

Subject: NPCC 2019 True Up Actual vs. Budget Variance Analysis
True Up Filing Based on Audited 2019 Financial Statements

Dear Andy:

Enclosed is the Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc. (NPCC) submittal regarding the 2019 NPCC actual
vs. budget variances. NPCC’s independent audit performed by Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP was concluded
on March 19, 2020 and forwarded to NERC for its information and provision to FERC.

As you know, NPCC is a Cross-border Regional Entity which provides Regional Entity functions and services
through its regional entity (RE) division. The establishment of Regionally-specific criteria, and monitoring and
enforcement of compliance with such criteria are provided through the criteria services (CS) division of NPCC.
The CS division is funded by assessments to the Independent System Operators/Balancing Authority Areas
within the Region based on their respective Net Energy for Load.

No Regional Entity division assessments were used to fund CS division activities. Allocation between the RE
division and CS division represents a 93/7 split for 2019 based upon direct program area FTEs. No indirect
costs were allocated from the CS division to the RE division and no cross subsidies exist. In addition, NPCC
reports interest and investment income apportioned based upon its Regional Entity (RE) and Criteria Services
(CS) division full time equivalent (FTE) ratio.

Actual total expenses and fixed asset expenditures for NPCC’s RE division for 2019 were $14,628,082 which is
$1,175,810 or 7.4% under the 2019 operating budget of $15,803,893. Actual total expenses and fixed asset
expenditures for NPCC’s CS division for 2019 were $887,880 which is $220,694 or 19.9% under the 2019
operating budget of $1,108,574. In the aggregate, actual total expenses and fixed asset expenditures for the
NPCC RE and CS divisions were $15,515,962 which is $1,396,503 or 8.3% under the 2019 total corporate
expense budget of $16,912,465. Indirect expenses are allocated to the direct programs based on FTE ratio.

Variances from budget in total for NPCC, total non-statutory, total statutory and total by statutory program area
are reported using the template provided by NERC which presents actual and budgeted costs in a program-by-
program format. A single consolidated budget versus actual cost comparison is presented for Administrative
Services in order to be consistent with the presentation in NPCC’s 2019 Business Plan and Budget.
Explanations of significant expense variances are provided for the Regional Entity division in total and by
program area where the explanation differs from that for the Regional Entity total.



Should you have any questions please do not hesitate to contact me via email at jhala@npcc.org or via
telephone at (212) 840-1070.

Sincerely,

Jessica Fala

Jessica Hala
Director, Finance and Accounting

Enclosures

cc: Mr. Edward A. Schwerdt — NPCC President & CEO
Ms. Jennifer Budd Mattiello — NPCC Senior Vice President & COO
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Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc.
2019 Statement of Activities Summary
Total NPCC (RE and CS Divisions)

Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments
Penalty Sanctions
Total ERO Funding

Federal Grants
Non-Statutory Assessments
Testing
Services & Software
Workshop Fees
Interest & Investment Income
Miscellaneous

Total Funding (A)

Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries
Payroll Taxes
Employee Benefits
Savings & Retirement
Total Personnel Expenses
Meeting Expenses
Meetings
Travel
Conference Calls
Total Meeting Expenses
Operating Expenses
Consultants & Contracts
Rent & Improvements
Office Costs
Professional Services
Miscellaneous
Depreciation
Total Operating Expenses

Indirect Expenses
Other Non-Operating Expenses
Total Expenses (B)
Change in Assets (A - B)
Fixed Assets
Depreciation
Computer & Software CapEx
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx
Equipment CapEx
Leasehold Improvements
Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets
Allocation of Fixed Assets
Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C)
TOTAL BUDGET (B +C)

Change in Working Capital (A-B-C)

FTE's

2019 Variance from

2019 Budget
Actual Budget Over(Under)

15,003,411 15,003,411 -

15,003,411 15,003,411 -

1,058,866 1,058,866 -
74,790 67,500 7,290
85,137 - 85,137
16,222,205 16,129,777 92,427
7,078,535 7,704,219 (625,684)
526,927 473,690 53,237
1,623,904 1,715,858 (91,954)
771,155 896,693 (125,537)
10,000,521 10,790,459 (789,937)
357,860 375,750 (17,890)
701,750 902,700 (200,950)
24,904 36,000 (11,096)
1,084,514 1,314,450 (229,936)
1,783,354 2,077,510 (294,156)
831,734 820,700 11,034
648,764 676,347 (27,583)
977,203 978,000 (797)
40,465 55,000 (14,535)
227,805 269,000 (41,195)
4,509,325 4,876,557 (367,232)
15,594,360 16,981,466 (1,387,105)
627,845 (851,689) 1,479,532
(227,805) (269,000) 41,195
92,608 200,000 (107,392)
56,799 - 56,799
(78,398) (69,000) (9,398)
(78,398) (69,001) (9,397)
15,515,962 16,912,465 (1,396,503)
706,242 (782,688) 1,488,929
37.17 41.00 (3.83)



Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc.
2019 Statement of Activities Summary

2019 Variance

TOTAL STATUTORY 2019 2019 from Budget
Actual Budget Over(Under)
Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments 15,003,411 15,003,411 - 0.00%
Penalty Sanctions - - -
Total ERO Funding 15,003,411 15,003,411 - 0.00%

Federal Grants - - R
Non-Statutory Assessments - - -

Testing - - -
Services & Software - - -
Workshop Fees 74,790 67,500 7,290
Interest & Investment Income 79,441 - 79,441
Miscellaneous - - -
Total Funding (A) 15,157,642 15,070,911 86,731 0.58%
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries 6,756,406 7,332,280 (575,874) -7.85%
Payroll Taxes 502,179 449,994 52,185 11.60%
Employee Benefits 1,570,351 1,613,078 (42,727) -2.65%
Savings & Retirement 742,663 853,512 (110,848) -12.99%
Total Personnel Expenses 9,571,599 10,248,864 (677,263) -6.61%
Meeting Expenses
Meetings 356,111 370,750 (14,639) -3.95%
Travel 678,169 845,900 (167,731) -19.83%
Conference Calls 24,904 36,000 (11,096) -30.82%
Total Meeting Expenses 1,059,184 1,252,650 (193,466) -15.44%
Operating Expenses
Consultants & Contracts 1,782,766 2,022,150 (239,384) -11.84%
Rent & Improvements 831,734 820,700 11,034 1.34%
Office Costs 648,357 676,347 (27,990) -4.14%
Professional Services 977,203 978,000 (797) -0.08%
Miscellaneous 40,243 51,000 (10,757) -21.09%
Depreciation 218,170 255,000 (36,830) -14.44%
Total Operating Expenses 4,498,473 4,803,197 (304,724) -6.34%
Indirect Expenses (425,619) (415,818) (9,802) 2.36%
Other Non-Operating Expenses - - -
Total Expenses (B) 14,703,637 15,888,893 (1,185,255) -7.46%
Change in Assets (A - B) 454,005 (817,982) 1,271,986 -155.50%
Fixed Assets
Depreciation (218,170) (255,000) 36,830 -14.44%
Computer & Software CapEx 88,437 170,000 (81,563) -47.98%
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx - - -
Equipment CapEx 54,178 - 54,178
Leasehold Improvements - - -
Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets (75,555) (85,000) 9,445
Allocation of Fixed Assets - - -
Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C) (75,555) (85,001) 9,445 -11.11%
TOTAL BUDGET (B + C) 14,628,082 15,803,893 (1,175,810) -7.44%
Change in Working Capital (A-B-C) 529,560 (732,981) 1,262,541 -172.25%

FTE's 35.03 38.86 (3.83) -9.86%



NON-STATUTORY

Funding
ERO Funding

Assessments
Penalty Sanctions
Total ERO Funding

Federal Grants
Non-Statutory Assessments
Testing
Services & Software
Workshop Fees
Interest & Investment Income
Miscellaneous

Total Funding (A)

Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries
Payroll Taxes
Employee Benefits
Savings & Retirement
Total Personnel Expenses
Meeting Expenses
Meetings
Travel
Conference Calls
Total Meeting Expenses
Operating Expenses
Consultants & Contracts
Rent & Improvements
Office Costs
Professional Services
Miscellaneous
Depreciation
Total Operating Expenses

Indirect Expenses
Other Non-Operating Expenses
Total Expenses (B)
Change in Assets (A - B)
Fixed Assets
Depreciation
Computer & Software CapEx
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx
Equipment CapEx
Leasehold Improvements
Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets
Allocation of Fixed Assets

Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C)

TOTAL BUDGET (B + C)
Change in Working Capital (A-B-C)

FTE's

Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc.
2019 Statement of Activities Summary

2019 Variance

2019 2019 from Budget
Actual Budget Over(Under)
1,058,866 1,058,866 - 0.00%
5,696 - 5,696
1,064,562 1,058,866 5,696 0.54%
322,129 371,938 (49,809) -13.39%

24,748 23,696 1,052 4.44%

53,553 102,779 (49,226) -47.90%

28,492 43,182 (14,690) -34.02%
428,922 541,596 (112,674) -20.80%

1,749 5,000 (3,251) -65.02%
23,581 56,800 (33,219) -58.48%
25,330 61,800 (36,470) -59.01%

588 55,360 (54,772) -98.94%
407 - 407
222 4,000 (3,778) -94.45%

9,635 14,000 (4,365) -31.18%

10,852 73,360 (62,508) -85.21%
425,619 415,818 9,801 2.36%
890,723 1,092,574 (201,851) -18.47%
173,839 (33,707) 207,547 -615.73%

(9,635) (14,000) 4,365 -31.18%

4,171 30,000 (25,829) -86.10%

2,621 - 2,621

(2,843) 16,000 (18,843)

(2,843) 16,000 (18,843) -117.77%
887,880 1,108,574 (220,694) -19.91%
176,683 (49,707) 226,390 -455.45%

214 2.14 - 0.00%



TOTAL STATUTORY

Personnel Expenses

Multiple positions were open over varying periods throughout the year and resulted in lower than budgeted
personnel expenses including salaries, benefits and savings & retirement. Staff was reallocated during the
year to continue to meet NPCC’s Regional Delegation Agreement (RDA) responsibilities. Despite not
being fully staffed, NPCC performed all of its 2019 delegated responsibilities as outlined in the RDA as
well as exceeding target attainment of its corporate goals and objectives for the calendar year. Payroll taxes
were over budget due to additional tax recorded in 2019 related to variable incentive payments earned in
2019 and paid in early 2020.

Meeting Expenses

Efforts to hold more meetings onsite, at member facilities or to conduct webinars, where effective for NPCC
registered entities, will continue. Additionally, NPCC continues to limit the number of attendees sent to off-
site meetings when appropriate and encourages participation via webinar and teleconference when available.
Staff vacancies also resulted in lower than budgeted travel expenses for the year. Conference calls expense
is underbudget based on ERO group pricing rate.

Consultants and Contracts

Consultants and contracts expenses were under budget primarily in the areas of Situation Awareness and
Infrastructure Security (SAIS) and Reliability Assessments and Performance Analysis (RAPA) where
consulting support was utilized less than projected. Increased staff efforts enabled NPCC to perform all of
its responsibilities in these program areas despite the underspend.

Depreciation
Under budget variance resulting from assets placed in service being less than projected.

Fixed Assets

Under budget variance is due to the timing of scheduled software development projects, which include
website enhancements and the continued refinement of document management software and processes.
Equipment capital expenditures include hardware related to CRISP implementation.

Compliance Hearings
No funds were budgeted in association with NPCC conducting compliance hearings and no hearings have
been initiated to date in NPCC.




RELIABILITY STANDARDS

Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments
Penalty Sanctions
Total ERO Funding

Federal Grants
Non-Statutory Assessments
Testing
Services & Software
Workshop Fees
Interest & Investment Income
Miscellaneous

Total Funding (A)

Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries
Payroll Taxes
Employee Benefits
Savings & Retirement
Total Personnel Expenses
Meeting Expenses
Meetings
Travel
Conference Calls
Total Meeting Expenses
Operating Expenses
Consultants & Contracts
Rent & Improvements
Office Costs
Professional Services
Miscellaneous
Depreciation
Total Operating Expenses

Indirect Expenses

Other Non-Operating Expenses

Total Expenses (B)
Change in Assets (A - B)

Fixed Assets
Depreciation
Computer & Software CapEx
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx
Equipment CapEx
Leasehold Improvements
Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets

Allocation of Fixed Assets

Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C)

TOTAL BUDGET (B +C)

Change in Working Capital (A-B-C)

FTE's

Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc.
2019 Statement of Activities Summary

2019 Variance

2019 2019 from Budget
Actual Budget Over(Under)

1,035,390 1,035,390 - 0.00%
1,035,39(; 1,035,390 - 0.00%
1,035,39(; 1,035,39(; : 0.00%
404,754 382,872 21,882 5.72%
30,235 22,735 7,500 32.99%
112,097 106,764 5,333 5.00%
40,906 41,599 (693) -1.67%
587,992 553,970 34,022 6.14%
3,152 7,000 (3,848) -54.97%
69,336 94,900 (25,564) -26.94%
72,485; 101,90(; (29,412; -28.86%
3,769 10,000 (6,231) -62.31%

1,205- : 1,205-

117— : 117_
5,091_ 10,00(; (4,909; -49.09%
399,747 375,014 24,734 6.60%
1,065,318 1,040,884 24,435 2.35%
(29,929) (5,494) (24,435) 444.75%
(5,549) (5,494) (55) 1.00%
(5,549) (5,494) (55) 1.00%
1,059,770 1,035,390 24,380 2.35%

(24,380) - (24,380)
1.93 1.93 - 0.00%



RELIABILITY STANDARDS

Meeting Expenses
Continued efforts to limit the number of attendees sent to off-site meetings if appropriate, and to hold more
meetings onsite or via webinar where effective and have kept meeting and travel expenses under budget.




Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc.
2019 Statement of Activities Summary

COMPLIANCE ENFORCEMENT and ORGANIZATION

2019 Variance
REGISTRATION 2019 2019 from Budget
Actual Budget Over(Under)
Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments 8,183,815 8,183,815 - 0.00%
Penalty Sanctions - -
Total ERO Funding 8,183,815 8,183,815 - 0.00%
Federal Grants - - -
Non-Statutory Assessments - - -
Testing - - -
Services & Software - - -
Workshop Fees - - -
Interest & Investment Income - - -
Miscellaneous - - -
Total Funding (A) 8,183,815 8,183,815 - 0.00%
Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries 2,490,524 2,815,882 (325,358) -11.55%
Payroll Taxes 186,949 191,849 (4,900) -2.55%
Employee Benefits 631,897 585,543 46,354 7.92%
Savings & Retirement 261,163 301,025 (39,862) -13.24%
Total Personnel Expenses 3,570,533 3,894,299 (323,766) -8.31%
Meeting Expenses
Meetings 3,530 15,000 (11,470) -76.47%
Travel 217,284 295,400 (78,116) -26.44%
Conference Calls - - -
Total Meeting Expenses 220,814 310,400 (89,586) -28.86%
Operating Expenses
Consultants & Contracts 1,318,822 1,357,150 (38,328) -2.82%
Rent & Improvements - - -
Office Costs 7,044 - 7,044
Professional Services - - -
Miscellaneous 1,374 - 1,374
Depreciation - - -
Total Operating Expenses 1,327,240 1,357,150 (29,910) -2.20%
Indirect Expenses 3,276,452 3,303,230 (26,778) -0.81%
Other Non-Operating Expenses - - -
Total Expenses (B) 8,395,039 8,865,080 (470,041) -5.30%
Change in Assets (A - B) (211,224) (681,264) 470,041 -69.00%
Fixed Assets
Depreciation - - -
Computer & Software CapEx - - -
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx - - -
Equipment CapEx - - -
Leasehold Improvements - - -
Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets - - -
Allocation of Fixed Assets (43,125) (48,392) 5,267 -10.88%
Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C) (43,125) (48,392) 5,267 -10.88%
TOTAL BUDGET (B +C) 8,351,914 8,816,688 (464,773) -5.27%
Change in Working Capital (A-B-C) (168,099) (632,872) 464,773 -73.44%
FTE's 15.00 17.00 (2.00) -11.76%



COMPLIANCE ENFORCEMENT and ORGANIZATION REGISTRATION

Total Expenses
Despite the under budget variance in total expenses, NPCC’s Compliance Enforcement and Organization
Registration program area performed all of its 2019 delegated responsibilities as well as exceeding target
attainment of its goals and objectives, including:
- Conducted 26 off-site Operations & Planning (O&P) audits, 5 on-site O&P audits, 1 off-site O&P spot
checks, 8 on-site CIP audits, and 24 off-site CIP self-certifications;
- Participated on 3 MRRE audits;
- Performed 35 Inherent Risk Assessments (IRA);
- Developed 27 Compliance Oversight Plans (COP);
- Performed 16 Evaluation of Internal Controls (EIC) (11 O&P, 5 CIP);
- Processed 12 new Technical Feasibility Exception (TFE) submittals from five registered entities and
15 Material Change Reports (MCR);
- Closed 179 Violations;
- Accepted 253 Mitigation Activities;
- Processed 5 new entity registrations, 9 entity delistings, 9 function deactivations, 10 registered entity
name changes, 2 added functions, and 3 certification reviews.

Personnel Expenses

Two vacancies during the year resulted in lower salary expense and associated incentive compensation
expenses. Employee benefits were over budget as a result of more employees enrolling in NPCC’s medical
plan and/or electing family coverage rather than retaining insurance from a prior employer and/or at a single
or couple rate as many had in past years.

Meeting Expenses

Continued efforts to limit the number of attendees sent to off-site meetings, and to hold more meetings
onsite or via webinar where effective and have kept meeting and travel expenses under budget. Travel
expenses were also lower because of staff vacancies in this program.

Indirect Expenses

Indirect expenses were under budget resulting from lower than budgeted total Administrative Services
expense and a lower than budgeted allocation of those expenses due to less FTEs than budgeted in this
program for the year.
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Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc.
2019 Statement of Activities Summary

2019 Variance

RELIABILITY ASSESSMENTS and PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS 2019 2019 from Budget
Actual Budget Over(Under)
Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments 3,332,686 3,332,686 - 0.00%
Penalty Sanctions - -
Total ERO Funding 3,332,686 3,332,686 - 0.00%

Federal Grants - - -
Non-Statutory Assessments - - -
Testing - - -
Services & Software - - R
Workshop Fees - - -
Interest & Investment Income - - -
Miscellaneous

Total Funding (A) 3,332,686 3,332,686 - 0.00%

Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries 1,081,347 1,135,264 (53,917) -4.75%
Pavroll Taxes 79.144 69,027 10,117 14.66%
Employee Benefits 265,756 219,655 46,101 20.99%
Savings & Retirement 114,929 123,322 (8,393) -6.81%
Total Personnel Expenses 1,541,176 1,547,268 (6,092) -0.39%
Meeting Expenses
Meetings 15,072 23,000 (7,928) -34.47%
Travel 172,772 216,200 (43,428) -20.09%
Conference Calls - - -
Total Meeting Expenses 187,844 239,200 (51,356) -21.47%
Operating Expenses
Consultants & Contracts 354,991 430,000 (75,009) -17.44%
Rent & Improvements - - -
Office Costs 4,336 - 4,336

Professional Services - R -
Miscellaneous - - -
Depreciation - - _

Total Operating Expenses 359,327 430,000 (70,673) -16.44%

Indirect Expenses 1,202,212 1,132,814 69,398 6.13%

Other Non-Operating Expenses - - R

Total Expenses (B) 3,290,559 3,349,282 (58,723) -1.75%

Change in Assets (A - B) 42,127 (16,596) 58,723 -353.84%

Fixed Assets
Depreciation - - -
Computer & Software CapEx - - -
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx - - -
Equipment CapEx - - -
Leasehold Improvements - - -

Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets - - _

Allocation of Fixed Assets (17,049) (16,596) (453) 2.73%
Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C) (17,049) (16,596) (453) 2.73%
TOTAL BUDGET (B +C) 3,273,510 3,332,686 (59,176) -1.78%
Change in Working Capital (A-B-C) 59,176 - 59,176

FTE's 5.93 5.83 0.10 1.72%



RELIABILITY ASSESSMENTS and PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS

Personnel Expenses
In the benefits area, medical insurance coverage elections varied from assumptions which were budgeted in
this program area, resulting in higher expense than budgeted.

Meeting Expenses
NPCC continues to limit the number of attendees sent to off-site meetings when appropriate and encourages
participation via webinar and teleconference when available.

Consultants and Contracts
Consulting support was utilized less than projected. Increased staff efforts enabled NPCC to perform all of
its responsibilities in this program area despite the underspend.

Office Costs
Un-budgeted office costs are primarily software licenses that were budgeted under Contracts.
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Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc.

TRAINING, EDUCATION and OPERATOR
CERTIFICATION

Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments
Penalty Sanctions
Total ERO Funding

Federal Grants
Non-Statutory Assessments
Testing
Services & Software
Workshop Fees
Interest & Investment Income
Miscellaneous

Total Funding (A)

Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries
Payroll Taxes
Employee Benefits
Savings & Retirement
Total Personnel Expenses
Meeting Expenses
Meetings
Travel
Conference Calls
Total Meeting Expenses
Operating Expenses
Consultants & Contracts
Rent & Improvements
Office Costs
Professional Services
Miscellaneous
Depreciation
Total Operating Expenses

Indirect Expenses

Other Non-Operating Expenses

Total Expenses (B)
Change in Assets (A - B)

Fixed Assets
Depreciation
Computer & Software CapEx
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx
Equipment CapEx
Leasehold Improvements
Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets

Allocation of Fixed Assets
Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C)
TOTAL BUDGET (B +C)
Change in Working Capital (A-B-C)

FTE's

2019 Statement of Activities Summary

2019 Variance

2019 2019 from Budget
Actual Budget Over(Under)
184,943 184,943 - 0.00%
184,943 184,943 - 0.00%
74,790 67,500 7,290 10.80%
259,733 252,443 7,290 2.89%
19,688 18,600 1,088 5.85%
1,505 1,513 (8) -0.53%
4,039 6,805 (2,766) -40.65%
2,756 2,379 377 15.86%
27,988 29,297 (1,309) -4.47%
136,261 189,000 (52,739) -27.90%
2,889 15,000 (12,111) -80.74%
139,150 204,000 (64,850) -31.79%
21 - 21
4,002 - 4,002
4,023 - 4,023
15,560 19,431 (3,871) -19.92%
186,721 252,728 (66,007) -26.12%
73,012 (285) 73,297 -25748.65%
(287) (285) (3) 1.00%
(287) (285) (3) 1.00%
186,434 252,443 (66,009) -26.15%
73,299 - 73,299
0.10 0.10 - 0.00%
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TRAINING, EDUCATION and OPERATOR CERTIFICATION

Meeting expenses

Cost savings resulted from streamlining NPCC Spring and Fall Compliance and Standards Workshops from
a three-day format to a two-day format. Efforts to hold more meetings onsite, at member facilities or to
conduct webinars, where effective for NPCC registered entities, will continue.
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Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc.

SITUATION AWARENESS and INFRASTRUCTURE SECURITY

Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments
Penalty Sanctions
Total ERO Funding

Federal Grants
Non-Statutory Assessments
Testing
Services & Software
Workshop Fees
Interest & Investment Income
Miscellaneous

Total Funding (A)

Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries
Payroll Taxes
Employee Benefits
Savings & Retirement
Total Personnel Expenses
Meeting Expenses
Meetings
Travel
Conference Calls
Total Meeting Expenses
Operating Expenses
Consultants & Contracts
Rent & Improvements
Office Costs
Professional Services
Miscellaneous
Depreciation
Total Operating Expenses

Indirect Expenses
Other Non-Operating Expenses
Total Expenses (B)
Change in Assets (A - B)
Fixed Assets
Depreciation
Computer & Software CapEx
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx
Equipment CapEx
Leasehold Improvements
Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets
Allocation of Fixed Assets
Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C)
TOTAL BUDGET (B +C)

Change in Working Capital (A-B-C)

FTE's

2019 Statement of Activities Summary

2019 Variance

2019 2019 from Budget
Actual Budget Over(Under)

2,366,685 2,366,685 - 0.00%
2,366,685 2,366,685 - 0.00%
2,366,685 2,366,685 - 0.00%
654,387 832,408 (178,021) -21.39%
53,070 57,432 (4,362) -7.59%
143,833 201,196 (57,363) -28.51%
60,955 89,043 (28,088) -31.54%
912,245 1,180,079 (267,834) -22.70%
3,438 10,000 (6,562) -65.62%
111,696 89,300 22,396 25.08%
115,134 99,300 15,834 15.95%
30,000 130,000 (100,000) -76.92%

13,594 - 13,594
43,594 130,000 (86,406) -66.47%
695,020 971,538 (276,518) -28.46%
1,765,993 2,380,918 (614,924) -25.83%
600,691 (14,233) 614,924 -4320.39%
(9,545) (14,233) 4,688 -32.94%
(9,545) (14,233) 4,688 -32.94%
1,756,448 2,366,685 (610,236) -25.78%

610,236 - 610,236
3.32 5.00 (1.68) -33.60%

15



SITUATION AWARENESS and INFRASTRUCTURE SECURITY

Personnel
Staff vacancies during the year resulted in lower than budgeted personnel expenses in this program area.

Travel
Cross-training of staff in this program area resulted in higher than budgeted travel expenses for the year.

Consultants and Contracts
Consulting support was utilized less than projected. Increased staff efforts enabled NPCC to perform all of
its responsibilities in this program area despite the underspend.

Office Costs
Un-budgeted office costs are primarily software licenses that were budgeted under Contracts.
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ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

Funding
ERO Funding
Assessments
Penalty Sanctions
Total ERO Funding

Federal Grants
Non-Statutory Assessments
Testing
Services & Software
Workshop Fees
Interest & Investment Income
Miscellaneous

Total Funding (A)

Expenses
Personnel Expenses
Salaries
Payroll Taxes
Employee Benefits
Savings & Retirement
Total Personnel Expenses
Meeting Expenses
Meetings
Travel
Conference Calls
Total Meeting Expenses

Operating Expenses
Consultants & Contracts
Rent & Improvements
Office Costs
Professional Services
Miscellaneous
Depreciation

Total Operating Expenses

Indirect Expenses
Other Non-Operating Expenses
Total Expenses (B)
Change in Assets (A - B)
Fixed Assets
Depreciation
Computer & Software CapEx
Furniture & Fixtures CapEx
Equipment CapEx
Leasehold Improvements
Incr(Dec) in Fixed Assets
Allocation of Fixed Assets
Total Inc(Dec) in Fixed Assets (C)
TOTAL BUDGET (B +C)

Change in Working Capital (A-B-C)

FTE's

Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc.
2019 Statement of Activities Summary

2019 Variance

2019 2019 from Budget
Actual Budget Over(Under)

(100,108) (100,108) - 0.00%
(100,108) (100,108) - 0.00%

79,441 - 79,441
(20,667) (100,108) 79,441 -79.36%
2,105,706 2,147,254 (41,548) -1.93%
151,276 107,437 43,839 40.80%
412,729 493,115 (80,386) -16.30%
261,954 296,142 (34,188) -11.54%
2,931,665 3,043,948 (112,283) -3.69%
194,658 126,750 67,908 53.58%
104,192 135,100 (30,908) -22.88%
24,904 36,000 (11,096) -30.82%
323,754 297,850 25,904 8.70%
75,184 95,000 (19,816) -20.86%
831,734 820,700 11,034 1.34%
622,157 676,347 (54,190) -8.01%
977,203 978,000 (797) -0.08%
34,750 51,000 (16,250) -31.86%
218,170 255,000 (36,830) -14.44%
2,759,198 2,876,047 (116,849) -4.06%
(6,014,611) (6,217,845) 203,234 -3.27%
(20,667) (100,108) 79,441 -79.36%
(218,170) (255,000) 36,830 -14.44%
88,437 170,000 (81,563) -47.98%

54,178 - 54,178

(75,555) (85,000) 9,445
75,555 85,000 (9,445) -11.11%
(20,667) (100,108) 79,441 -79.36%
8.75 9.00 (0.25) -2.78%
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ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

Interest & Investment Income

NPCC accounts for but has not budgeted for interest & investment income as returns in recent years have
been low. The transfer of operating reserves into a 100% U.S. Treasury Securities fund during 2019 has
resulted in higher returns. Accordingly, NPCC budgeted for investment income beginning in 2020.

Personnel

Payroll taxes were over budget due to additional tax recorded in 2019 related to variable incentive payments
earned in 2019 and paid in early 2020. Payroll tax accruals have been adjusted for 2020. In the benefits
area, medical insurance coverage elections varied from assumptions which were budgeted in this program
area, resulting in lower expense than budgeted.

Meeting Expenses

Meeting expenses were overbudget due to costs at the locations of planned meetings varying above the
average meeting costs. Continued efforts to limit the number of attendees sent to off-site meetings, and to
hold more meetings onsite or via webinar where effective, have kept travel expenses under budget.
Conference calls expense is underbudget based on ERO group pricing rate.

Consultants and Contracts
Lower than budgeted expense related to a limited compensation study conducted this year.

Depreciation
Under budget variance resulting from assets placed in service being less than projected.

Indirect Expenses
Total Administrative Services expenses were under budget for the year, resulting in lower than budgeted
allocated indirect expenses to the direct program areas.

Fixed Assets

Under budget variance is due to the timing of scheduled software development projects, which include
website enhancements and the continued refinement of document management software and processes.
Equipment capital expenditures include hardware related to CRISP implementation.
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NPCC
Penalty Sanctions

Date Invoiced Date Received Entity Penalty Amount 2011 2012 2013 2014
12/14/2009 12/17/2009 S 10,000.00 10,000.00
12/14/2009 12/17/2009 10,000.00 10,000.00
12/14/2009 12/17/2009 10,000.00 10,000.00
12/14/2009 12/17/2009 10,000.00 10,000.00
3/8/2010 3/19/2010 250,000.00 250,000.00
4/12/2010 4/20/2010 5,000.00 5,000.00
6/1/2010 6/9/2010 13,500.00 13,500.00
8/9/2010 8/26/2010 40,000.00 40,000.00
11/1/2010 11/30/2010 5,000.00 5,000.00
12/9/2010 12/21/2010 450,000.00 450,000.00
12/9/2010 12/21/2010 7,500.00 7,500.00
Subtotal - 2010 S 811,000.00
3/28/2011 4/7/2011 S 30,000.00 30,000.00
3/28/2011 4/12/2011 10,000.00 10,000.00
4/7/2011 4/21/2011 2,500.00 2,500.00
4/7/2011 4/15/2011 5,000.00 5,000.00
4/7/2011 4/18/2011 7,500.00 7,500.00
5/17/2011 5/26/2011 2,500.00 2,500.00
5/17/2011 5/31/2011 35,000.00 35,000.00
6/14/2011 6/20/2011 4,000.00 4,000.00
6/2/2011 6/10/2011 2,500.00 2,500.00
6/2/2011 6/13/2011 2,500.00 2,500.00
6/2/2011 6/30/2011 7,500.00 7,500.00
6/2/2011 6/30/2011 2,500.00 2,500.00
6/27/2011 7/13/2011 15,000.00 15,000.00
7/27/2011 8/10/2011 3,500.00 3,500.00
7/27/2011 8/10/2011 5,000.00 5,000.00
7/27/2011 8/10/2011 5,000.00 5,000.00
7/27/2011 9/6/2011 15,000.00 15,000.00
8/18/2011 9/13/2011 80,000.00 80,000.00
9/6/2011 9/23/2011 2,500.00 2,500.00
9/9/2011 9/19/2011 5,000.00 5,000.00
9/6/2011 9/23/2011 50,000.00 50,000.00
9/14/2011 9/26/2011 4,000.00 4,000.00
9/9/2011 9/30/2011 7,500.00 7,500.00
9/6/2011 10/3/2011 5,000.00 5,000.00
10/4/2011 10/12/2011 6,000.00 6,000.00
10/4/2011 10/14/2011 3,500.00 3,500.00
10/4/2011 10/17/2011 5,000.00 5,000.00
Subtotal - 2011 S 323,500.00
2/22/2012 3/8/2012 S 15,000.00 15,000.00
2/22/2012 3/8/2012 5,000.00 5,000.00
2/23/2012 3/12/2012 17,500.00 17,500.00
2/22/2012 3/21/2012 25,000.00 25,000.00
4/3/2012 5/1/2012 5,000.00 5,000.00
4/2/2012 5/1/2012 3,800.00 3,800.00
4/3/2012 5/2/2012 4,000.00 4,000.00
5/10/2012 6/5/2012 10,000.00 10,000.00
6/22/2012 7/3/2012 8,000.00 8,000.00
6/22/2012 7/18/2012 25,000.00 25,000.00
9/5/2012 10/2/2012 15,000.00 15,000.00
12/4/2012 1/3/2013 30,000.00 30,000.00
12/18/2012 1/10/2013 40,000.00 40,000.00
Subtotal - 2012 S 203,300.00
4/30/2013 5/30/2013 6,000.00 6,000.00

Year to Recognize for Business Plan & Budget



Penalty Sanctions

Year to Recognize for Business Plan & Budget

Date Invoiced Date Received Entity Penalty Amount 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
4/30/2013 5/30/2013 5,000.00 5,000.00
4/30/2013 5/30/2013 6,000.00 6,000.00
4/30/2013 5/30/2013 6,000.00 6,000.00
4/30/2013 5/30/2013 6,000.00 6,000.00
4/30/2013 5/30/2013 6,000.00 6,000.00
6/6/2013 7/5/2013 50,000.00 50,000.00
6/6/2013 7/5/2013 10,000.00 10,000.00
6/6/2013 7/5/2013 30,000.00 30,000.00
6/6/2013 7/5/2013 25,000.00 25,000.00
8/5/2013 9/4/2013 7,000.00 7,000.00
10/3/2013 10/16/2013 25,000.00 25,000.00
10/31/2013 11/1/2013 5,000.00 5,000.00
1/2/2014 1/8/2014 25,000.00 25,000.00
Subtotal - 2013 S 212,000.00
3/4/2014 3/6/2014 14,000.00 14,000.00
4/3/2014 4/30/2014 90,000.00 90,000.00
6/5/2014 6/18/2014 9,500.00 9,500.00
11/6/2014 11/14/2014 5,000.00 5,000.00
11/6/2014 11/24/2014 20,000.00 20,000.00
11/6/2014 11/20/2014 12,000.00 12,000.00
11/6/2014 12/1/2014 20,000.00 20,000.00
Subtotal - 2014 $ 170,500.00
2/20/2015 3/5/2015 S 10,000.00 S 10,000.00
Subtotal - 2015 S 10,000.00
12/12/2016 12/16/2016 S 75,000.00 S 75,000.00
Subtotal - 2016 S 75,000.00
$ -
Subtotal - 2017 S -
7/2/2018 7/16/2018 S 120,000.00 $ 120,000.00
Subtotal - 2018 S 120,000.00
9/3/2019 9/16/2019 S 50,000.00 $  50,000.00
9/3/2019 9/10/2019 S 20,000.00 $  20,000.00
12/11/2019 12/24/2019 S 84,000.00 S 84,000.00
Subtotal - 2019 S 154,000.00
$ 2,079,300.00 $ 308,500.00 S 614,000.00 $ 297,300.00 $ 153,000.00 S 290,500.00 S 67,000.00 S - S 75,000.00 S - $ 120,000.00 $ 154,000.00

2019 Penalties Reconciliation 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 Change in 2019

Total Cumulative Penalties - GAAP/PWC Audit S 2,079,300.00 S 1,925,300.00 S 154,000.00
Total Cumulative Penalties - True Up Report/BP&B 1,925,300.00 1,805,300.00 120,000.00
NERC Unrecognized Penalties’ S 154,000.00 S 120,000.00 S 34,000.00

! NPCC's audited financial statements include penalties recorded as earned revenue at the time of invoicing, in accordance with GAAP.
NPCC's true up report includes only those penalties included in the approved budget for the calendar year, resulting in the difference
detailed above.
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Report of Independent Auditors
To the Board of Directors and the Members of Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc.,
which comprise the Statements of Financial Position as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
and the related Statements of Activities and Statements of Cash Flows and for the years then ended.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Company's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc. as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, its
activities and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

JZTWM[&,M Ll

New York, New York
March 19, 2020

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLC., 300 Madison Ave, New York, NY 10017
T: 646-471-3000, F: 813-990-4999, www.pwc.com



Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc.
Statements of Financial Position
December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018
Assets
Cash $ 4,623,803 $ 6,912,908
Restricted cash 424,223 270,293
Investments 4,723,922 1,840,294
Prepaid expenses 457,033 244,237
Other assets 332,834 247,216
Equipment and leasehold improvements, less accumulated
depreciation and amortization of
$2,502,121 and $2,274,315, respectively 532,843 611,242
Total assets $ 11,094,658 $ 10,126,190
Liabilities and Net Assets
Accrued expenses and other liabilities $ 2,875,131 $ 2,817,673
Deferred revenue 724,702 509,901
Deferred rent 440,431 526,061
Total liabilities 4,040,264 3,853,635
Net assets
Without donor restrictions:
Available for operations 6,054,394 5,272,555
Board designated for future use 1,000,000 1,000,000
Total without donor restrictions 7,054,394 6,272,555
Total net assets 7,054,394 6,272,555
Total liabilities and net assets $ 11,094,658 $ 10,126,190

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc.
Statements of Activities
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018
Operating
Revenue
Criteria Services assessments 1,058,867 $ 1,019,141
Regional Entity assessments 15,003,411 14,341,787
Penalty sanctions 154,000 120,000
Workshops 74,790 63,449
Total revenue 16,291,068 15,544,377
Expenses
Salaries and employee benefits 9,973,202 9,903,451
Administrative and consultant fees 2,131,148 2,500,876
Professional fees 612,678 574,705
Meetings and travel 1,059,610 954,993
Telephone and telecommunications 174,946 197,547
Office supplies and expense 557,490 482,542
Equipment leases 141,701 115,764
Rent expense 631,269 625,013
Insurance expense 44,051 63,704
Miscellaneous 40,465 49,604
Depreciation and amortization 227,806 265,531
Total expenses 15,594,366 15,733,730
Change in net assets from operating activities
without donor restrictions 696,702 (189,353)
Non-operating
Interest and dividend income 85,137 28,777
Change in net assets without donor restrictions 781,839 (160,576)
Net assets
Beginning of year 6,272,555 6,433,131
End of year 7,054,394 $ 6,272,555

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018
Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets $ 781,839 $  (160,576)
Depreciation and amortization 227,806 265,531
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (212,796) 54,017
(Increase) in other assets (85,618) (31,804)
Increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities 57,458 175,825
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue 214,801 (174,325)
(Decrease) in deferred rent (85,630) (53,644)
Net cash provided by operating activities 897,860 75,024
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of equipment and leasehold improvements (149,407) (71,179)
Purchases of investments (2,883,628) (23,416)
Net cash (used for) investing activities (3,033,035) (94,595)
Net (decrease) in cash and restricted cash (2,135,175) (19,571)
Cash and restricted cash
Beginning of year 7,183,201 7,202,772
End of year $ 5048026 $ 7,183,201
Reconciliation of cash and restricted cash reported
in the statement of financial position
Cash $ 4623803 $ 6,912,908
Restricted cash 424,223 270,293
Total cash and restricted cash $ 5,048,026 $ 7,183,201

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2019 and 2018

1. Background

Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc. (“NPCC” or the “Company”) is a New York State not-
for-profit corporation whose purpose is to promote and enhance the reliable and efficient operation
of the international, interconnected bulk power system in Northeastern North America through its
Regional Entity and Criteria Services divisions. The Company’s Regional Entity division is
responsible for the development of regional reliability standards and compliance assessment and
enforcement of continent-wide and regional reliability standards, coordination of system planning,
design and operations, and assessment of reliability. These responsibilities are pursuant to an
agreement with the North American Electric Reliability Corporation (‘NERC"), an Electric Reliability
Organization (“ERQ"), under authority of the U.S. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
(“FERC"), and by Memoranda of Understanding with applicable Canadian Provincial regulatory
and/or governmental authorities. The Company’s Criteria Services division establishes Regionally-
specific criteria, and monitors and enforces compliance with such criteria. In the development of
Regionally-specific reliability criteria, the Company, to the extent possible, facilitates attainment of
fair, effective and efficient competitive electric markets.

The Company is primarily funded through the NERC based on the Regional Entity division annual
business plan and budget submitted to and approved by the FERC and Canadian provincial
regulatory and/or governmental authorities. The Company’s Criteria Services division is funded by
Regional independent system operators or balancing authority areas based upon a “Net Energy for
Load” formula.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting
The Company uses the accrual basis of accounting in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”).

In August 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards
Update (“ASU”) 2016-14, Presentation of Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities, which is
intended to improve how a not-for-profit entity classifies its net assets, as well as the information it
presents in its financial statements about its liquidity and availability of resources, expenses and
investment returns, and cash flows. The guidance replaces the three classes of net assets
previously presented on the statement of financial position with two new classes of net assets,
which are based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. ASU No. 2016-14
includes specific disclosure requirements intended to improve a financial statement user’s ability to
assess an entity’s available financial resources, along with its management of liquidity and liquidity
risk.

Net assets and revenue are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed
restrictions. Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are classified and reported as follows:

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions - Net assets available for use in general
operations and not subject to donor restrictions.

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions - Net assets subject to donor-imposed restrictions.
Some donor-imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those that will be met
by the passage of time or other events specified by the donor. Other donor-imposed
restrictions are perpetual in nature, where the donor stipulates that such resources be



Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2019 and 2018

maintained in perpetuity. NPCC did not have any net assets with donor restrictions at
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic
606), which is intended to develop a single, principle-based revenue standard for US GAAP. This
revenue standard aims to improve accounting for contracts with customers by providing a robust
framework for addressing revenue issues as they arise, increasing comparability across industries
and capital markets, and requiring improved disclosures to help users of financial statements better
understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue that is recognized.

The majority of the Company’s revenue is recognized over time, with performance obligations that
are satisfied within the same fiscal year. The majority of the Company’s contracts do not contain
variable consideration and contract modifications are generally minimal. Based on the Company’s
evaluation process and review of its contracts with customers, the timing and amount of revenue
recognized previously is consistent with how revenue is recognized under the new standard.

ASU 2014-09 was to be effective starting with 2019, but NPCC early adopted ASU 2014-09
effective January 1, 2018.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230):
Restricted Cash, to address diversity in practice that exists in the classification and presentation of
changes in restricted cash on the statement of cash flows. The ASU requires restricted cash or
restricted cash equivalents to be included in the beginning-of-period total amounts on the
statement of cash flows. The Company adopted the new guidance retrospectively as of January 1,
2018. As aresult, the beginning-of-period amount reported on the statement of cash flows
increased by $225,143 to include amounts previously reported as restricted cash. The adoption of
this ASU did not affect “change in net assets” or “net assets” as previously reported.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, (Topic 842): Leases, which establishes a right of
use model (“ROU”) that requires a lessee to record a ROU asset and a lease liability on the
balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either
finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income
statement. For lessors, the new standard requires a lessor to classify leases as either sales-type,
finance or operating. A lease will be treated as a sale if it transfers all the risks and rewards, as well
as control of the underlying asset, to the lessee. If risks and rewards are conveyed without the
transfer of control, the lease is treated as financing. If the lessor does not convey risks and rewards
or control, then the lease would be classified as an operating lease. The new standard requires a
modified retrospective approach to adoption. The Company is currently evaluating the impact Topic
842 will have on its financial statements. The new standard is effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2020.

Cash
The Company’s cash balance consists of its operating checking account, as well as a savings
account. Attimes, cash balances may be in excess of depository insurance limits.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents amounts in deposit accounts funded with penalties levied and received
for noncompliance within NPCC U.S., which are required to be used for statutory activities in years
subsequent to which the penalty was received, and amounts in deposit accounts for collateralizing
a letter of credit as security for NPCC's office lease. At times, cash balances may be in excess of
depository insurance limits.



Northeast Power Coordinating Council, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2019 and 2018

Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

Equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
amortization. Depreciation of furniture and computer equipment is computed on the straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the applicable assets. Amortization of leasehold
improvements is computed on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
applicable assets, or over the remaining term of the related lease, whichever is less.

Revenue Recognition

For the Criteria Services division, membership in the Company is on a calendar year basis. There
are no fees assessed to full members other than those members that are Independent System
Operators or Balancing Authority Areas. Criteria Services assessments received are recorded as
income in the year to which the membership applies irrespective of when billed or collected.
Criteria Services assessments collected prior to the membership year are recorded as deferred
revenue. For the Regional Entity division, membership in the Company is on a calendar year basis.
There are no fees assessed to general members. Funding mechanisms provided through U.S.
regulatory and Canadian governmental and/or regulatory agreements provide for quarterly
remittances through the North American Electric Reliability Corporation. Regional Entity
assessments received are recorded as income in the year to which they were applied within the
NPCC Business Plan and Budget irrespective of when billed or collected. The Company
recognizes revenue as the performance obligations for Criteria Services and Regional Entity are
satisfied throughout a membership year. The amount of revenue recognized reflects the
consideration the Company expects to receive from members in connection with the Company’s
activities. The Company uses the input method to recognize revenue on the basis of the
Company’s efforts to satisfy the performance obligations evenly throughout the membership year.
Penalty sanctions are recorded as income when levied and the appeals process has been waived
or is concluded.

Rent Expense

The Company’s office lease which commenced in 2009 contains predetermined increases and
decreases in the rentals payable during the lease term. Rent expense is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between the rent expense charged to
operations during the year and the amount payable under the lease during that year is recorded as
“Deferred rent” on the Statements of Financial Position. Deferred rent also includes the landlord’s
contribution toward the cost of leasehold improvements, which is being amortized over the lease
term. The unamortized balance of the landlord’s contribution at December 31, 2019 and 2018 was
approximately $156,000 and $192,000, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company has been classified as exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c) (6) of
the Internal Revenue Code. The Company was subject to an unrelated business income tax on
transportation benefits starting January 1, 2018. On December 20, 2019, the tax on transportation
benefits provided by nonprofit employers to their employees was repealed retroactively. The
Company will file for refunds of taxes paid for years 2018 and 2019 totaling approximately $32,000.

The Company follows standards in Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 740, “Income Taxes”,
in establishing and classifying any tax provisions for uncertain tax positions and in recognizing any
interest and penalties.

Use of Estimates
The Company uses estimates and assumptions in preparing these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
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estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses. Actual results could vary from the estimates that are used.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to amounts previously reported in the financial
statements to conform to the current year’s presentation. Such reclassifications had no effect on
the change in net assets.

3. Investments

The Company’s primary banking relationship is with JP Morgan Chase. Regional Entity and Criteria
Services revenues are invested from time-to-time in a JPMorgan 100% U.S. Treasury Securities
Money Market Fund (the “Fund”). The Fund aims to provide current income while maintaining
liquidity and safety of principal. The Fund invests primarily in debt securities of the U.S. Treasury,
but is not insured or guaranteed.

The Fund has historically maintained a net asset value of $1.00 per share. Management has
determined that the likelihood of sustaining losses from the Fund to be remote.

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company owned 4,723,922 and 1,840,294 units,
respectively, of $1 par value per unit. In 2019 and 2018, the funds earned average yields of 1.12%
and 1.29%, respectively. Investment income earned on the Fund is reinvested into units of the
Fund on a monthly basis.

4. Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

Equipment and leasehold improvements at December 31, 2019 and 2018 consist of the following:

Depreciable
Life 2019 2018

Furniture 10 years $ 204,968 $ 204,968
Computer equipment 3 years 497,878 441,079
Website 3 years 232,000 232,000
Software 3 years 1,059,379 1,032,819
Leasehold improvements 15 years (see Note 2) 974,691 974,691
2,968,916 2,885,557

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (2,502,121) (2,274,315)
466,795 611,242

Assets not yet in service 66,048 -

$ 532,843 $ 611,242

Depreciation and amortization expense totaled $227,806 and $265,531 in 2019 and 2018,
respectively.

5. Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions

Effective in 2018, NPCC's Board of Directors designated $1,000,000 of Net Assets to serve as a
Business Continuity Reserve (“BCR”). The BCR will serve to fund varying financial impacts over
several years beginning in 2020, in connection with succession initiatives for the office of President
and CEO and additionally in the event of multiple coincident staff retirements.
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6. Savings and Supplemental Plans

The Company maintains a 401(k) plan which provides for safe harbor matching contributions. All
employees are immediately eligible for the plan upon hire. Within this plan, an employee can
contribute 2% or greater of his or her compensation up to the IRS limit set for this plan. The
Company’s policy is to contribute on the employee’s behalf 100% of the employee’s contribution of
the first 3% of his or her compensation, and 50% of his or her contribution for the next 2% of
compensation. Company contributions to the 401(k) plan were $221,394 and $228,716 for 2019
and 2018, respectively. Additionally, upon completion of 1,000 hours within a calendar year of
service, the Company’s employees become eligible for a discretionary contribution to be
considered annually by the Board of Directors. The discretionary contribution for 2019 and 2018
was 8% of base compensation and totaled $449,742 and $459,055, respectively. During 2010, the
Company adopted a supplemental plan for employees who were not eligible to receive the same
percentage level of retirement benefits as other employees under the 401(k) plan due to IRS
annual compensation limits. The Company contributed $38,000 and $37,000 to this supplemental
plan for 2019 and 2018, respectively. During 2013, the Company adopted a 457(f) plan for the
President and CEO. The Company contributed $35,000 to this plan for each of the years 2019 and
2018.

7. Leases

The Company is obligated under long-term operating leases for the rental of office facilities and
certain equipment. NPCC's office lease, which commenced in 2009, provides for base rent along
with additional rent based on increases in real estate taxes and operating expenses over base
amounts. The office lease expires on April 30, 2024 and includes an option to renew for five years.
The office lease provides for security in the form of a collateralized letter of credit in the amount of
$150,000. NPCC executed various computer and equipment leases with expiration dates through
2024. In addition, the Company rents certain other equipment on a month-to-month basis. Rental
expense for office facilities and equipment totaled $772,970 and $740,777 for 2019 and 2018,
respectively.

Future minimum rental payments required under the Company’s long-term operating leases as of
December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Office Other
Space Leases Total
Year Ending December 31
2020 $ 720,392 % 141,764  $ 862,156
2021 720,392 91,627  $ 812,019
2022 720,392 87,652 % 808,044
2023 720,392 43,514  $ 763,906
2024 240,131 7346 $ 247,477
Thereafter - - 3 -
$ 3,121,699 $ 371,903 $ 3,493,602
8. Salaries and employee benefits

During 2019 and 2018, salaries and employee benefits consist of the following:
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2019 2018
President, COO and technical staff $ 6,886319 $ 6,914,556
Administrative support 178,590 199,694
Payroll taxes, insurance, educational assistance,
savings and supplemental plans 2,908,293 2,789,201
Total salaries and employee benefits $ 9,973,202 $ 9,903,451

Other Expenses

The Company incurs various costs for administrative, consultant and professional services. Such
costs amounted to $2,743,826 and $3,075,581 in 2019 and 2018, respectively, and consist of the
following:

2019 2018
Consultants $ 1,597,743 $ 1,768,513
Accounting, legal and other services 1,118,765 1,277,212
Savings and supplemental plan administration 27,318 29,856
Total administrative, consultant and
professional fees $ 2,743,826 $ 3,075,581

These costs are reflected in “Administrative and consultant fees” and “Professional fees” in the
Statements of Activities.

Functional Classification

The Company is required to provide information about expenses reported by their functional
classification, which is a method of grouping expenses according to the purpose for which costs
are incurred. NPCC incurs expenses that directly relate to, and can be assigned to, a specific
operational or administrative activity. NPCC also conducts a number of activities which benefit both
its program objectives as well as supporting services (i.e. general and administrative, legal and
regulatory, information technology, human resources, and finance and accounting activities). The
following tables summarize